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Where we operate

UKRAINE  Central to Group 
operations accounting for virtually 
all of Group revenue, and 50% of 
Group capital expenditure in 2008. 
It remains a focus for future growth.

RUSSIA  With almost half of 
Group reserves booked in the 
Koshekhablskoye field, Russia is a 
major development focus. First gas 
now forecast for late 2010.

HUNGARY  Following the 
Hajdúnánás gas discovery in 2008, 
the Group has booked 0.8 MMboe 
of reserves, and expanded its 
exploration portfolio in Hungary.

BULGARIA  Remains a major part 
of our central European exploration 
effort, with activity moving to 
the eastern part of the large 
Golitza licences.

SLOVAKIA  Farmed-in to three 
exploration licences in 2008, 
expanding our central European 
exploration portfolio.

GEORGIA  With Anadarko indicating 
its desire to withdraw from the West 
Georgia offshore licence 
(JKX 4% NPI), we are considering 
our right to regain the licence.

Overview

Designed and produced by db&co 
www.dbandco.co.uk, in association with 
Robson Dowry and RPD Consulting. 
Photography by Mike Abrahams, 
Board photography Pete Thompson 
Satellite images – Planetery Visions Ltd
Printed in the UK by Midas Press.

The report is printed on Revive 50:50 Silk 
which is produced with 50% recycled fi bre 
from both pre- and post-consumer sources, 
together with 50% virgin fi bre from 
sustainable forests independently certifi ed 
according to the rules of the Forest 
Stewardship Council. All pulps used are 
Elemental Chlorine Free (ECF) and the 
manufacturing mill is accredited with 
ISO 14001 standard for environmental 
management.

 We welcome visits to our website 

www.jkx.co.uk
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Dividend ($m)
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Earnings per share (basic, cents)

+4%
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Operating profit ($m)

+15%
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Net cash from operating 
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+6%
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Revenue ($m)

+12%
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Welcome to the JKX Annual 

Report. This has been a good 

year for the Company and its 

shareholders, and we can look 

forward to a strong 2009.

Both revenues and operating profits increased in 
2008, despite total production being down 12%, and 
a significant drop in international oil prices in the 
fourth quarter. Oil and gas revenues rose by 13% to 
$204.9m. Average realisations for gas in the period 
rose by 38% to $5.47 per Mcf, and average 
realisations for oil rose by 40% to $84.34 per barrel. 
Significant movements in foreign exchange rates 
had an impact on profits with a $7.0m foreign 
exchange loss recorded. Despite this, profit before 
tax rose by 13% to $127.6m.

Performance overview
Whilst trading conditions are undoubtedly more 
difficult, we are committed to an active exploration, 
development and acquisition programme delivering 
long-term value to shareholders.

Our operations in Ukraine remain a core focus for 
the Company. We drilled and/or completed eleven 
new wells in our Poltava licences in the period and 
successfully connected to the Soyuz trunkline. We 
continue with our strategy of seeking to expand our 
operations in Ukraine through selective acquisition.

We see excellent long-term potential in the Russian 
domestic gas market, despite the current 
contraction of the domestic economy. Our first gas 
development project in southern Russia is 
progressing steadily, with first gas now expected in 
the fourth quarter of 2010. 

In both Ukraine and Russia we believe the operating 
and working environments for our business are 
likely to be relatively stable.

The Company continues actively to explore 
opportunities in eastern Europe. We have made a 
commercial discovery in Hungary and completed 
seismic acquisition programmes in our Bulgarian 
and Slovakian licences.

Reserves
The Company increased its booked proved plus 
probable (2P) oil and gas reserves during the 
period by 17% to 89 million barrels of oil equivalent. 
This represents a reserve replacement of in excess 
of 400% in the period.

Our HSEC commitment
We are committed to building on our current 
performance in health, safety, environmental 
protection and community liaison (HSEC). To that 
end, the Company has set targets in the period to 
achieve OHSAS accreditation for its HSEC 
management system and ISO accreditation for its 
Environmental Management System.  

Your Board
In June 2008, we further strengthened the Board 
with the appointment of Dipesh Shah OBE and 
Michel-Marc Delcommune as Non-Executive 
Directors. Their wide experience in our industry is 
providing tangible benefits to the performance of 
the Company.

Dividend
The Board is pleased to recommend a 9% 
increase in the dividend over 2008. The Company 
paid an interim dividend of 2.2 pence per share on 
17th October 2008, and the Board is now 
recommending a final dividend of 2.6 pence which 
will bring the total dividend for 2008 to 4.8 pence 
per share (2007: 4.4 pence per share). The dividend 
will be paid on 5th June 2009 to shareholders who 
are on the Company’s Register of Members at the 
close of business on 17th April 2009.

Outlook
Our priorities for 2009 are the continued 
development of our production licences in Ukraine; 
the completion of the initial programme of well 
workovers and testing in our production licence in 
Russia; and the initiation of production from our 
Hungarian gas discovery. The broadening of our 
exploration portfolio in eastern Europe is focused 
on replacement of reserves with the potential for 
creation of a third production hub for the Company. 

I would like to take this opportunity to thank our 
staff, whose enthusiasm and dedication is 
crucial to the continued success of the Company. 
I pay tribute to them and also extend my thanks to 
you as shareholders for your support now and in 
the future.

Rt Hon Lord Fraser 

of Carmyllie QC

Chairman
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In 2008 we delivered a 

rise in pre-tax profit of 

13%, increased proved 

and probable oil and gas 

reserves by 17 million 

boe, initiated the well 

workover programme on 

the Koshekhablskoye 

field in Russia, made a 

commercial gas find in 

Hungary and broadened 

our exploration 

portfolio in eastern 

and central Europe. 



Chief Executive’s statement

This year demonstrated our 

ability to use our specialist 

knowledge, experience and 

expertise to expand our reserves 

base while maintaining our 

strong cash flow. 
Dr Paul Davies

Chief Executive

Financial performance
Our revenues rose by 12% to $207.0m, up from 
$184.5m in 2007 primarily due to higher oil and gas 
prices in the period. Capital expenditure increased 
to $110.2m, compared to $94.3m in 2007 (excluding 
the acquisition cost of our Russian subsidiary) and 
includes the $56.2m investment in developing our 
Ukrainian assets, $32.5m in the redevelopment of 
our Russian production company, and $21.5m on 
our exploration licences in Hungary, Bulgaria and 
Slovakia. Year-end cash was $64.8m (2007: $68.1m). 

Average realisations for gas produced in Ukraine 
in the period rose by 38% to $5.47 per Mcf 
(2007: $3.95 per Mcf). Gas realisations have also 
increased from the beginning of 2009 to 
approximately $7.00 per Mcf, as a result of the 
year-end negotiations between Russia and Ukraine. 
Average realisations for oil in the period rose by 
40% to $84.34 per barrel ($60.37 per barrel).

What we aim to do
Our 15 years of operating in Ukraine have given 
us a solid platform for growth, a healthy balance 
sheet and a strong cash flow. More importantly, we 
have developed the experience and knowledge 
necessary to expand our reserves, not just through 
rigorous field appraisal and development, but also 
by selective exploration and strategic acquisitions 
in markets that we know well, such as our 2007 
Russian acquisition. 

Whilst market conditions have changed 
dramatically in the last 6 months our strategy has 
not. Although we recognise fully, the current 
financial and economic challenges, our focus in 
2009 is to continue to enhance our Ukrainian 
producing operations, to progress the workover and 
engineering programmes required to bring our 
Russian assets on-stream in the fourth quarter of 
2010, and to bring on-stream our first producing 
field in Hungary this year.

Our markets
Our Company was founded more than 15 years 
ago to develop oil and gas assets in the states of 
the former Soviet Union. Since then we have both 
successfully operated in this area and expanded 

into eastern Europe. Initially, these areas were 
considered as frontier areas for western 
companies, despite their long history of oil and gas 
development. We recognised early on the potential 
for the application of modern oilfield techniques in 
developing prospective fields, and the latent 
technical, financial and administrative capabilities 
of the well-educated indigenous workforce. Equally 
importantly, we saw the potential future value of 
gas reserves which we believed to be significantly 
undervalued at the time. Despite the great changes 
over the intervening 15 years, the area still provides 
opportunities for companies wishing to establish a 
sustainable corporate presence within what is a 
continually challenging and changing political and 
economic environment.

In our view, local knowledge and expertise is 
essential to operating successfully and sustainably 
in Ukraine, Russia, and elsewhere in eastern 
Europe. We have a staff of more than 500 with 95% 
of them being operationally focused and based in 
Ukraine and Russia. Employment of locally based 
staff with the best operational skills is central to 
our strategy of being a valued partner in local 
communities. 

Critical achievements
We remain committed to developing and expanding 
our exploration and appraisal licence portfolio in 
Ukraine where we see substantial long-term 
opportunities, as demonstrated by our active 
exploration programme in 2008. The commissioning 
of the Soyuz tie-in in November has removed the 
constraint on gas delivery from our producing 
Poltava fields.

Our Russian acquisition added approximately 
36 million boe to our booked 2P reserves, based on 
independent estimates. Since acquisition, we have 
completed the 3D seismic programme over the field 
and this has added a further 5 million boe to our 2P 
reserves. The decision to replace the field facilities 
has made it necessary to revise our target for first 
gas delivery to the fourth quarter of 2010, and this 
revised programme has been agreed with the 
Russian authorities. 
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Objectives

Improved levels of gas realisations 

Active exploration, appraisal and development 
in Ukraine

Expansion of facilities in Ukraine

Close working relationship with state 
authorities in regions of operation

Increase reserves

Broadening our exploration base

Building relationships with the communities in 
which we operate 

Delivery

Average realisations for gas in the period rose 
by 38%

9 new appraisal/development wells drilled 
and/or completed for production; 2 exploration 
wells drilled 

Successful tie-in and gas delivery to Soyuz gas 
trunkline

Agreement with Russian authorities to 
reschedule initial Koshekhablskoye gas delivery 
from 2008 to 2010

11 MMboe increase in proved and probable (2P) 
reserves in Ukrainian licences

5 MMboe increase in 2P reserves in Russian 
licence

1 MMboe of new 2P reserves in Hungarian 
licence

Exploration activity in Bulgaria, Hungary and 
Slovakia

Actively engaged with local communities in our 
areas of operation, in particular Ukraine and 
Russia, as a partner and donor

Objectives and delivery – our record

We are actively seeking new opportunities in 
eastern Europe. Hungary, Bulgaria and Slovakia 
saw exploration activity from us in 2008, which will 
continue in 2009. Most encouragingly, we made a 
commercial gas discovery in our Hungarian Hernád 
licence in 2008, and anticipate achieving first gas 
delivery in the third quarter of this year.

Outlook
We believe that we can continue to deliver growth 
and positive cash flow. We have a busy year ahead, 
during which the continued monitoring and strict 
control of budgets and cash flow will be of key 
importance, with significant development drilling 
and workover programmes scheduled for Ukraine 
and Russia respectively; the start-up of commercial 
gas production in Hungary; and exploration 
programmes in Bulgaria, Hungary 
and Slovakia.

The continuing development of our four Ukrainian 
production licences in Poltava will include further 
appraisal of our licence areas, including fracture 
stimulation testing of the deep Rudenkovskoye 

field, which will be significant for establishing its 
near-term production profile. Positive drilling 
results will allow us to increase gas production 
during the year with unrestricted gas delivery via 
the Soyuz trunkline.

The rehabilitation programme for the 
Koshekhablskoye field in southern Russia has 
been rescheduled to accommodate the design and 
delivery of new production facilities. Focus this year 
will be on plant design and procurement. The 
results of the workover and testing of three wells 
this year will also dictate the shape and pace of 
development going forward. 

The acquisition of additional development assets to 
increase our reserve base remains a priority, with 
Ukraine remaining the main area of interest. 
Exploration activity in the current period continues 
to be focused in eastern/central Europe with 
particular attention being given to growing our new 
asset base in Hungary.



Chief Executive’s statement

Group reserves Reserves  
 1st Jan 2008 additions Production 31st Dec 2008

Total 

Oil+Gas MMboe 76.2 17.0 (4) 89.2

Oil MMbbl 4.6 6.4 (1.4) 9.6

Gas MMboe 71.6 10.6 (2.6) 79.6

Ukraine 

Oil MMbbl 4.1 6.4 (1.4) 9.1

Gas Bcf 214.0 27.1 (15.3) 225.8

Gas MMboe 35.6 4.6 (2.6) 37.6

Russia 

Oil MMbbl 0.5 – – 0.5

Gas Bcf 216.0 31.0 – 247.0

Gas MMboe 36.0 5.2 – 41.2

Hungary 

Oil MMbbl – – – –

Gas Bcf – 5.0 – 5.0

Gas MMboe – 0.8 – 0.8

07

There remain high levels of competition for 
talented staff in our industry, despite the slowdown 
in certain sectors. I want to ensure that the terms 
and conditions we offer our staff remain 
competitive and that we continue to be an attractive 
destination for key staff. 

Challenges
The recession and global credit crisis is affecting 
both the oil and gas sector and the economies of 
the countries in which we operate. 

We are accustomed to dealing with challenges 
and our record of continuous growth and 
profitability in the area over difficult economic 
periods demonstrates that we have the ability to 
continue to return value to shareholders in tough 
conditions, and we will seek to maintain this into 
and beyond 2009.

C
hairm

an’s statem
ent

0
2

-0
3

O
perational review

1
2

-2
3

Financial review

2
4

-3
1

C
R

 review

3
2

-3
7

D
irectors’ reports

3
8

-5
4

Financial statem
ents

5
5

-9
9

C
EO

’s statem
ent

0
4

-1
1



Key Performance Indicators
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Capital expenditure ($m)

-25%

27.8

04 05 06 07

32.3
43.4

147.9

110.2

08

Production volumes (boepd)

-12%

8,004

04 05 06 07

9,309

11,146

12,579

11,012

08

Return on average capital 

employed (%)

-15%

22.7

04 05 06 07

30.6

42.4

29.5

25.2

08

Ukrainian gas realisations

($Mcf) 

+38%

1.59

04 05 06 07

1.82

2.83

3.95

5.47

08

Production costs ($/boe)

+49%

2.56

04 05 06 07

4.34
3.83

4.01

5.97

08

Reserves at the end of the 

period (MMboe)

+17%

51.8

04 05 06 07

48.4
44.3

76.2

89.2

08



Measuring performance
The Board and senior management use monthly 
management reporting to measure, monitor and 
manage performance of the Group, its subsidiary 
companies and investments. A wide range of 
measures are included in this process, the key 
such measures being those listed below. The 
Board consider these measures to most accurately 
measure performance against the strategy. The 
performance in 2008, with relative performance in 
2007, is outlined below with explanations as to how 
the Board believe each performance indicator is 
linked to the strategic objectives of the Group.

Production volumes
The Board considers the future production profile 
of the Group’s interests to underpin the value of 
its asset portfolio. Accordingly, the level of annual 
production is the measure by which Management 
monitors delivery of portfolio development. The 
12% decrease in average combined oil and gas 
production was the result of natural decline in 
oil production  from two of the Group’s Ukrainian 
fields and the impact through most of the year of a 
gas production capacity constraint.

Capital expenditure
Capital expenditure is used by Management to 
monitor levels of investment, on both a country 
specific and regional basis. The 2007 comparative 
of $147.9m includes $66.6m on acquisition costs 
of YGE, the Group’s Russian based subsidiary.  
Excluding the acquisition costs, underlying capital 
expenditure increased 36% mainly because of 
the initiation of the redevelopment of the YGE’s 
Koshekhablskoye field.

Production costs
The Board believes a core skill of the Group to be 
the low cost development of onshore gas assets 
in and around Ukraine. A key measure used to 
monitor this is the level of production costs. 
Decreased production along with inflationary 
factors in Ukraine were responsible for the 49% 
increase in production costs to $5.97/boe. This 
effect is because of the overall higher costs being 
allocated over a reduced number of barrels of 
oil equivalent produced in the period. 

Ukrainian gas realisations
The Ukrainian gas market is a key focus of the 
Board who believe its domestic gas price will, after 
accounting for net-backed transportation costs, 
converge with gas prices in western Europe. The 
Group’s strategy is to maximise exposure to this 
upside and deliver value from it. Accordingly the 
growth in, and level of, realisations for the Group’s 
Ukrainian gas production is a key measure of 
strategic performance used by the Board. The 38% 
increase in gas price in 2008 is consistent with the 
above stated belief, although as convergence 
nears, future increases will become subject to 
movements in European prices.

Return on average capital employed
The Board believes its strategic objective of 
returning value to shareholders is most 
appropriately measured by the return on average 
capital employed. This measure it believes reflects 
the underlying ability to return value by a 
combination of: dividends; share buy-backs; and 
any capital appreciation in the Company’s equities 
as may be determined by the capital markets. 
The decrease in 2008 reflects the large investments 
made in Ukraine, Russia and Hungary during 
the year, increasing our capital base.

Reserves at the end of the period
The Board believes that a significant component 
of the Group’s ability to add shareholder value lies 
in its success in adding to its reserves base, both 
through acquisitions and organic growth of its 
existing production and exploration portfolio. The 
17% increase in reserves during 2008 was due to 
reviews on three development licences in Ukraine, 
revised estimates of YGE’s reserves following new 
3D seismic and exploration success in Hungary.

Key Performance Indicators
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Ukraine

Key Activities 2008

Drilling, testing and/or 
completing a total of nine 
appraisal and development 
wells

Drilling of two exploration 
wells 

Completion of the tie-in to the 
Soyuz pipeline

11 MMboe gross increase in 
our Ukrainian 2P reserves

Independent reservoir 
consultants Senergy Ltd have 
been re-evaluating the reserves 
on the Company’s Poltava 
licences, and revised reserve 
estimates are now available for 
three of the five field areas. The 
Proved plus Probable (2P) 
reserves for these areas have 
increased by a gross 11 million 
boe as a result.

2008 saw the culmination of a 
significant upgrade to the 
Central Production Facility on 
the Poltava fields, including 
connection to the Soyuz gas 
pipeline which carries gas from 
Russia through Ukraine to 
Western Europe. 

During 2008 two exploration 
wells were drilled on the 
Zaplavskoye licence, one of 
three exploration licences we 
hold in Ukraine. The early 
results look promising.

Logs indicate gas bearing 
carbonate with testing 
scheduled for Q2 2009. The 
planned fracture stimulation 
programme on the 
Rudenkovskoye field is now 
also scheduled for Q2 2009.

In November 2007 JKX 
completed the purchase of 
100% of the shares in 
Yuzhgazenergie LLC (YGE). 
YGE holds the licence for the 
redevelopment of the 
Koshekhablskoye gas field 
which is located in the southern 
Russian Republic of Adygea. 

Our technical and 
environmental re-evaluation 
established that the existing 
production facilities could not 
comply with the higher 
standards now expected for 
entry to the gas transit system 
and emissions to the immediate 
environment and would have to 
be completely replaced.

YGE has submitted a revised 
production schedule to the 
Russian authorities with 
start-up deferred by two years 
until October 2010. This has 
made its way through the 
regulatory process successfully, 
and the final authorisation was 
received at the end of the fourth 
quarter 2008. 

Russia

Key Activities 2008

Completed a 105sq.km 
3D seismic survey covering 
the Koshekhablskoye licence 
and surrounding areas 

Prepared design for complete 
replacement and 
modernisation of facilities

Secured regulatory approval for 
a revised production schedule 
with start-up deferred by two 
years until October 2010 with 
resulting gross 5.2 MMboe 
increase in 2P reserves

JKX holds a 50% interest in the 
northern Pannonian Basin 
Hernád licences in a joint 
venture with the 50% equity 
holder and Operator, Hungarian 
Horizon Energy (HHE). 
Following a fast track data 
interpretation programme the 
Hajdúnánás prospect was 
identified. 

The exploration well spudded 
in May and successfully tested 
gas from three levels. The 
combined flow rates exceeded 
13 MMcfd. The gas quality is 
excellent and requires minimal 
processing before export. 
First gas is expected by mid 
year 2009.  

The remainder of the Hernád 
licences cover 4,600sq.km and 
are generally lightly explored. 
The regional exploration 
opportunity afforded by this 
position is considerable. JKX 
and HHE are developing plans 
to explore other similar basins 
in the area, acquire further 3D 
seismic data and drill further 
low risk exploration wells.

Hungary

Key Activities 2008

Gas discovery with Hernád 1 
exploration well followed by 
successful appraisal well

Gas quality excellent – first gas 
expected by mid year 2009

Farmed-in to 120sq.km of 
adjacent Nyirseg licence, with 
3D seismic being acquired and 
drilling paced for later in 2009

Regional highlights



Chief Executive’s statement

In the first half of 2008 JKX 
announced an intention to 
farm-in to three exploration 
licences in the Carpathian Fold 
Belt in Slovakia. The licences 
were awarded in August 2006 
and cover a total area of 
2,278sq.km. The farm-in was 
completed in September when 
JKX acquired a 25% interest in 
the Svidnik, Medzilaborce and 
Snina licences from Aurelian 
Oil & Gas PLC. JKX funded the 
first €1.6 million of a 238km, 2D 
seismic programme which was 
largely acquired in Q3 2008.  

The Carpathian Fold Belt has 
been an active area for oil and 
gas exploration and production 
for many years. Advances in 
seismic imaging technology 
have resulted in recent 
discoveries in analogous 
structural settings in Poland. 

JKX holds a 4% net profit 
interest in the Georgian Black 
Sea Production Sharing 
Contract (PSC). The contract 
covers an area of 8,900 sq.km 
offshore Georgia and is 
operated by Anadarko 
Petroleum Corporation.

Anadarko has been 
unsuccessful in its search for 
additional partners to continue 
exploration in the PSC and has 
indicated its desire to withdraw 
from the licence. Under the 
terms of the farm-out 
agreement, JKX has the right to 
regain the licence if Anadarko 
withdraws (JKX’s past costs 
with respect to the licence were 
written off in 2007). The other 
partner in the consortium, 
TPAO, has expressed an 
interest to remain in the 
licence.

Negotiations are currently in 
progress between JKX and the 
Georgian authorities to agree 
an appropriate work 
programme which would be 
attractive to JKX, TPAO and 
potential partners in the 
current economic climate.

In March 2005, JKX farmed-in 
to two onshore exploration 
permits, B Golitza and 
B1 Golitza, covering a total of 
3,351sq.km in eastern Bulgaria. 

During 2008 the focus for 
exploration turned to the 
Tertiary aged sand, south of the 
town of Varna. The area 
includes several leads which 
could each contain 50 Bcf of gas 
at a depth of less than 2,000m. 
A 250sq.km 3D seismic survey 
was designed and bid in early 
2008 and was completed 
between Q3 2008 and Q1 2009. 

2009 exploration is geared to 
processing the 3D data and 
producing a drill ready prospect 
by the third quarter of the year.

Bulgaria

Key Activities 2008

250sq.km 3D data acquisition

Aim to produce a drill ready 
prospect by third quarter of 
2009

Negotiations to farm-out a 
20% interest in the licence

Slovakia

Key Activities 2008

Farmed-in to three exploration 
licences in Carpathian Fold belt 
(JKX: 25%)

Completed 2D seismic 
programme

Georgia

Key Activities 2008

Anadarko has indicated that it 
wishes to withdraw from the 
West Georgia Offshore licence

JKX  is exploring options 
concerning its right to regain 
the licence if Anadarko 
withdraws 
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Nyírség  120km2

Hernád  5420km2

Svidnik  755km2

Medzilaborce  720km2

Snina  996km2

Golitza  3351km2

Slovakia

Bulgaria

Hungary

0

30km

0

30km

0

30km
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Novo-Nikolaevskoye Complex  222.7km2

Elizavetovskoye  70.8km2

Koshekhablskoye  32.7km2

West Georgia Offshore  8900km2

Chervonoyarske East  5.5km2

Georgia

Ukraine

Russia

0

20km

or Pipeline

   Majo

s

5

0

km

0

50km

Operational review
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Soyuz gas pipeline

Soyuz tie-in

Processing facility

 Rudenkovskye

Remaining reserves as at 31st December 2008

Proved Probable Prov + Prob

Oil MMbbl – 1.186 1.186

Gas Bcf – 122.600 122.600

Oil + Gas MMboe – 21.619 21.619

14  JKX Oil & Gas plc  Annual Report & Accounts 2008

 Ignatovskoye

Remaining reserves as at 31st December 2008

Proved Probable Prov + Prob

Oil MMbbl 1.785 0.247 2.032

Gas Bcf 29.233 6.590 35.823

Oil + Gas MMboe 6.657 1.345 8.002

 Novo-Nikolaevskoye

Remaining reserves as at 31st December 2008

Proved Probable Prov + Prob

Oil MMbbl 0.000 0.165 0.165

Gas Bcf 0.105 0.506 0.611

Oil + Gas MMboe 0.018 0.249 0.267

t

 
 

 

 

 

PRODUCTION

86.0km2

PRODUCTION

25.3km2

PRODUCTION

7.8km2
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Prospects

Oil/gas fields

Oil/gas wells

Operational review
Ukraine: Novo-Nikolaevskoye licence complex

 Zaplavskoye

 Molchanovskoye North & Main

Remaining reserves as at 31st December 2008

Proved Probable Prov + Prob

Oil MMbbl 3.789 1.896 5.685

Gas Bcf 44.452 22.335 66.787

Oil + Gas MMboe 11.197 5.619 16.816

 

 
 

 

 

EXPLORATION

95.7km2

PRODUCTION

7.9km2
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Ukraine

Poltava Petroleum Company (PPC), a wholly owned subsidiary of JKX, holds 
four production licences covering 271sq.km in the Poltava region of Ukraine. 
Each production licence contains one or more distinct fields which together 
form the Novo-Nikolaevskoye Complex. 

PPC has three exploration permits in the area: Zaplavskoye, Elizavetovskoye 
and Chervonoyarske East, representing a total licensed exploration area of 
171.2sq.km.

The results of the 2008 work programme were very successful in some areas 
but we have also had some inconclusive and disappointing outcomes:

• Drilling, testing and/or completing a total of nine appraisal and development 
wells

• Drilling of two exploration wells; both awaiting testing equipment

• Further appraisal of the Tournasian carbonate and sandstone in 
Molchanovskoye North with mixed results

• Continued development of the Devonian sandstone in Molchanovskoye North

• Re-evaluation of the potential for fracture stimulation of the tight and 
technically challenging sandstone reservoir in Rudenkovskoye and 
preparation of the 2009 programme

• Evaluation of the potential for acid fracture stimulation of the Tournasian 
carbonates which are present across all licences and preparation of the 2009 
programme

• Further appraisal of the Tournasian carbonate reservoir in the structures to 
the west of the Ignatovskoye field

• Completion of the tie-in to the Soyuz gas trunkline 

• Continued re-interpretation of the 3D and 2D seismic datasets to generate 
additional targets in and around the producing areas

• Update of reserves in Ignatovskoye, Molchanovskoye North and 
Novo-Nikolaevskoye.

The Ignatovskoye production licence is located in the centre of the Novo-
Nikolaevskoye Complex and contains the first field to be developed by PPC. Two 
additional structural trends are now being evaluated, one to the southwest, and 
one to the west of the main field.

The main field is an uplifted fault block containing Devonian sandstone and 
overlying Carboniferous Tournasian sandstone and limestone. On top of that is 
a carbonate reef build up of Visean age. There is also a series of thin sandstone 
channels on the flank of the structure, also of Visean age. 

Black oil is found in the Devonian sandstone and the lower parts of the 
Tournasian and Visean reservoirs; the oil is overlain by a rich condensate 
bearing gas cap and, therefore, the Visean channels can be oil or gas bearing. 
Reservoir quality in the Devonian sandstone and Visean reef is generally good 
whilst the Tournasian sandstone and limestone both are variable and often 
dependent on local depositional and tectonic influences. Reservoir stimulation 
in these reservoirs is often necessary and, although this can give high initial 
flow rates, the rates often decline to a more modest plateau production. 

The main focus of activity was in drilling in-fill wells in the main structure and 
appraising additional structures to the west: 

• Development well I136 was drilled on the north flank of the Ignatovskoye 
field; it failed to produce oil from the depleted lowermost carbonate 
section and plans are now underway to design and install an electric 
submersible pump

2009 will be an 

important year for 

establishing the 

near-term production 

profile for our four 

production licences 

and three exploration 

licences. 

2008 saw completion 

of the tie-in to the 

Soyuz gas trunkline 

and updated reserves 

in Ignatovskoye, 

Molchanovskoye 

North and 

Novo-Nikolaevskoye.
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• Development well I137 was drilled as a Visean carbonate oil producer on the 
southeast of the main Ignatovskoye field but was suspended with a fish in the 
hole below the 7” casing. A sidetrack will be drilled in 2009

• Development well I138 was drilled as a Tournasian carbonate producer, also 
on the southeast flank of the main Ignatovskoye field, and had an initial flow 
rate of 1.97 MMcfd of gas and 448 bpd of condensate with a wellhead 
pressure of 930 psi

• Appraisal Well I133 was drilled at the northern end of a structure to the west 
of the Ignatovskoye field and brought on-stream in the first quarter of the 
period at a flow rate of 3.7 MMcfd of gas and 560 bpd of condensate from the 
Tournasian sandstone. This flow declined and additional perforations in the 
overlying Tournasian carbonate failed to flow. The well is a candidate for acid 
fracturing or recompletion in the Visean sandstone

• Appraisal Well I134 was drilled to the west of the Ignatovskoye field and 
tested water from the lowermost Tournasian sandstone. It also failed to flow 
from the overlying gas-bearing, low porosity, Tournasian carbonate. The well 
is now being abandoned.

Materials and equipment are being mobilised for acid fracture stimulation tests 
on Wells I131 and M162 in the second quarter of 2009. The results of these 
tests will indicate the production potential of our tighter carbonate reservoirs.

Drilling activity planned for 2009 will include the side tracking of Well I137 and 
a further Visean carbonate infill well.

The Molchanovskoye production licence is located approximately 8km from 
the Ignatovskoye field and contains the southernmost producing field within the 
complex. The licence now contains two distinct field areas:

Molchanovskoye North is a black oil reservoir with a gas cap in the Devonian 
sandstone with an overlying Tournasian sandstone gas condensate reservoir. 
There are also newly appraised overlying Tournasian carbonate and sandstone 
gas condensate reservoirs that extend over the Ignatovskoye licence boundary.

Work in 2008 continued to focus on the Tournasian carbonate reservoir: 

 • Development Well M159 flowed at an initial rate of 1.4 MMcfd and 100 bpd of 
condensate. Subsequent acid treatment increased this rate to 7.0 MMcfd and 
400 bpd of condensate

• Infill development Well M163 was drilled and brought on-stream in July at a 
flow rate of 11.5 MMcfd of gas and 1,200 bpd of condensate from the 
Tournasian sandstone and carbonate

• Disappointingly, Well M165, a high angle development well to the Tournasian 
carbonate on the eastern flank of Molchanovskoye North, produced gas at 
less than 0.5 MMcfd with minimal condensate and a flowing wellhead 
pressure of 249 psi. The nature of the apparently poor reservoir quality found 
in this well is being examined before deciding on remedial action

• Well M164 was drilled as a horizontal development well to the Devonian 
sandstone and flowed gas at 7.4 MMcfd with 1,200 bpd of condensate.

Activity planned for 2009 will include an acid fracture stimulation of Well M162, 
which may lead to further such stimulations, and a further horizontal well to 
the Devonian sandstone.

Molchanovskoye Main produces gas condensate in the Devonian sandstone 
and is now being evaluated for additional reserves in the overlying Tournasian 
carbonate and Visean sandstone reservoirs. There was no new drilling activity 
during the period. However, there are workovers planned in 2009 for wells 
M202, M204 and M205, together with two new wells, one targeting the 
Tournasian carbonate and the second targeting the Devonian sandstone. 

Share of Ukraine 
oil production

Share of Ukraine 
gas production

17

 Total market
(34 MMbbl)

 6.7% produced by 
private companies

<

<

 JKX share 62% 

of private 
companies share

(1.4 MMbbl)

 Total market
(742 Bcf)

 6.8% produced by 
private companies

<

<

 JKX share 31% 

of private 
companies share

(15.5 Bcf)
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Where possible, the wells will also appraise the Visean sandstones which have 
a variable distribution over the field.  

The Novo-Nikolaevskoye production licence lies 3km to the west of the 
Ignatovskoye field. 

• Well N9 continues to produce oil and gas from the shallower Visean 
sandstone, and a number of potential targets were identified from further 
seismic processing and re-interpretation in the period

• Well N71 was drilled and logged hydrocarbons in two Visean sandstone 
layers. The well has started producing from the lowermost reservoir at a 
rate of 1.9 MMcfd with 118 bpd condensate, but its current decline rate 
indicates that the well will be recompleted later in the year in the upper 
reservoir.

A further well is planned in 2009 with its primary objective in the shallower 
Visean sandstones and, if this is successful, further shallow targets may be 
selected for drilling.

The Rudenkovskoye production licence is the most northern of the four 
production licences. The principal reservoirs in the licence are the Tournasian 
and Devonian sandstones at depths of between 3,000m and 5,000m. Productive 
areas have been identified in the northern and southern areas of the licence:

• Well R101, drilled in 2006 and the first new well in the northern area, 
encountered 200m net of gas-bearing Tournasian sandstone, the deeper 
zones at such high pressure that they had to be plugged back for safety 
reasons. The shallower section was tested and a 110m interval put into 
production at an initial flow rate of 2 MMcfd. Following an unsuccessful 
hydraulic fracture stimulation of this section, the well is being plugged back 
in preparation for a further fracture stimulation test this year

• Well R102, was drilled in early 2007 in the southern area. It found two main 
gas-bearing zones in the Devonian sandstone and the lower 45m interval 
was tested at an average rate of 7.7 million cubic feet of gas, 90 barrels of 
condensate and 230 barrels of water per day. The presence of water 
precluded any fracture stimulation testing in this interval and the well has 
been plugged back to a higher interval which has tested gas at 1.9 MMcfd 
and 12 bpd condensate. 

Equipment is being mobilised for fracture stimulation of both wells R101 and 
R102 in the second quarter of this year. 

Poltava production facilities: 2008 saw the culmination of a significant 
upgrade to the Central Production Facility on the Poltava fields, including:

• Connection to the Soyuz gas pipeline which carries gas from Russia through 
Ukraine to Western Europe. This access enables PPC to increase its gas 
production beyond the constraints of the existing facility 

• Linked to the Soyuz connection is the addition of a sophisticated gas 
metering system to monitor production and composition of the gas entering 
the system 

• In parallel, work began on the installation of an oil metering system to 
improve monitoring of the oil going into storage at the field, being 
transferred to the production loading facility and being loaded onto railcars 
for distribution to customers. This is now being tested.

Environmental related activities in the period included: 

• the implementation of a new produced water treatment facility 

• improved fire protection systems and 
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2008 saw the 

culmination of a 

significant upgrade in 

the Central Production 

Facility on the 

Poltava fields.



• progressive installation of an oil metering system to aid in the detection and 
prevention of theft from the oil export line and the related damage that this 
can cause.

Work planned for 2009 includes: 

• the replacement of one of the compressors and the upgrade of a second to 
give greater reliability and flexibility 

• further work on the fire protection systems and

• updating of all operating and safety procedures manuals to match the 
increased sophistication of the plant and implementation of higher standards 
of health, safety and environmental practice.

Ongoing work to streamline operations will include the commissioning of the 
additional well testing facility which will enable PPC to maintain its regulatory 
reporting and provide better reservoir monitoring and management as the 
number of producing wells increases.

The Zaplavskoye exploration licence is adjacent to the Molchanovskoye 
production licence and comprises an area of 95.7sq.km. The permit is valid 
until 2010. 

During 2008 two exploration wells were drilled on the licence:

• Exploration Well Z3 was drilled from a location 2km to the west of the 
Molchanovskoye Main field. Logs indicate an 80m gross gas bearing T2 
carbonate interval at a pressure in excess of 5,000 psi. High pressure 
wellhead equipment has been installed but delays in mobilising other testing 
equipment has deferred testing to the second quarter of 2009

• Exploration Well Z2 was drilled from a location approximately 4km to the 
southeast of the Molchanovskoye Main field and 1.5km up-dip from the 
earlier exploration Well Z1 which was drilled off structure. Well Z2 
encountered thicker than expected T2 carbonate with the primary sandstone 
objective being deeper than expected. Logs again indicate an 80m gross gas 
column in the carbonate and testing will commence on this more remote 
location on completion of testing of Well Z3.

Additional 2D seismic was acquired in 2008 which extended from the licence 
area to potentially prospective areas between the licence and the western part 
of the Ignatovskoye licence. Other possible extensions to the east of the licence 
area are also being examined and could lead to additional seismic acquisition 
in 2009 and drilling in 2010.

The Elizavetovskoye exploration licence is located in the central part of the 
Dnieper-Donets basin and covers an area of 70sq.km. It is approximately 45km 
from PPC’s existing production licences.

Three shut-in production wells on the licence are owned by 
Ukrgasvydobuvannya, a subsidiary of Naftogaz of Ukraine, the state oil and gas 
company, and are tied into its production facility. Negotiations with 
Ukrgasvydobuvannya to resolve the issues related to these wells, and to 
establish conditions under which PPC can initiate production from this licence, 
continue, with limited success so far.

The Chervonoyarske East exploration licence was acquired in December 
2005. The licence covers a total area of 5.5sq.km and is located about 75km 
from the PPC production licences on the northern margin of the Dnieper-
Donets basin.

Evaluation of the 42sq.km 3D seismic survey acquired in 2008 supports the 
interpretation of potential hydrocarbons trapped against the flanks of a major 
salt wall. Two prospects have been identified and are being assessed for 
possible drilling in 2010.

Operational review
Ukraine
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acquisition in 2009 

and drilling in 2010.
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The well programme 

for 2009 comprises 

workover and testing 

of two wells in the 

upper Oxfordian 

reservoir and one 

well in the deeper 

Callovian reservoir.

Ukrainian reserves: Independent reservoir consultants, Senergy Ltd, have 
been re-evaluating the reserves on the Company’s Poltava licences. Revised 
reserve estimates are now available for three of the five field areas, 
Ignatovskoye, Novo-Nikolaevskoye and Molchanovskoye North. 

These revised estimates give an increase of 11 million boe to earlier Proved 
plus Probable (2P) reserve estimates.

Work is ongoing in the Molchanovskoye Main field area where the results of 
workovers and re-completions in the first half of 2009 will be critical in 
determining the level of reserves. Revised reserve estimates for this area are 
expected to be available in 2009.

The current remaining 2P booked reserves in the Rudenkovskoye field are 
21.6 MMboe. Revised reserve estimates for this area are not likely to be 
available before 2010.

Russia

Koshekhablskoye field redevelopment: JKX completed the purchase of 
Yuzhgazenergie LLC (YGE) in November 2007. YGE holds the licence for the 
redevelopment of the Koshekhablskoye gas field which is located in the 
southern Russian autonomous Republic of Adygea. The licence covers an area 
of 34.7sq.km.

The field was discovered in 1972 and produced a total 89 Bcf of gas before 
operations were suspended in January 2006. In June 2006, YGE was granted a 
new 20 year licence to rehabilitate and further appraise and develop the field. 

Following the acquisition, the detailed technical and environmental 
re-evaluation by JKX concluded that the existing production facility would 
have to be completely replaced because it could meet neither the new gas 
specification required for entry to the Gasprom transit system nor the 
environmental standard for emissions to the immediate environment.

YGE submitted a revised production schedule to the Russian authorities in the 
third quarter of the period with start-up deferred by 2 years until October 2010. 
Formal authorisation for the revised schedule was received immediately prior 
to the close of the period. 

During the period, YGE has:

• Completed the entire 105sq.km 3D seismic survey of the licence and 
surrounding areas 

• Completed the data interpretation, and determined the reservoir distribution 
in both the primary Oxfordian carbonate reservoir and the secondary, deeper, 
Callovian sandstone reservoir

• Prepared an outline design for field redevelopment and commissioned a 
Russian design institute to perform the detailed engineering work in 
accordance with Russian regulatory standards, and to co-ordinate the 
procurement and construction of the new facilities

• Mobilised the Krenco-900 rig from Ukraine to Koshekhablskoye to initiate the 
eleven well workover programme. Workover operations began on the first 
well in February 2009.

The well programme for 2009 comprises workover and testing of two wells 
in the upper Oxfordian reservoir and one well in the deeper Callovian reservoir. 
Workover of the remaining nine wells to the Oxfordian reservoir are now 
scheduled for 2010 to meet the revised production start-up of the fourth 
quarter 2010.



Operational review
Ukraine

Koshekhablskoye field exploration and appraisal: JKX inherited a YGE 
obligation to initiate drilling an exploration well to appraise the production 
potential of the underlying Callovian sandstone reservoir in mid 2009.

The Russian authorities have recognised the significant amount of exploration 
and appraisal activity that YGE is undertaking on the Callovian reservoir 
including: 

• Acquisition, processing and interpretation of the 3D seismic

• Integration of the maps with a complete re-evaluation of the well logs and 
other geological data to determine reservoir distribution and the potential 
resources in the Callovian sandstone 

• Acquisition of the shut-in Callovian production Well 9 from the Russian state 
authorities. Workover and testing of Well 9 in 2009 to establish the potential 
production from at least 2 of the main producing horizons in the Callovian

• Integration of the test data with the seismic and other data to identify a 
drilling location for the initial and, possibly subsequent, Callovian appraisal 
wells.

In light of the above, the State Geological Institute responsible for the YGE 
ongoing exploration and appraisal programme is now recommending that the 
first appraisal well should be deferred to 2011, and possibly later.

Russian reserves: An independent assessment by Senergy Ltd of the reserves 
and resources in the Koshekhablskoye field has been carried out subsequent to 
completion of the 3D seismic survey.

The revised 2P reserves are 41.2 MMboe, an increase of 14% on the reserves 
estimated by the independent reservoir consultants at the date of acquisition.

Hungary

Hernád Licences: JKX holds 50% equity in the northern Pannonian Basin 
Hernád licences in a joint venture with the operator, Hungarian Horizon Energy 
(HHE). The Hernád I licence covers 2,903sq.km and the Hernád II licence covers 
2,507sq.km. The Pannonian Basin comprises numerous sub-basins developed 
across Hungary, Slovenia and Romania. It is prospective for gas and oil, and 
exploration risk can be reduced by the use of seismic data attributes (amplitude 
versus offset or AVO) and calibrated well log data.  

Hajdúnánás Discovery: During 2007, HHE acquired 348sq.km of 3D seismic 
data over the south eastern portion of Hernád I and identified the Hajdúnánás 
prospect. The first exploration well was spudded in May 2008 and successfully 
tested gas from three levels: two Pannonian sand intervals and a Miocene 
fractured volcanoclastic sequence. The combined flow rates exceeded 
13 MMcfd. 

An appraisal well was spudded in November 2008 and encountered a thicker 
sequence of Pannonian sands. Two drillstem tests (DSTs) were completed and 
tested a combined flow rate of 15 MMcfd. Gas quality is excellent and requires 
minimal processing before export. 

A Development Plan has been submitted to the Hungarian authorities for 
connection of the Hajdúnánás field facilities to the extensive and simply 
accessed Hungarian gas distribution system. First gas is expected by the third 
quarter of 2009. 

Hajdúnánás Reserves: Currently, approximately 1.0 MMboe of 2P reserves in 
the Pannonian intervals have been ascribed to JKX’s interest. Further 
exploration is required to define the size of the underlying volcanoclastic 
sequence. 

The revised 2P 

reserves are 

41.2 MMboe, an increase 

of 14% on the reserves 

estimated by the 

independent reservoir 

consultants at the date 

of acquisition.

Successful exploration 

with gas expected 

to flow by third 

quarter of 2009. Very 

promising prospects 

across the whole of 

the Hernád licences.
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Further Hernád exploration activity: The Tiszatarján -1 exploration well was 
spudded in December 2008. The prospect is situated 13km to the south west of 
the Hajdúnánás field and has a Miocene volcanoclastic reservoir target in a four 
way dip closed structure, sealed by Pannonian age marls and shales.  Offset 
well data indicated a reservoir section with good porosity but limited primary 
permeability. The well reached a TD of 2,794m and encountered significant gas 
shows in Lower Pannonian siltstones and in the Miocene volcanoclastics. An 
open hole DST was run with only limited amounts of oil and gas recovered but 
with no formation water produced. The well has now been completed and 
reservoir pressure build-up is being monitored.  

The remainder of the Hernád licences cover 4,600sq.km and are generally 
lightly explored. The regional exploration opportunity afforded by this position is 
considerable. JKX is developing plans to explore other “look alike” basins in the 
area, acquire further 3D seismic data and drill further low risk exploration 
wells.

Nyírség Licence: In November 2008, JKX farmed-in for a 33.3% interest in 
120sq.km of the adjacent Nyírség licence operated by PetroHungaria. This area 
is immediately south of the Hajdúnánás trend and is expected to show similar 
prospectivity at both the Pannonian and Miocene volcanoclastic intervals. 3D 
seismic is being acquired over the area with exploration drilling scheduled for 
later in 2009.

Bulgaria

In March 2005, JKX farmed-in to two onshore exploration permits, B Golitza 
and B1 Golitza, covering a total of 3,351sq.km in eastern Bulgaria. Since that 
time, JKX and its partner Aurelian Oil & Gas have acquired 200km 2D seismic 
data and drilled the Golitza B-1 exploration dry hole in 2007.

During 2008, the focus for exploration turned to the Tertiary age sands, south of 
the town of Varna. Legacy well data demonstrated a working petroleum system 
and commercial flow rates of high quality gas from Eocene sandstone reservoir 
intervals. 

The area includes several leads which could each contain 50 Bcf of gas at a 
depth of less than 2,000m. A 250sq.km 3D seismic survey was initiated in the 
third quarter of the period. 

Exploration activity in 2009 is geared to processing the 3D data for seismic data 
attributes (amplitude versus offset or AVO) anomalies and producing a drill 
ready prospect by the third quarter of 2009.

Slovakia

In the first half of 2008, JKX farmed-in to three exploration licences in the 
Carpathian Fold Belt in Slovakia. The licences cover a total area of 
2,278sq.km. JKX acquired a 25% interest in the Svidnik, Medzilaborce and Snina 
licences from Aurelian Oil & Gas plc by funding the first €1.6 million of a 
238km, 2D seismic programme which was largely acquired in the third 
quarter of 2008. 

The Carpathian Fold Belt has been an active area for oil and gas exploration 
and production for many years. Advances in seismic imaging technology have 
resulted in recent discoveries in analogous structural settings in Poland. 
Similar exploration efforts in Slovakia, a high-risk high-reward province with 
existing oil seeps and wells with gas shows, could prove up an economic 
petroleum system in an area with potential for dip-closed thrust traps of 
significant size. 

Exploration activity 

in 2009 is geared to 

processing the 3D data 

for seismic data and 

producing a drill ready 

prospect by the third 

quarter of 2009.

Seismic data 

acquired in the 

Carpathian Fold Belt 

licences – a high-risk, 

high reward prospect 

for the future.
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Georgia

JKX holds a 4% net profit interest in the Georgian Black Sea Production Sharing 
Contract (PSC). The contract covers an area of 8,900sq.km offshore Georgia 
and is operated by Anadarko Petroleum Corporation.

Anadarko has been unsuccessful in its search for additional partners to 
continue exploration in the PSC and has indicated its desire to withdraw from 
the licence. Under the terms of the farm-out agreement, JKX has the right to 
regain the licence if Anadarko withdraws (JKX’s past costs with respect to the 
licence were written off in 2007). The other partner in the consortium, TPAO, 
has expressed an interest to remain in the licence. 

Negotiations are currently in progress between JKX and the Georgian 
authorities to agree an appropriate work programme which would be attractive 
to JKX, TPAO and potential partners in the current economic climate.

Turkey

Karakilise Licences: JKX was a participant during 2008 in the three Karakilise 
onshore exploration licences (JKX: 30%), covering a total of 1,230sq.km in 
south-eastern Turkey close to the town of Diyarbakir. In May 2008 an 
exploration well, Hakan Yilmaz -1, was drilled to test a Cretaceous age Mardin 
Limestone target in the north of the licence. The well encountered oil shows 
but was plugged and abandoned as a dry hole after failing to flow hydrocarbons 
on a drill-stem test. 

South East Bismil Licences: In January 2008, the Company farmed-in to two 
onshore exploration licences in the South East Bismil area of south east Turkey 
(JKX: 20%). The two licences cover a total of 590sq.km south of the giant Bati 
Raman oilfield. An exploration well, Koyunlu -2, was drilled up-dip from the 
Koyunlu-1 discovery well in February 2008 and encountered oil shows in the 
target horizon but flowed only water on a drill-stem test. 

JKX considers the exploration results in both licences to be disappointing to 
date. Consequently, JKX has withdrawn from all its Turkish licences in 2009.  

USA

JKX held a 34.4% working interest in the 11,290 acres of the West Huxley Deep 
Federal Unit in Shelby County, east Texas. This unit is presently being 
reformed as a new unit, Phoenix, with largely the same participatory interests. 
The operator is Newfield Energy, a major US independent who farmed-in 
during late 2007. JKX recognizes the potential of the Haynesville shale as a 
resource gas play in this part of east Texas but continues to seek to dispose of 
its interest.

Decision taken to 

withdraw from 

Turkish licences after 

disappointing results.
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The record operating 

cash flow in 2008 has 

enabled us to invest 

in excess of $100m 

on capital expenditure, 

whilst retaining a 

healthy year-end 

cash balance. 
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Generating strong results, 

providing a strong financial 

base for our operations.

The Group’s trading performance in 2008 reflects 
the high oil and gas prices realised during the 
period. Accordingly, the Group achieved record 
levels of revenue, profitability and cash flow, despite 
lower oil production in the period and the 
significant changes in foreign exchange rates 
having a negative impact on the accounts. 

Revenue
Total revenues increased by 12% to $207.0m 
(2007: $184.5m) as a result of significant rises in 
the averages for both oil and gas prices in Ukraine 
from where essentially all the Group’s revenues 
were derived in 2008. The increase in revenue is 
despite a 12% drop in average combined oil and gas 
production across the year, a result of natural 
decline in oil production from two of the Group’s 
Ukrainian fields and the impact through most of the 
year of a gas production capacity constraint. 
Although this constraint was removed in November 
with the commissioning of a tie-in to the Soyuz 
pipeline, it did not allow for any material increase in 
volumes for the year. 

The two halves of 2008 were significantly different 
with regard to oil realisations where the $90.45 
average for the first half of 2008 dropped to 
$76.08/bbl in the second half, giving an average for 
the year of $84.34/bbl (2007: $60.37/bbl). Oil 
revenues were almost unchanged year on year at 
$121.8m (2007: $122.5m) despite the 28.5% fall in 
oil production in the period. Total oil revenues were 
able to be maintained because of the 39.7% 
increase in average oil price. 

The situation with gas was the reverse where the 
first half 2008 average of $5.40/mcf further 
strengthened to $5.53/mcf in the second half giving 
an average for the year of $5.47/mcf (2007: $3.95). 
Gas prices in Ukraine, as predicted, have increased 
further in 2009.

Excluding other revenue (management services, 
and non oil and gas sales), essentially all of the 
$23.0m increase was from higher revenues for gas.

Gas production and sales both increased as a 
proportion of the Group’s total to 64% and 41% 
respectively.

Operating profit
Total cost of sales increased a modest 6% to 
$62.0m (2007: $58.5m). There were however 
significant changes in the constituent components 
of the total cost, with production costs increasing by 
35% to $55.1m (2007: $40.8m) and provisions for 
impairment/write-off of exploration costs dropping 
by 61% to $6.9m (2007: $17.7m). 

The increased production costs stem from: 

• a 30% increase in field operating costs to $23.9m 
(2007: $18.4m) due largely to strong underlying 
inflation in the Group’s areas of operation along 
with higher levels of activity than in 2007 

• a 42% increase in DD&A reflecting increases in 
anticipated future capital costs required to 
deliver reserves from the PPC fields producing 
in the period (following revised development 
plans in accordance with reserve reviews 
completed in the period) and 

• a 21% increase in production based taxes to 
$4.0m (2007: $3.3m) following increases in the 
rates of such taxes applicable in Ukraine. 

The provision for impairment/write off of 
exploration costs in 2008 relates almost entirely to 
costs previously capitalised in respect of Group 
interests in the Karakilise and South East Bismil 
licences in Turkey, both of which JKX have decided 
to withdraw from in 2009.

Underlying general and administrative expenses 
were marginally higher in 2008 (up 4%) at $12.7m 
(2007: $12.2m) although there was a significant 
increase in net loss on foreign exchange to $7.0m 
(2007: $0.2m) due mainly to the year-end 
revaluation of non $US cash balances (most 
significantly Ukrainian Hryvna).

There was no impairment of investments in the 
period (2007: $5.0m). The 33% fall in finance 
income to $3.2m (2007: $4.8m) reflects both the fall 
in interest rates during the period and the lower 
average level of cash balances held during the 
period.

Bruce Burrows

Finance Director
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Finance costs increased to $1.0m in the period 
(2007: $0.1m) due to the unwinding of deferred 
consideration on YGE and site restoration 
provisions.

Taxation
The effective tax rate for the Group in 2008 
(excluding foreign exchange differences) was 26.2% 
(2007: 34.3%). After allowing for foreign exchange 
differences, the effective rate increased to 38.7% 
(2007: 34.3%) mainly caused by temporary 
differences in the Group’s Ukrainian operating 
subsidiary (PPC). These differences emanate from 
changes in the Ukrainian Hryvna exchange rate 
across the year. Depending on future exchange 
rates, such temporary differences may reverse in 
the current or future periods, with an associated 
reduction in deferred tax liability. 

Profit for the year
The profit after tax for 2008 was $78.2m 
(2007: $74.4m) up 5%. The basic earnings per 
share is also up by 4% to 49.85 cents per share 
(2007: 47.97 cents per share). 

Dividend
Consistent with the increase in interim dividend 
announced on 29th August 2008, the Board proposes 
an approximate 10% increase in dividend to 2.6 
pence per share (2007: 2.4 pence per share). This 
brings the total dividend for the year to 4.8 pence per 
share (2007: 4.4 pence per share). The proposed 
dividend will be recognised when paid.

Cash flow/Net cash
Net cash from operating activities (after tax 
payments of $38.3m and net interest received of 
$3.0m) was $126.5m, up 5.5% (2007: $119.9m). 
There was a 16.2% fall in total net cash used in 
investing activities to $104.9m (2007: $125.2m) 
primarily due to the initial costs for the YGE 
acquisition included in the 2007 comparison. There 
were further payments of $5.1m made in 2008 in 
relation to the YGE acquisition upon fulfilment of 
certain conditions precedent, although the total is 
materially less than the $44.4m of acquisition costs 
paid in 2007. 

During the period $2.9m was received as proceeds 
for the disposal of JKX Italia Ltd (2007: nil). 

Revenue – gas ($m)

+40%
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The 27% increase in cash used on capital 
expenditures to $102.6m (2007: $80.7m) reflects the 
continued development of PPC’s licences in 
Ukraine and expenditures on other projects, most 
notably the YGE redevelopment of the 
Koshekhablskoye field in south west Russia. 

The effect of exchange rates on cash and cash 
equivalents had a materially adverse effect on non 
$US balances at year end (mainly Sterling and 
Ukrainian Hryvna balances). The total effect of 
$12.2m compares to a modest positive effect in 
2007 of $45,000.

After accounting for proceeds from the issue of 
shares of $0.9m (2007: $2.3m) and dividends paid of 
$13.6m (2007: $10.0m) there was a 4.9% net 
decrease in cash and cash equivalents to $64.8m 
(2007: $68.1m).

Financial instruments
The Group’s financial instruments comprise of cash 
and liquid resources, and various items such as 
trade and other receivables, and trade and other 
payables that arise directly from its operations. 

Net cash ($m)

-5%

21.4

04 05 06 07

56.9

81.1

68.1
64.8

08

Operating cash flow

($m)

+5%

28.7

04 05 06 07

69.3

98.7

153.5
161.8

08

Operating cash flow per 

share (cents)

+4%

20.5

04 05 06 07

46.7

64.6

98.9
103.2

08

Net profit ($m)

+5%

19.2

04 05 06 07

37.3

77.8
74.4

78.2

08

The main purpose of these financial instruments is 
to finance the Group’s operations.

Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of 
financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, 
interest rate risk and commodity price risk), credit 
risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk 
management programme focuses on the 
unpredictability of financial markets in which it 
operates and seeks to minimise potential adverse 
effects on the Group’s financial performance. 

Risk management is carried out by the Finance 
Director under policies and procedures approved by 
the board of directors. 

(a) Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates internationally and is exposed 
to foreign exchange risk arising from various 
currency exposures, primarily with respect to 
Ukrainian Hryvna and the Russian Rouble. Foreign 
exchange risk arises from future commercial 
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transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and 
net investments in foreign operations. 

The Group manages its exposure by matching, 
as far as is practical, receipts and payments in the 
same currency and by following a range of 
commercial policies to minimise exposure to the 
Hryvna denominated sales, which continued to 
account for approx. 100% of Group revenues in 2008.

In the latter part of 2008 the Group was affected 
by significant exchange rate fluctuations in its 
main operational currencies. The fluctuations 
had particular impact on foreign exchange 
losses emanating from revaluation of year-
end cash balances and increased deferred tax 
liabilities resulting from the year-end revaluation 
of Ukrainian assets and liabilities. If as at 31st 
December the hryvna had strengthened/(weakened) 
by 10% against the US dollar with all other 
variables held constant, post-tax profit for the 
year would have been $1.1m (2007: $0.7m) higher/
(lower), mainly as a result of hryvna denominated 
gas trade receivables and cash balances, and the 
foreign exchange in equity would have increased/
(decreased) by $0.3m (2007: $nil) mainly as a 
result of cash balances. If as at 31st December the 
Russian rouble had strengthened/(weakened) by 
10% against the US dollar with all other variables 
held constant, equity would have increased/
(decreased) by $0.6m (2007: $0.1m), mainly as a 
result of cash balances. If as at 31st December the 
euro had strengthened/(weakened) by 10% against 
the US dollar with all other variables held constant, 
post-tax profit for the year would have been $0.1m 
(2007: $0.1m) higher/(lower) and foreign exchange 
in equity would also have increased/(decreased) 
by $0.1m (2007: $nil) mainly as a result of euro 
cash balances.

(ii) Price risk
The Group is exposed to international oil and gas 
price movements. The Group is a price taker and 
does not enter hedge agreements unless required 
for borrowing purposes from time to time.

(i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
As the Group has no significant interest-bearing 
assets other than cash, the Group’s income and 
operating cash flows are substantially independent 
of changes in market interest rates.

At 31 December 2008, if interest rates had 
increased by 10% with all other variables held 
constant, post-tax profit for the year would have 
increased by $0.5m (2007: $0.4m).

The Group manages its cash flow interest rate risk 
by using floating interest rates. 

(b) Credit risk
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents 
and deposits with banks and financial institutions, 

as well as credit exposures to customers, 
including outstanding receivables and committed 
transactions. Credit risk on cash and cash 
equivalents is managed at a Group level with two 
Treasury Committees (one comprised of 
Management which meets weekly, and another 
being a sub committee of the Audit Committee) 
evaluating the relative risks of banks and 
determining the appropriate allocation of Group 
funds across a range of banks in varying 
jurisdictions aimed at minimizing credit risk 
associated with cash deposits. Local customers are 
managed at local level and are evaluated if there is 
no independent rating, taking account of its financial 
position, past experience and other factors. 

Management does not expect any losses from 
non-performance by any year-end counterparties.

The Company does not have any concentration of 
credit risk and management does not consider 
there to be any exposure to loss.

(c) Liquidity risk
Management monitors rolling forecasts of the 
Group’s liquidity on the basis of expected cash flow.

The table opposite analyses the Group’s financial 
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on 
the remaining period at the balance sheet to the 
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed 
in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash 
flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their 
carrying balances as the impact of discounting is 
not significant. 

Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are 
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern in order to provide returns for 
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders 
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to 
reduce the cost of capital. 

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, 
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid 
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, 
issue new shares or sell assets. 

The Group has no borrowings (2007: nil).

Fair value estimation
The carrying value less impairment provision 
of trade receivables and payables are assumed 
to approximate their fair values. The fair value 
of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is 
estimated by discounting the future contractual 
cash flows at the current market interest rate 
that is available to the Group for similar financial 
instruments.
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  Less than Between  Between  Over
 1 year 1 and 2 years 2 and 5 years 5 years
Maturity of finacial liabilities $000 $000 $000 $000

At 31st December 2008

Trade and other payables 23,279 – – –
Deferred considertion, due within one year 5,000 – – –

At 31st December 2007

Trade and other payables 23,638 – – –
Deferred considertion, due after one year – 2,000 – –
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 Total Second half First half Total
Production summary 2008 2008 2008 2007

Production

Oil (Mbbl)  1,445   615 830 2,022 

Gas (Bcf) 15.5   7.8 7.7 15.4

Oil equivalent (Mboe) 4,030  1,917 2,113 4,591 

Daily production

Oil (bopd) 3,948   3,339 4,563 5,539 

Gas (MMcfd)  42   42 42 42 

Oil equivalent (boepd)  11,012   10,423 11,607 12,579 

 Total Second half First half Total
 2008 2008 2008 2007
Operating results $m $m $m $m

Revenue

Oil  121.8   46.7 75.1 122.5 

Gas  83.1   42.3  40.8 59.4 

Other  2.1   1.2 0.9 2.6 

 207.0  90.2 116.8 184.5 

Cost of sales

Operating costs  (23.9)  (12.2) (11.7) (18.4)

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation – oil and gas assets  (27.2)  (13.1) (14.1) (19.1)

Production based taxes  (4.0)  (1.7) (2.3) (3.3)

  (55.1)  (27.0) (28.1) (40.8)

Provision for impairment/write off of exploration costs (6.9) (6.9) – (17.7)

Total cost of sales (62.0) (33.9) (28.1) (58.5)

Gross profit  145.0   56.3 88.7 126.0 

Operating expenses

General and administrative expenses  (12.7)  (7.5) (5.2) (12.2)

Loss on foreign exchange  (6.9)  (5.6) (1.3)  (0.2)

Impairment of investment  –  – –  (5.0)

Operating profit  125.4  43.2   82.2 108.6 
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 Total Second half First half Total
Earnings 2008 2008 2008 2007

Net profit ($m) 78.2 16.4 61.8 74.4

Basic weighted average number of shares in issue (m) 157 157 157 155

Earnings per share (basic, cents) 49.85 10.42  39.43  47.97

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation ($m) 154.9 57.6 97.3 129.4

    

 Total Second half First half Total
Realisations 2008 2008 2008 2007

Oil (per bbl) $84.34 $76.08 $90.45 $60.37

Gas (per Mcf) $5.47 $5.53 $5.40 $3.95

*Oil and gas prices are net of all transportation, shrinkage and brokerage charges.

 Total Second half First half Total
Cost of production ($/boe) 2008 2008 2008 2007

Production costs $5.97 $6.37 $5.60 $4.01

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation $6.75 $6.86 $6.66 $4.16

Production based taxes $0.99 $0.87 $1.10 $0.72

    

 Total Second half First half Total
Cash flow 2008 2008 2008 2007

Cash generated from operations ($m) 161.8 74.9 86.9 153.5

Operating cash flow per share (cents) 103.2 47.7 55.5 98.9

    

 Total Second half First half Total
Balance sheet 2008 2008 2008 2007

Net cash ($m) 64.8 64.8  85.4   68.1 

Net cash to equity (%) 19.3 19.3  24.8   23.8 

Return on average capital employed (%) 25.2 10.6  39.2   29.5 

Increase in property, plant and equipment/intangible assets ($m):    

– Ukraine 56.2 27.2  29.0   64.8 

– Russia 32.5 11.2  21.3   67.8 

– Other 21.5 14.1  7.4   15.3 

Total  110.2    52.5    57.7   147.9

    

31
C

hairm
an’s statem

ent

0
2

-0
3

C
EO

’s statem
ent

0
4

-1
1

O
perational review

1
2

-2
3

C
R

 review

3
2

-3
7

D
irectors’ reports

3
8

-5
4

Financial statem
ents

5
5

-9
9

Financial review

2
4

-3
1



32    JKX Oil & Gas plc  Annual Report & Accounts 2008

We are determined 

to ensure that we 

are regarded as a 

good corporate citizen 

and put something 

back into the 

communities that host 

our operations and 

support our activities. 
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Ukraine Novo-Nikolaevskoye complex

We believe corporate responsibility is a core business issue.  

Our primary focus is to ensure that we have the highest standards 

of health , safety and environmental management for the benefit of

our workforce, contractors and stakeholders.

How we manage corporate responsibility
Corporate responsibility is led at executive level 
by the Chief Executive Officer (CEO). Our Health, 
Safety and Environment and Community (HSEC) 
manager reports to the CEO. The manager’s 
primary role is to create a consistent and 
standardised framework for the management of the 
Group’s key non-financial impacts.

The Board receives a quarterly report on key 
corporate responsibility issues, including health, 
safety, and environmental indicators. A full Board-
level review of progress was completed in 
December 2008, and plans were agreed for 2009, 
including an increased focus on continuous 
improvement methodologies and raising of 
awareness on HSEC issues among staff and 
management.

In each operating company, we identify, appoint 
and train a nominated individual who has executive 
responsibility for health, safety and environment. 
These representatives are familiar with local 
culture, regulatory requirements and operating 
practices. They report directly to the general 
director of the local operating company but also 
liaise with the Group HSEC manager, to ensure 
Group-wide consistency.

Policies and standards
We currently have in place standards and reporting 
processes covering:

• Safety reporting and incident management

• Exposure man hours 

• Occupational health provision and record keeping 

• Environmental reporting and incident 
management

• Continuing Professional Development and 
implementation

• Human resources practices, including [equal 
opportunities etc]

• Handling of charitable requests

• Local community relations

• Reporting to local authorities (i.e. RIDDOR 
– OSHA.)

Objectives

Continue to manage and 
improve health, safety,
environmental and 
community management 
systems

Continue to assess the
scale and impact of our
community, economic and
social contributions

Monitor policies and 
management frameworks
to give management
assurance they deliver 
against the key impacts 
and issues that we have
identified

Delivery

We use annual reviews
by location management
with a robust audit
programme identifying
opportunities for
improvement

Managed via 
measurement against 
annual plans and 
consultation with 
stakeholders

Auditing and reviewing 
standards, policies and 
procedures is part of the 
annual HSEC plan and is
based on the principle of
identifying opportunities
for improvement  

33

Our aim is to comply with, and exceed where 
applicable, all standards set by local laws and 
regulations. We require our partners to comply with 
our standards in the same way.

Our HSE system is risk-based. For that system to 
work properly, a culture of open reporting of both 
success and failure is essential. We have made 
progress in creating a working culture in which this 
is recognised. Inevitably, this means that we will 
have increases in the number of incidents reported, 
based on the principle that to improve a 
management system, you have to have in place the 
correct measurement tools. 

Reporting
We have been strengthening our approach to 
corporate responsibility in recent years. This report 
contains important data relating to health, safety, 
employment, and community issues. We welcome 
feedback and suggestions on our corporate 
responsibility practice from our stakeholders.

Our record in 2008 – key elements
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Health and safety

Continuously improving standards of health 
and safety is central to our business. In 2008 we 
maintained the development of a risk-based 
approach to health and safety management. 
The benefits of the change are however rapidly 
apparent to our field staff and we have received 
positive feedback on the programme from the 
Ukrainian, Russian and Bulgarian operations.

A key priority in 2008 has been to encourage the 
reporting of incidents and near misses. We have 
engaged in a fundamental review of practice on 
these reporting issues in our operational sites.  
That has led us to create a campaign of 
communication programmes, focused on improved 
reporting, and included in inductions, monthly 
safety meetings and management meetings.  
Improvements are already clear.

Our safety and health audit process was 
comprehensively reviewed in 2008. Our aim was to 
increase management visibility and staff buy-in to 
the audit system, and demonstrate the long-term 
improvements the system provides. The results 
have been positive. We conducted audits at several 
locations in 2008, and among the improvements 
which have subsequently been actioned were 
improved reporting, improved risk assessment 
programmes and the need for Continuous 
Professional Development schemes, as well as 
hardware issues for plant and equipment supply 
and traffic management. 

Occupational health advice and help is available 
through trained personnel in all JKX operational 
sites. In addition to health issues directly connected 
to operations, we are also extending occupational 
health advice to broader lifestyle issues (alcohol and 
drug misuse and smoking) where these impact on 
workplace effectiveness. A good example was on a 
recent seismic operation in Bulgaria where the 
contractor accepted the JKX recommendation for a 
drugs and alcohol policy to be administered by a 

Objectives

Awareness, competence 
and behaviours

Suppliers, contractors 
and partners

Customers and products

Status

People’s behaviour is critical; therefore, our workforce will be carefully 
selected and trained, and their skills and competencies regularly assessed.

Contractors, suppliers and others are key to our business performance and we 
will assess their capabilities and competencies to perform work on our behalf. 
We will work together with them to ensure our HSEC expectations are aligned. 
We will monitor contractors’ and partners’ performance and ensure our 
procurement processes contain the mechanism to deliver our expectations.

We will assess, manage and communicate the hazards associated with JKX 
products. We will communicate up to date information to help users and others 
handle our products in a safe and environmentally responsible manner. 

doctor at site level to provide advice and help to 
employees.

Risk management
Training in risk management is a priority for us.  
We have conducted risk management training 
in several locations and intend to roll out risk
management training for field staff in our Ukraine 
and Russia operations, as well as for contractor 
staff in Bulgaria. In Russia we have conducted risk 
management studies using Hazard and Operability 
(HAZOP); Hazard Identification (HAZID); and ALARP 
(‘as low as reasonably practical’) methodologies.
These have been monitored via site visits and 
co-ordinated with our contractors. HAZOP studies
in Ukraine were also completed during the year in
2008. We are now planning to reinforce progress by 
creating a CPD scheme there and at other locations
within the company sphere of operations.

The assessment process has begun for OHSAS 
18001 HSE management system accreditation.  
Initial assessments of our HSEC management 
system have been made by Lloyds Register 
Quality Assurance (LRQA) to assess our HSEC 
management system have been made and 
opportunities for improvement have been identified. 
Our aim is to complete this process in the second
half of 2009 and receive full accreditation at that
stage. That will make an important step forward in
the systematic approach to HSE which is our long-
term goal.

Objectives 
We intend to monitor and where necessary improve
our performance in a number of areas in 2009, as 
shown in the table below.

2008 health and safety data
The overall TRCF (total recordable case frequency) 
for JKX for 2008 was 1.1 (i.e. 1.1 recordable health 
and safety incidents per 200,000 manhours 
worked) in comparison to the industry benchmark 
TRCF of 2.69.



Corporate responsibility review
Ukraine Novo-Nikolaevskoye complex

Environment

Like other companies in our sector we are 
conscious of the need to meet and exceed 
expectations in environmental responsibility. 

We are reviewing our environmental procedures as 
part of preparing to apply for ISO 14001 
accreditation and have introduced project 
environmental management and performance 
requirements as part of our enhanced and extended 
environmental policies, procedures and 
management. 

We have agreed an environmental management 
contract with Environmental Resources 
Management (ERM) one of the world’s leading 
environmental management consultancies which 
has extensive long-term expertise in Russia. 
Working with them we have begun an 
environmental impact assessment for the 
Koshekhablskoye operations. 

We have worked with the Carbon Trust to establish 
our Carbon Management Plan baseline year. This 
progress was reviewed in December 2008 with 
positive results.

Reporting back
Recently we carried out a GAP analysis at PPC 
in the Ukraine. One piece of feedback that we 
got turned out to be very valuable in improving 
the way we handled safety issues. The analysis 
revealed that our staff were happy to raise 
concerns but wanted to know what action we 
had taken in response – and up to then we 
had no system in place to do so. We decided to 
change all that. Now there is an opportunity for 
feedback at the monthly safety meeting and the 
individual who had first raised the issue gets a 
copy of the action complete form.  

On the road
In 2008 we reviewed our traffic management 
in depth, from training issues to managing 
and planning journeys in order to reduce the 
amount of hours spent on the road, and limiting 
the number of journeys made by drivers. It’s a 
very positive issue to deal with – since we not 
only reduce costs but help the environment at 
the same time. We managed to introduce plans 
and procedures which should achieve just that. 
Having tighter management of this issue is 
already starting to pay off and we should have 
more progress to report in 2009. 
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Data
We have improved our environmental data-
collection throughout 2008. We now collect 
information on a wide variety of impacts.

With regards to carbon management, we have 
monitoring processes established for emissions 
under each of scope 1, 2 and 3 GHG protocols.

Objectives 
We intend to improve our performance in a number 
of areas in 2009, including:

• Reducing combustion loading and offloading 
emissions

• Zero discharge of chemicals to land or surface 
waters

• Restoring habitat and hydrological regime to 
pre-construction state as soon as reasonably 
practicable

• No loss of containment of product

• Reduction of waste to landfill.
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Employment

As an employer we have a number of key priorities.  
We want to invest in training and development of 
our staff, whether UK-based or in operational 
areas. Outside the UK we offer pay and conditions 
which are comfortably above the local norms and 
give locally-employed staff the ability to develop 
their careers and skills within JKX, including by 
moving to other locations to gain further 
experience.

We have established policies in place to ensure 
equality of opportunity and avoid discrimination on 
the grounds of race, gender, disability or sexual 
orientation. We are interested in recruiting and 
developing outstanding employees, whatever their 
background.

The skills and qualifications of our workforce 
compare favourably with those of similar 
companies and we intend that JKX should be 
attractive for talented young people wanting to 
enter the industry.

Data

Local jobs for local people
Creating job opportunities for local people is an 
important part of being a good corporate citizen. 
But there are sometimes limitations to what can 
be done if the skills and talent available locally 
don’t meet our operational requirements. There 
can also be a delicate balance between creating 
jobs in the immediate area of our operations as 
against jobs in the broader community including 
neighbouring towns. In Bulgaria recently we 
worked with a local contractor to provide the 
training opportunities that might open up more 
jobs to local people – with very positive results. 

Employment by location and gender

Location Male Female Total

Ukraine 435 89 524

Russia 32 18 50

UK 13 5 18

Georgia 2 1 3

Totals 482 113 595



Corporate responsibility review

Community

Our philosophy as a company has been to engage 
with the communities in which we operate to ensure 
that we are managing our operations with their 
interests in mind. In addition, we value the benefits 
this brings in maintaining public confidence in the 
integrity of our operations and products and our 
commitment to HSEC performance.

We implement this philosophy through a process of 
stakeholder liaison in each of our operational 
locations. Community liaison is the responsibility of 
the General Director in each location. Community 
engagement is measured in monetary terms and 
frequency of initiatives and reported to the Group 
HSEC manager as well as to local management.

Charitable donations and volunteering
Charitable activity is handled both locally and 
centrally. Local operations have a limited budget for 
good causes in their operational areas and in 2008 
they spent $628,000. Centrally, the Group made 
charitable donations in response to appeals of 
$22,000.

Staff who volunteer for causes that interest them 
can be given time off for such activities where 
appropriate and operationally feasible. Decisions in 
individual cases are at the discretion of the line 
manager.

We intend to improve our performance in a number 
of areas in 2009: 

• Develop a systematic engagement with our 
stakeholders at group and national level

• Report more fully on our community 
performance

• Develop and implement a volunteering policy.

Conclusion
We recognise that a comprehensive, stakeholder-
driven approach to corporate responsibility is going 
to be important in assuring our long-term success 
as a business. Just as we have enhanced our 
reporting and data standards in this report, we 
intend to develop and report on our performance in 
these important areas more fully in the future.

Forest fire
On 16th August 2008 a serious forest fire broke
out near our operation in Poltava, threatening 
the homes and lives of local inhabitants. What 
followed was an example of the way in which
our resources can be deployed to help our host
communities. Working with the local authorities,
we deployed all available vehicles including our 
fire engines, personnel and safety equipment.
The fire was rapidly brought under control and
no lives were lost.
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In 2009 we will:

• Continue and extend our safety culture change 
programme to reflect risk management best 
practice

• Secure OHSAS 18001 accreditation

• Commence ISO 14001 accreditation

• Introduce a structured system for stakeholder 
dialogue in our key operational locations

• Develop and implement a Group policy on
community relations and charitable activity.
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The Directors

1. Dr Paul Davies  Chief Executive Officer (59)
Dr Paul Davies joined the Board on 30th January 
1998. He has been active in the oil and gas industry 
since 1976 and was the co-founder of the JP Kenny 
Group of Companies which traded internationally 
in oil and gas engineering, oil and gas exploration 
and production, subsea survey and inspection, and 
shipping. He has extensive experience of business 
in the former Soviet Union and was a founder of JP 
Kenny Exploration & Production Ltd, the forerunner 
of JKX Oil & Gas plc. He holds an Honours 
degree in Civil Engineering and PhD in structural 
mechanics from University College London.

2. Bruce J Burrows  Finance Director (50)
Bruce Burrows was appointed Finance Director on 
31st December 1997. He joined JKX from Ernst & 
Young where he held positions in the Wellington 
(New Zealand) and London offices. He holds a BSc 
Honours degree from Canterbury University (New 
Zealand), a Diploma in Accounting from Victoria 
University (New Zealand) and is a member of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of New Zealand. 
Bruce is also Company Secretary.

3. Rt Hon Lord Fraser of Carmyllie QC
Non-Executive Chairman (63)
Lord Fraser was formerly Lord Advocate and 
Minister of State at the Department of Trade 
and Industry with responsibility for export trade 
promotion and overseas investment, with particular 
emphasis on the oil and gas industry. He was then 
Minister of Energy until May 1997. He is a Director 
of the London Metal Exchange and ICE Futures 
and ICE Clear. Lord Fraser is the Chairman of the 
Nominations Committee. 

4. Viscount Asquith  Non-Executive Director (56)
Viscount Asquith, considered by the Board to be the 
senior independent Non-Executive Director, joined 
the Foreign Office in 1980 and was the Counsellor 
at the British Embassy in Kiev from 1992 until his 
resignation in 1997 to pursue private business 
interests. He is a member of the Remuneration and 
Nominations Committees.

5. Martin Miller  Technical Director (61)
Martin Miller joined JKX in 1994 as Chief Geologist 
and has held a number of senior positions in the 
Company, including directing JKX’s Georgian 
operations. Most recently, he has assumed 
responsibility for JKX’s ventures in Russia and 
Ukraine. He is a Chartered Engineer and has over 
30 years of experience in the oil and gas industry, 
including senior positions with Mobil and BP. 

6. Peter Dixon  Commercial Director (54)
Peter Dixon joined the Board on 1st July 2007 with 
27 years of broad experience in the upstream oil 
and gas industry in the UK, Middle East, Africa 

and the former Soviet Union. Peter graduated in 
Physics and Geology from Sunderland University 
and spent 15 years working in varied geophysical 
and senior management roles within the SSL and 
Schlumberger groups of companies. Since joining 
JKX in 1995, Peter has occupied a number of senior 
positions within the group including Asset Manager 
Ukraine, Group Commercial Executive and General 
Director of Poltava Petroleum Company.

7. Nigel Moore  Non-Executive Director (65)
Nigel Moore is a former partner at Ernst & Young, 
and holds non-executive positions on the boards 
of FTSE-listed Hochschild Mining plc and Vitec 
Group plc and the AIM listed Ascent Resources plc 
and TEG Group plc. Nigel is Chairman of the Audit 
Committee and a member of the Remuneration 
and Nominations Committees.

8. Dipesh Shah OBE FRSA  
Non-Executive Director (55)
Dipesh Shah joined the Board with over 30 years 
experience of the oil and gas sector. He spent more 
than 20 years with BP and was a member of the BP 
Group Leadership for over 10 years before leaving 
BP in 2002. From 2003 to 2006, Mr Shah served as 
Chief Executive of the UK Atomic Energy Authority. 
He was also Chairman of the FTSE 200 utility 
company, Viridian Group plc, and of HG Capital 
Renewable Power Partners LLP. Mr Shah is 
currently a Non-Executive Director of Thames 
Water and Kemble Water Group of Companies, 
Lloyd’s of London franchise board and Babcock 
International Group PLC. He is a graduate of the 
Universities of London and Warwick and of the 
Harvard Business School management programme. 
Mr Shah was awarded an OBE in the 2007 New 
Year Honours List. He is Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee and a member of the 
Audit Committee.

9. Michel Marc-Delcommune
Non-Executive Director (61)
Michel-Marc Delcommune, spent over 25 years 
with PetroFina Group where he held a number 
of prominent positions. In 1999 Mr Delcommune 
joined MOL Group. He was MOL Group’s Chief 
Financial Officer and went on to serve as Group 
Chief Strategy Officer and an Executive Committee 
member between 2004 and 2006. He retired from 
executive duties in 2006 but remains as Senior 
Adviser to MOL’s Executive Chairman and is a 
Non-Executive Director of TVK, a MOL Group 
petrochemical company listed on the Budapest 
Stock Exchange. He is also Non Executive Director 
of Slovnaft, a refining company listed on the 
Bratislava Stock Exchange. Mr Delcommune is 
a graduate of chemical engineering from the 
University of Liege and holds an MBA from Cornell. 
He is a member of the Audit Committee.
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The Directors submit their report and the audited 
accounts for the year ended 31st December 2008.

Results and dividends
The profit for the year before tax is $127.6m 
(2007: $113.3m). The profit for the year after tax is 
$78.2m (2007: $74.4m). Following payment of the 
interim dividend, details of which are set out in 
note 24 to the financial statements, the Directors 
recommend a final dividend of 2.6p per share for 
the year ended 31st December 2008 to be paid on 
5th June 2009 to shareholders on the register on 
17th April 2009. This payment will bring the total 
dividend in respect of 2008 to 4.8p per share. 
A review of major financial developments and 
performance during the year is contained in the 
Financial Review on pages 24 to 31 which are 
incorporated into this report by cross-reference. 

Going concern
The financial statements have been prepared on a 
going concern basis following a review by the 
Directors of forecast cash flows for the next 
12 months, including consideration of the ability of 
the Group to change the timing and scale of capital 
expenditure, if required.

Activities
The principal activities of the Group are oil and gas 
exploration and production conducted through 
subsidiary undertakings.

Business Review
Details of the Company’s 2008 operations are 
included in the Chairman’s statement and the 
Chief Executive’s statement. A review of financial 
perfomance is included in the Financial Review on 
pages 25 to 31 and a review of key performance 
indicators for the business is included on pages 
8 and 9.

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting of the Company 
will be held at 11.00 am on 3rd June 2009 at the 
premises of Cardew Group, 12 Suffolk Street, 
London SW1Y 4HQ.

The business for the meeting includes ten 
resolutions as Ordinary Business and three 
resolutions proposed as Special Business.

Included as Ordinary Business are resolutions to 
re-elect five Directors.

Lord Fraser of Carmyllie Q.C. and Viscount Asquith 
are proposed for re-election given they have both 
served on the Board for more than nine years. The 
Board have conducted a rigorous review and 
conclude that Lord Fraser of Carmyllie Q.C. and 
Viscount Asquith remain independent. As was 
reported in the 2007 Report and Accounts, in the 

spirit of the principles of Corporate Governance 
contained in the Combined Code of Corporate 
Governance appended to the Listing Rules of the 
Financial Services Authority, the Board believes it 
appropriate to seek annual re-election of all 
Non-Executive Directors who serve on the Board 
for greater than nine years.

Mr Delcommune and Mr Shah were appointed to 
the Board after the Annual General Meeting in 2008 
and therefore under the Articles of Association 
retire and are seeking re-election.

Included in Special Business there are three 
special resolutions:

a)  Purchase of own shares: The Directors 
recommend that the Company seek 
authorisation at the Annual General Meeting to 
renew the authority for the Company to make 
on-market purchases of ordinary shares in the 
capital of the Company, such authority to expire 
on the earlier of 15 months from the date of the 
passing of the resolution and the conclusion of 
the next annual general meeting (if sooner). 
The minimum price payable per share under the 
proposed authority in this resolution is the 
nominal amount of each share (currently 10p) 
and the maximum price (exclusive of expenses) 
is 5% above the average market price per 
share for the five business days immediately 
preceding any purchase. If granted, the 
authority will allow the Company to take 
advantage, if appropriate, of stock market 
conditions to purchase its own shares. In 
assessing whether to purchase the Company’s 
own shares, the Directors will take into account 
all relevant factors including the effect on 
earnings per share and assets per share ratios 
and other benefits to Shareholders. Any shares 
purchased would be held as treasury shares.

b) The Directors be empowered pursuant to 
section 95 of the Act to allot equity securities for 
cash as if section 89 (i) of the Act did not apply 
to the allotment, and to sell relevant shares for 
cash, if immediately prior to sale the shares are 
held as treasury shares, as if section 89 (i) of 
the Act did not apply to any such sale, up to an 
aggregate amount of £1,565,716 such power to 
expire on the date falling five years from the 
date of passing of the resolution unless 
previously revoked, varied or extended by the 
Company in General Meeting. 

c) That notwithstanding the subsequent coming 
into force of the Companies (Shareholders’ 
Rights) Regulations 2009 a general meeting 
other than an annual general meeting may be 
called on not less than 14 clear days’ notice.
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Your Directors believe that the resolutions that will 
be proposed at the Annual General Meeting are in 
the best interests of the Company and unanimously 
recommend shareholders to vote in favour of the 
resolutions.

Exploration and production interests
In the opinion of the Directors, the Group’s 
exploration and production interests have a value in 
excess of the balance sheet figure. Expenditure for 
the year is detailed in note 5 to these accounts.

Political and charitable contributions
The Group made charitable contributions of 
$649,000, most of which was for local educational, 
health and village infrastructure initiatives in 
Ukraine and Russia. The Group did not make any 
political contributions.

Financial Instruments
The Group’s financial risk management objectives 
and policies are discussed in the Financial Review 
on pages 27 and 28 and in note 7 of the accounts.

Disabled employees
The Group gives full consideration to applications 
for employment from disabled persons where the 
requirements of the job can be adequately fulfilled 
by such persons.

Should an existing employee become disabled, it is 
in the Group’s policy wherever practicable to 
provide continuing employment under normal 
terms and conditions and to provide training and 
career development and promotion.

Shares in JKX Oil & Gas plc
Details of movements in share capital during the 
year are set out in note 11 to these accounts.

Treasury shares
In 2008 the Company did not purchase in the market 
any of its own ordinary 10p shares, to be held as 
Treasury Shares. At 31st December 2008, 402,771 
shares continued to be held as Treasury Shares 
representing 0.26% of the shares then in issue.

Directors and their interests
The Directors and their interests at the year end in 
the shares of the Company, all beneficially held, 
were as shown in the table above.

Details of directors’ remuneration and share 
options are shown in the Remuneration Report on 
pages 48 to 54. There were no contracts existing 
during or at the end of the year in which a Director 
was, or is, materially interested.

Significant contracts and takeover directive infor-
mation
The Group does not have any contracts which on 
their own are essential to the business nor does it 
have any significant agreements that would effect, 
alter or terminate upon a change of control of the 
company following a takeover bid. There are no 
significant restrictions on the transfer of securities.

The share capital structure is listed in note 11 in 
the notes to the accounts and the significant 
holdings are listed overleaf.  

 1st January 2008/ 
 date of appointment 31st December 2008 31st March 2009
 Ordinary Share Ordinary Share Ordinary Share
 Numbers Numbers Numbers

Lord Fraser 90,000 75,000 75,000

Viscount Asquith  94,000 94,000 94,000

Nigel Moore  0 0 0 

M-M Delcommune 0 0 0

D Shah 0 0 0

Dr P Davies1 3,453,772 3,631,272 3,631,272

B J Burrows 329,695 209,396 209,396

M Miller 127,500 190,000 190,000

P Dixon 136,429 163,179 163,179

[1 Dr P Davies interest is partly indirect with 1,940,000 ordinary shares registered in the name of Guinness Flight and Calder 2342 and held in trust, the 
beneficiary of which is the family of Dr P Davies, with the balance held directly by Dr P Davies.]
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Substantial shareholders
At 26th March 2009, the Company has received 
notification from the following institutions of 
interests in excess of 3% of the total number of 
voting rights of the Company (see below).

Environment
The Group is aware of its responsibilities to protect 
the environment and will ensure that its operations 
at least meet statutory requirements and 
regulations, and are carried out with minimal 
environmental impact. Refer to the Corporate 
Responsibility report on page 35 for a more detailed 
description of the Company’s approach and 
initiatives with respect to the environment.

Creditor payment policy and practice
It is the Company’s policy that payments to 
suppliers are made in accordance with those terms 
and conditions agreed between the Company and 
its suppliers, providing that all trading terms and 
conditions have been complied with. The Company 
has no trade creditors.

By order of the Board
B J Burrows
Company Secretary
6th April 2009
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 Number % of total
Substantial shareholders   of shares  voting rights

Ralkon Commercial Ltd  25,053,268 16.00%

Glengary Overseas Ltd  19,656,344 12.55%

Interneft Ltd 11,368,460 7.26%

Standard Life 10,747,908 6.86%

JSC Naftogaz of Ukraine 9,957,214 6.36%

AXA S.A. 7,632,302 4.87%

J P Morgan 7,610,495 4.86%

Fidelity International Limited  7,589,671 4.85%

Legal and General 6,256,666 4.00%
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Statement by the Directors on compliance with 
the 2006 Combined Code
The Company is committed to the principles of 
Corporate Governance contained in the Combined 
Code of Corporate Governance (2006) that is 
appended to the Listing Rules of the Financial 
Services Authority and for which the Board is 
accountable to shareholders.

The Board
The Board, which is responsible to shareholders for 
leading, developing and protecting the interests of 
the Company, comprises five Non-Executive 
Directors and four Executive Directors, the details 
of whom are contained on pages 38 and 39.

There is a clear division of responsibilities at the 
head of the Company through the separation of 
positions of the Non-executive Chairman, Lord 
Fraser and the Chief Executive Officer, Dr Paul 
Davies. The Non-Executive Directors are of varied 
backgrounds and experience and the Board 
considers them to exercise independent and 
objective judgment.

Matters reserved specifically for the Board are 
clearly laid down. The Board: sets and monitors 
strategy; reviews business plans, trading 
performance and overhead costs; approves major 
capital investment projects; examines acquisition 
opportunities; divestment possibilities and 
significant financial and operational issues; and 
reviews and approves the Company’s financial 
statements and control and risk management 
systems. In executing these responsibilities the 
Board relies on the receipt of accurate, timely 
and clear information, the dissemination of which 
is the responsibility of the Chairman. All other 
authorities are delegated by the Board, supported 
by appropriate controls, to the Chief Executive 
Officer on behalf of senior management.

Evaluation of the performance of Directors, the 
Board and its committees is undertaken as follows: 
the Executive Directors are evaluated by the 
Non-Executive Directors in informal session; the 
Chairman is evaluated by the other Non-Executive 
Directors, lead by the Senior Independent Non-
Executive Director, taking into account the views 
of the Executive Directors; the Committees are 
evaluated by the senior Non-executive along with 
the Chief Executive taking into account the views of 
the other Executive Directors; the Non-Executive 
Directors, excluding the Chairman, are evaluated 
by the Chairman and Chief Executive, taking into 
account the views of the other Executive Directors; 
and the Board as a whole evaluates its own 
performance by consolidating and discussing the 
reviews set out above.

Viscount Asquith is the senior independent 
Non-Executive Director and, at the Board’s request, 
maintains a special interest in the strategic issues 
in PPC, supporting the JKX Executive Directors and 
the PPC senior management as required.

All Directors have access to the services of the 
Company Secretary and may, if needed, obtain 
independent professional advice, at the Company’s 
expense, in the execution of their duties.

In addition to Board meetings, the Non-Executive 
Directors meet in private session both as a group 
and without the Chairman, at least annually.

It is confirmed that all the Non-Executive Directors 
have sufficient time to fulfill their commitments to 
the Company and that no Executive Director holds a 
Non-Executive Directorship, nor chairmanship, in a 
FTSE 100 company.

Attendance at meetings
The attendance of Directors at Board Meetings and 
Audit and Remuneration meetings during 2008 was 
as over the page. 

Compliance
Throughout the year ended 31st December 
2008, the Company has maintained policies and 
procedures that ensured compliance with the code 
provisions set out in Section 1 of the Combined 
Code (2006) and the related Financial Services 
Authority Listing Rule disclosure requirements. The 
Listing Rules of the UK Listing Authority require 
that companies report on the extent to which they 
comply with the Principles of Good Governance 
and Code of Best Practice. The Board believes 
the Company has been in full compliance with the 
provisions set out in Section 1 of the Combined 
Code with the following exceptions:

• A.3.2 Excluding the Chairman, independent 
Non-Executive Directors did not comprise at 
least 50% of the Board for the entire reporting 
period. Two additional Non-Executive Directors, 
Michel-Marc Delcommune and Dipesh Shah, 
were appointed on 1st June 2008. Following their 
appointment the Board considers that, excluding 
the Chairman, independent Non-Executive 
Directors now comprise 50% of the Board, given 
the Board also considers that the four other 
Non-Executive Directors are wholly independent. 

  The Executive Directors have undertaken a 
review of the independence of each of the Non-
Executive Directors and Chairman. The review 
addressed the matters highlighted at Section 
A.3.1 of the Code, which could appear to affect 
a Director’s judgment. One specific matter 
addressed was Lord Fraser and Viscount Asquith 
having both served on the Board for more than 
nine years. Following the review, the Executive 
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Directors do not consider that this matter in 
any way influences the independent judgment 
of Lord Fraser or Viscount Asquith. Accordingly 
the Executive Directors believe each of the 
Non-Executive Directors and Chairman to be 
independent in accordance with Section A 3.1 of 
the Code.

• A.7.2 The terms of appointment of the Non-
Executive Directors are set out in their service 
contracts, which for Lord Fraser and Viscount 
Asquith are dated 1st January 2002, for Nigel 
Moore is dated 12th July 2007, and for Michel- 
Marc Delcommune and Dipesh Shah are dated 
1st June 2008 and include a termination notice 
of three months by either party. However, the 
service contracts are for an indefinite term, 
not a finite term, subject to re-election on an 
as required basis. The Board continues to 
believe this is appropriate given the company 
size, non-executive skill set, and evaluation of 
performance and independence on an ongoing 
basis with regards to Non-executives. As 
stated in the 2007 annual report, the Company 
contracted Mercer to review the remuneration 

of Non-Executive Directors, including the 
Chairman. Mercer’s report included a review 
of the alignment of JKX’s non-executive 
remuneration with best practice corporate 
governance. Despite the review confirming 
that the unspecified term of appointment was 
not regarded as corporate best practice, the 
Company decided then, and continues to believe, 
the unspecified term continues to be reasonable 
and the Non-executive contracts remain 
unchanged in this regard. 

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee currently comprises 
Nigel Moore, Dipesh Shah and Michel-Marc 
Delcommune. The Committee is chaired by Mr 
Moore, who as a former audit partner with Ernst & 
Young LLP possesses recent and relevant financial 
experience, also chairs the Audit Committee of four 
other UK listed companies, and maintains a regular 
pattern of attendance at relevant seminars and 
courses.

The Audit Committee, which has Terms of 
Reference agreed by the Board and available 

Board meetings 22.01.08 17.03.08 29.05.08 27.06.08 22.08.08 27.10.08 01.12.08

Lord Fraser √ √ √ √ √ √ √

Viscount Asquith √ √ √ √ √ √ –

Nigel Moore √ √ √ √ √ √ √

Michel-Marc Delcommune n/a n/a n/a √ √ √ √

Dipesh Shah n/a n/a n/a √ √ √ √

Paul Davies √ √ √ √ √ √ √

Bruce Burrows √ √ √ √ √ √ √

Martin Miller √ √ √ √ √ √ √

Peter Dixon √ √ √ √ √ √ √

Remuneration Committee meetings      22.01.08 17.03.08

Dipesh Shah      n/a n/a

Nigel Moore      √ √

Viscount Asquith      √ √

Lord Fraser      √ √

Nominations Committee meeting       13.03.08

Lord Fraser       √

Viscount Asquith       √

Nigel Moore       √

Audit Committee meetings    17.03.08 27.06.08 22.08.08 01.12.08

Nigel Moore    √ √ √ √

Lord Fraser    √ √ √ n/a

Viscount Asquith    √ √ √ n/a 

Michel-Marc Delcommune    n/a √ √ √

Dipesh Shah    n/a √ √ √

Corporate governance continued
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to shareholders on request, meets at least 
three times a year. It reviews the Company’s 
accounting policies; monitors the integrity of the 
financial statements of the Company and any 
announcements relating to the Company’s financial 
performance, reviewing significant financial 
reporting judgements contained in them; reviews 
the Company’s internal financial controls; reviews 
internal control and risk management systems and 
compliance procedures; reports to the Board any 
matters which it considers actions or improvement 
are needed with associated recommendations as 
to steps to be taken; and makes recommendations 
to the Board, for it to put to shareholders for their 
approval in general meeting, in relation to the 
appointment, re-appointment and removal of the 
external auditor and to approve the remuneration 
and terms of engagement of the external auditor. 
During 2008 the Committee met four times with 
each Committee member attending all meetings 
held whilst they sat on the Committee. Meetings 
are attended, by invitation, by the Chief Executive 
Officer and the Finance Director.

The Audit Committee reviews each of the 
Company’s subsidiaries, interests and activities at 
least once a year; site visits are also undertaken by 
the Committee members to significant operations 
on a frequent basis.

The Audit Committee maintains an objective and 
professional relationship with the Company’s 
auditors and meets in private session with them 
on a periodic basis. From time to time, the auditor 
is requested to perform non-audit engagements 
for the Group. In such instances the continued 
objectivity and independence of the auditors in 
their capacity of auditor is an objective of the 
Group. To meet this objective the Audit Committee 
is delegated the role of vetting the appointment 
of the auditor on specific engagements including 
considerations of materiality and, where necessary, 
requiring a competitive tender for such work.

The Company promotes a culture of openness and 
encourages staff to raise any concerns of possible 
improprieties in matters of financial reporting or 
other matters, if necessary in confidence. The Audit 
Committee has reviewed arrangements for such 
concerns to be raised, investigated and if necessary 
followed up.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Revised 
Combined Code, specifically Section C that 
addresses audit committee aspects, and considers 
that it complies with all the provisions identified 
apart from the provision concerning the need to 
have a dedicated internal audit function which is 
not established for the reasons listed below. Areas 
of non-compliance in addition to Section C are 
listed above.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee currently comprises 
Dipesh Shah, Viscount Asquith and Nigel Moore. 
The Committee is chaired by Dipesh Shah. The Chief 
Executive Officer attends meetings by invitation.

The Remuneration Committee which has terms 
of reference agreed by the Board and available 
to shareholders on request, meets at least twice 
a year, to assist the Board in determining the 
remuneration arrangements and contracts of the 
Directors and senior employees.

The Remuneration Committee met twice during 
2008 with each of the members attending all 
meetings whilst they were members.

The Remuneration Committee employs the services 
of Mercer as remuneration consultants on an as 
required basis. Mercer have no other connection 
with the Company.

No Director is involved in deciding his own 
remuneration.

The report of the Directors’ remuneration, which 
involves details of the Directors’ interest in options 
together with information on service contracts, is 
set out on pages 48 to 54.

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the 
Revised Combined Code, specifically Section B 
that addresses the level, make up and procedural 
aspects of remuneration. The Remuneration 
Committee considers that it complies with all the 
provisions and practices identified.

Nominations Committee
The members of the Nominations Committee are 
Lord Fraser (Chairman), Viscount Asquith and 
Mr NSJ Moore. The Nominations Committee met 
once in 2008 on 13th March to discuss and agree 
the selection of non-executive candidates to be put 
forward to the Board for approval. 

Internal control
The Board is responsible for identifying and 
evaluating the major business risks faced by the 
Company and for determining and monitoring the 
appropriate course of action to manage these risks. 
The Audit Committee monitors the integrity of the 
financial statements and announcements, reviews 
the Company’s internal control processes and risk 
management systems and reports its conclusions 
to the Board.

The Board regularly conducts reviews, and has 
reviewed, for the year under review and up to the 
date of approval of the 2008 Annual Report and 
Accounts, the effectiveness of the Company’s 
systems of internal control and risk management 
and has concluded that the Company’s procedures, 
policies and systems are appropriate and suitable 
to enable the Board to safeguard shareholders’ 
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investment and the Company’s assets, and comply 
with Turnbull Guidance.

The Audit Committee annually reviews, and 
has reviewed for 2008, the need for a dedicated 
internal audit function and, as noted above, 
has recommended to the Board that, due to 
the scale and geographic distribution of the 
Company’s licences and operating interests, 
the Board continues to be best served by using 
external specialist assistance on dedicated 
business and financial risk areas to supplement 
the Company’s own risk analysis. The process 
and systems of internal control are designed to 
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to 
achieve business objectives and can only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance against 
material misstatement or loss.

The key procedures, which the Directors have 
established with a view to providing effective 
internal control, are described below. In addition, 
the Company’s independent auditors present 
reports to the Audit Committee, which include any 
significant internal control matters that they have 
identified as part of their normal audit work.

Business risk
A process is in place to enable the Board to 
identify the major business, operational, financial 
and compliance risks faced by the Company and 
to determine the appropriate course of action to 
manage and monitor these risks. This process is 
regularly reviewed by the Audit Committee and 
reported to the Board as appropriate.

The Company identifies and distinguishes ‘High 
Profile Events’, i.e. those risks that could have 
material effect on the Company’s financial position 
or reputation, from other business risks that it 
assesses and considers to be acceptable for the 
Company to bear taking into account the industry 
and the markets in which it operates.

The Audit Committee reviews annually the 
Company’s subsidiaries and investments from a 
business, operational and financial risk perspective 
to ensure that the system of internal control and 
accountability is embedded in the operations of 
the Group. Members of the Audit Committee visit 
subsidiaries and operations on a regular basis.

The Audit Committee considers that management 
are conscious of the need to identify and assess 
risks in their operations and the effect of changes 
in the business environment, to respond quickly 
and appropriately and to report immediately any 
significant control failings and weaknesses that are 
identified together with details of corrective action.

Management structure
The Board has overall responsibility for the 
Group and there is a formal schedule of matters 

specifically reserved for decision by the Board. 
Each executive has been given responsibility and 
is accountable for specific aspects of the Group’s 
affairs. 

Financial reporting
The Company maintains an effective and reliable 
accounting and management information system. 
The Board receives a monthly report that monitors 
actual performance against budget and forecast 
for oil and gas production; sales and costs; and 
provides the Board with information amongst other 
things on debtors, the cash position, cashflow 
forecasting and to the financial implications of key 
sensitivities including changes in commodity prices 
and exchange rates.

Budgetary process
Each year the Board approves the annual budget 
with key risk areas identified. Performance is 
monitored and relevant action taken throughout the 
year through the monthly reporting to the Board of 
variances from the budget, updated forecasts for 
the year together with information on the key risk 
areas.

Corporate accounting and procedures manual
Responsibility levels are communicated throughout 
the Group as part of the corporate accounting and 
procedures manual which sets out, inter alia, the 
general ethos of the Group, delegation of authority 
and authorisation levels, segregation of duties and 
control procedures together with accounting policies 
and procedures. The manual, which includes 
policies common to all Group companies along 
with company specific procedures and controls is 
reviewed regularly and updated as required.

The application of internal financial control and 
operational procedures are reviewed during visits 
to the overseas offices by Head Office staff.

Quality and integrity of personnel
The integrity and competence of personnel is 
ensured through high recruitment standards 
and subsequent training courses. High quality 
personnel are seen as an essential part of the 
control environment and the ethical standards 
expected of staff are communicated through the 
corporate accounting and procedures manual.

Investment appraisal
Capital investment is regulated by the budgetary 
process and authorisation levels. For expenditure 
beyond specified levels, detailed written proposals 
have to be submitted to the Board. Capital 
expenditures are reviewed with major overruns in 
terms of cost and time being investigated.

The internal financial control situation is reported 
to the Audit Committee, which has reviewed the 

Corporate governance continued
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effectiveness of the system of internal financial 
controls as it operated during the year and 
reported its conclusions to the Board.

Communication with shareholders
Extensive information about the Group’s activities 
is provided in the Annual Report and Accounts 
and the Half-yearly Report which are sent to 
shareholders. There is a regular dialogue with 
institutional shareholders for which the Board, 
as a whole, has responsibility, and enquiries 
from individuals on matters relating to their 
shareholding and the business of the Group are 
welcomed and are dealt with in an informative and 
timely manner. Shareholders are encouraged to 
attend the Annual General Meeting to discuss the 
progress of the Group.

Going concern
After making inquiries and taking into consideration 
the Ukrainian and Russian business environments, 
as detailed in note 29 of the accounts, together 
with reviewing the Company’s budget for 2009 
and its medium term plans, the Directors have 
a reasonable expectation that the Company has 
adequate resources to continue operations for the 
foreseeable future. The going concern basis for the 
accounts has therefore continued to be adopted.

By order of the Board
Rt Hon Lord Fraser of Carmyllie
Chairman
6th April 2009
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Remuneration

This report has been prepared in accordance with 
schedule 7 A to the Companies Act 1985. The report 
also meets the relevant requirements of the Listing 
Rules of the Financial Services Authority and 
describes how the Board has applied the Principles 
of Good Governance relating to Directors’ 
remuneration. As required by the regulations the 
report will be approved by the Board of the 
Company and signed by a Director or Secretary on 
behalf of the Board. 

Unaudited information

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee (the Committee) 
operates under the delegated authority of the 
Board; the Committee’s primary role is to review, 
agree and approve, or as required under the 
Combined Code to make recommendations to the 
Board, on:

• the Company’s remuneration policy for Executive 
Directors and senior management

• service contracts of the Executive Directors

• remuneration of the Executive Directors

• remuneration of senior management identified 
by the Committee; and

• participation in, and operation of, the Company’s 
share option plans

The full terms of reference are available from the 
Company Secretary.

The Committee is chaired by Mr Dipesh Shah 
(having been appointed to the Board on 1st June 
2008) and comprises three independent Non-
Executive Directors (Mr Shah, Viscount Asquith and 
Mr Nigel Moore). Prior to Mr Shah being appointed 
to the Committee, Viscount Asquith chaired the 
Committee and the Chairman, Lord Fraser, was 
included to meet the Company’s objective of the 
Committee comprising three members. Dr P Davies, 
the Chief Executive, attends the Committee 
meetings by invitation but is not able to vote and is 
not present when his own remuneration 
arrangements are agreed. No Director plays a part 
in any discussion about his own remuneration.

None of the Committee has any personal financial 
interest (other than as a shareholder as detailed in 
page 41, which given the level of holdings the Board 
accepts as not impairing independence), conflicts 
of interests arising from cross-directorships or day-
to-day involvement in running the business. 

In 2008 the Committee met on two occasions to 
discuss, agree and make recommendations to the 
Board on the following issues:-

• 22nd January: to approve payments to be made 
under the Annual Bonus Scheme relating to 
performance in 2007 and to approve salary 
changes for 2008; and

• 17th March: to approve the strategic objectives, 
financial and share price targets for the 2008 
Annual Bonus Scheme, to confirm the vesting of 
share options made in 2004 and to discuss and 
agree the performance conditions to be used in 
and agree the allocation of share options in 2008.

Remuneration policy
The Company’s overall approach to pay and benefits 
is to reward employees competitively, taking into 
account Company and individual performance, 
market value and competitive pressures in the 
independent oil and gas sector. The Company does 
not seek to maintain any strict market position but 
aims to ensure that pay is set at an appropriate 
level and is comparable with peer group 
companies.

The Committee has appointed Mercer to provide 
technical advice on developments and market 
trends in how Directors’ remuneration packages 
are structured, to provide general advice on 
remuneration matters including contract structure 
and to provide information on remuneration levels 
in comparator oil and gas companies. Mercer 
provides no other services to the Group.

The comparator companies are UK-based oil and 
gas companies and are primarily quoted on the LSE 
or AIM. These companies subscribe to a survey 
conducted by Mercer. For comparator purposes the 
Committee requested Mercer to group them into 
three divisions; a first comparator group of seven 
companies whose characteristics are considered to 
be as close to a ‘peer’ group as can be obtained; 
a second comparator group which includes 15 
companies; and a final group of 51 companies in 
the UK oil and gas sector and which includes 
subsidiaries of non UK parent companies.

Mercer undertook a ‘health check’ of the 
Company’s remuneration practices and policies in 
2007 and concluded that the Company was 
continuing to apply a ‘best practices’ approach. The 
conclusions of the report are considered applicable 
for the 2008 period. It is intended to appoint an 
independent advisor in 2009 to undertake a further 
detailed review of the Company’s remuneration 
practices and policies and to recommend changes, 
if appropriate.

There are four main elements of the remuneration 
package for Executive Directors and senior 
management:

• Basic annual salary (including Directors’ fees) 
and benefits;

• Annual bonus payments;

• Medium Term Incentive arrangement i.e. Share 
Option Scheme; and

• Pension.
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The Board believes that the performance-related 
elements of remuneration which feature in the 
Annual Bonus Scheme and the Medium Term 
Incentive Plan (Share Option Scheme) should form 
a significant proportion of the total remuneration 
package of Executive Directors. These are designed 
to align the interests of Executive Directors with 
those of shareholders and structured to give them 
keen incentives to perform at the highest levels. 
The remuneration packages are prudently designed 
to attract, motivate and retain Directors of the high 
calibre needed to maintain the Group’s position in 
the market and to reward them for enhancing value 
to shareholders. 

It is the Group’s policy that service contracts, 
including the Chief Executive’s, be unlimited in 
term but capable in normal circumstances of 
termination on 12 months’ notice. The Directors’ 
contracts of service that include details of 
remuneration will be available for inspection at the 
Annual General Meeting. 

Executive Directors are entitled to accept 
appointments outside the Company providing that 
the Chairman’s permission is sought and granted.

The remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors is 
determined by the Board within limits set out in the 
Articles of Association.

Basic salary
An Executive Director’s basic salary is determined 
by the Committee at the beginning of each year 
and when an individual changes position or 
responsibility. In deciding appropriate levels, the 
Committee considers the Group as a whole and 
relies on independent and objective research that 
gives up-to-date information on a comparator group 
of UK companies operating in the independent oil 
and gas sector. The individual salaries and benefits 
of Executive Directors are reviewed and adjusted 
taking into account individual performance and 
market factors. No Executive Director plays a part in 
any discussion about his own remuneration.

In addition to basic salary, the Executive Directors 
receive certain benefits-in-kind, principally health 
cover.

Details of the Executive Directors’ basic salary and 
benefits in 2008 are shown on page 53.

Annual bonus scheme 
The Annual Bonus Scheme, which is based on the 
achievement of relevant and stretching 
performance conditions determined by the 
Committee, was introduced in 2001 for Executive 
Directors and certain senior management including 
staff in Poltava Petroleum Company (PPC) and 
Yuzhgazenergie (YGE). The application of the 
scheme in any given year is discretionary and 
annual awards are not pensionable.

The Chief Executive may earn an annual 
performance related bonus payment of up to 100% 
of his basic salary (Bonus Factor), the Finance 
Director & Company Secretary 70% and the 
Technical and Commercial Directors 60%. Other 
senior managers can earn an annual bonus 
payment of up to a maximum of 50% of their Basic 
Salary. 

The Committee establishes the performance 
conditions objectives that must be met for each 
financial year. The performance conditions, which 
are derived from the Company’s Annual Budget and 
Strategic Plan approved by the Board, are divided 
into three segments: 1. financial; 2. increase in 
share price; and 3. strategic, as follows:  

1. Financial Objectives 
(i) Pre-Tax Profit and (ii) Return on Average Capital 
Employed; Target levels are set and the bonus 
element earned varies from zero at 90% of Target to 
a maximum at 115% of Target.  A sliding scale 
operates between zero and the maximum.

2. Increase in Share Price
(i) Average Annual Share Price and (ii) Spot Year 
Start and Year End Share Price. 

A ‘strike price’ of Base Price +10% is established 
respectively for each measurement before any 
bonus element is paid. For the maximum to be 
earned the average strike price must increase 20% 
and the spot strike price must increase 10%. 
A sliding scale operates between the base and 
maximum. 

3. Strategic Objectives
This segment includes a variety of measures 
including the booking of new reserves, acquisition 
of  new licences, production increases and the  
drilling of exploration wells; as far as possible, 
these measures all contain quantifiable figures to 
reduce the subjective assessment of performance.

The table on the following page shows that the 
weighting applied to each performance condition 
varies slightly for each Executive Director (and for 
senior management). This is done so that the 
performance conditions are structured individually 
to reflect each Executive Director’s area of 
responsibility and his ability to influence results 
although the need for the executive management to 
operate as a team is also recognised.

To earn the maximum level of bonus requires: 
all Pre-Tax Profit, Return on Average Capital and 
average and spot share price maxima to be met or 
exceeded and all of the strategic objectives to be 
met.
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In 2008, the performance conditions established 
and the actual achievements for the financial and 
share price segments were as follows:

Medium term incentive arrangements – 
Share Option Scheme
The Board believes that the attraction, motivation 
and retention of senior executives and employees is 
central to the Company’s success and is convinced 
that a medium term incentive plan is an important 
and effective means of achieving this objective.

The Inland Revenue Approved JKX Oil & Gas plc 
Discretionary Share Option Scheme 2001 and the 
Unapproved JKX Oil & Gas Discretionary Share 
Option Scheme 2001 (collectively the “Share Option 
Schemes”) that were introduced in 2001 reflected 
the best practice aspects recommended by the 
Association of British Insurers following the 
publication of their guidelines in March 2001 (the 
‘ABI Guidelines’).

At the time the Share Option Schemes were 
developed a variety of alternative measurements to 
link remuneration to performance and align the 
interests of participating Directors and senior 
management with those of Shareholders were 
considered. The ABI guidelines suggest comparison 
of the Company’s performance against an 
appropriate peer group. At the time it was difficult 
to select sufficient quoted companies of similar size 
and profile in the independent oil and gas sector to 
form a meaningful peer group. Consequently, it was 
felt that an increase in Share Price combined with a 
comparison to an external benchmark, the 

Finance Target  Achievement

Pre Tax Profit  $131.5m $127.6m 

Return on Average Capital Employed 27.5% 25.2%

Increase in share price Strike  Actual

Spot 440p 182p

Average 367p 368p

Bonuses paid based on the 2008 results are shown 
on page 53 and are equivalent to the following 
percentages of basic salary: Chief Executive 
£141,800 ($214,000) (42%); Finance Director & 
Company Secretary £67,200 ($102,000) (29%); 
Technical Director £38,500) ($58,000) (22%); and 
Commercial Director £42,000 ($63,000) (24%). 
Other senior management received bonus 
payments of between 12% and 21% of Basic Salary.

The Bonus Scheme has been in existence for seven 
years. In March 2008, the Committee reviewed the 
overall performance of the Bonus Scheme and 
approved revised performance conditions to 
achieve the 2008 financial, strategic and share 
price objectives.

 Weighting Weighting % of salary % Extent of performance Weighting % of salary on
  subject to bonus condition achieved which bonus achieved

Chief Executive    
Financial objectives 35  20.00   
Increase in share price 30  0.30   
Strategic objectives 35  21.40   
Total 100  41.70  100  41.7 

Finance Director    
Financial objectives 40  22.80   
Increase in share price 30  0.30   
Strategic objectives 30  18.60   
Total 100  41.70  70  29.2 

Technical Director    
Financial objectives 30  17.10   
Increase in share price 30  0.30   
Strategic objectives 40  19.20   
Total 100  36.60  60  22.0 

Commercial Director    
Financial objectives 35  20.00   
Increase in share price 30  0.30   
Strategic objectives 35  19.60   
Total 100  39.90  60  23.9

Remuneration continued
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Financial Times Stock Exchange Fledgling Index 
(FTSE FI), was the most appropriate structure. As a 
result of an increase in share price in the second 
quarter of 2004 the Company moved up into the 
FTSE Smallcap Index (FTSE SI) and the benchmark 
was re-based. Further increases in share price 
meant that in March 2006 the Company moved up 
into the FTSE 250 Index (FTSE 250I). 

Also in March 2006, the Committee reviewed the 
operation and effectiveness of the Share Option 
Schemes taking into account the Company’s 
growth, progression out of the FTSE FI and the 
relevance of the performance conditions after four 
years of operational experience. The Committee 
concluded that a comparison of Total Shareholder 
Return (TSR) against the FTSE Index in which the 
Company is a constituent at the time of the grant 
remained an appropriate external benchmark but 
that, in view of the substantial changes in oil and 
gas prices over the previous four years, the share 
option scheme should also have an oil & gas 
industry benchmark. The Committee concluded 
that the FTSE Oil & Gas Producers Index was the 
most appropriate external oil & gas benchmark. 

The Rules of the Share Option Schemes address, 
inter alia, eligibility, timing of grants and exercise of 
options and require that the shareholders are to be 
consulted if any substantive amendments to the 
Rules are required. The Committee continues to 
feel that ongoing annual refinements of the scheme 
are not a substantive change that required 
shareholder consultation. 

The Committee has discretion as to the application 
of the Rules of the Share Option Schemes, 
particularly in the level of awards and the setting of 
the level of Performance Conditions.

The Committee has prepared internal guidelines to 
enable it to administer the Share Option Schemes. 
In awarding share options the Committee takes into 
account the ABI Guidelines in terms of individual 
and collective limits and other factors such as the 
performance of the Company and the individual in 
the previous 12 months, the effect of the vesting of 
grants awarded in previous years (e.g. dilution), cost 
to the Company, the overall remuneration level 
(annual salary, bonus award and benefits) of the 
individual relative to the market and individual’s 
performance in the previous year. Reference is also 
made to the value of medium and long-term 
incentive arrangements in comparator groups 
shown in the aforementioned report from Mercer.

Grants are made by reference to the market value 
(mid market price) of the Company’s shares under 
option at the time of grant. Executive Directors are 
not required to pay for the grant of share options. 

Annual awards to the Executive Directors are 
currently limited to a maximum of 100% salary in 

the case of the Chief Executive Officer and the 
Finance Director and 80% for the Technical and 
Commercial Directors calculated by reference to 
the face value of the shares under option at the 
time of grant. 

After three years the number of options that can be 
exercised is determined by two factors: (1) the 
actual increase in the Company’s Share Price; and 
(2) a comparison of the actual increase in the Share 
Price to the change in the FTSE FI until the end of 
June 2004 and the FTSE SI until 2006. For awards 
made from 2006 onwards the comparison is made 
against the higher of the change in the FTSE 250I 
and the FTSE Oil & Gas Producers Index.

  Share price factor

Share price at exercise price or below 0

Share price between exercise price 
and 150% of exercise price Up to 0.5

Share price in excess of 150% 
and up to 200% of exercise price 0.66

Share price in excess of 200%
of exercise price 1

  
 FTSE FI/SI/250I/Oil & Gas Producers Index Factor

Where the percentage increase in the Share price is:

–  in the lowest quartile of the percentage 
growth in the FTSE Index 0.25

–  in the second quartile of the percentage 
growth in the FTSE Index 0.5

–  in the third quartile of the percentage 
growth in the FTSE Index 0.75

–  in the top quartile of the percentage 
growth in the FTSE Index 1

Directors’ reports

The Share Price and FTSE Index factors are 
multiplied together and the resultant figure is 
applied to the number of options granted to an 
individual to determine the number of options to be 
vested.

The structure has been designed to introduce a 
sliding scale as distinct from a specific individual 
benchmark. It requires the Share Price to double 
and this increase to be in the top quartile of the 
growth in the FTSE FI/SI for all of the awards 
granted to become vested. For awards granted in 
2006 onwards the Share Price must have doubled 
and for this increase to be in the top quartile of the 
growth in the higher of the FTSE FI/SI/250 and 
FTSE Oil Producers Index for all of the awards to 
become vested. 
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To encourage the retention of key staff, the 
Committee has determined that an option holder 
will only be able to exercise up to 50% of vested 
options at any one time and up to 50% after a 
period of 12 months, unless determined otherwise 
by the Committee.

The graph above shows the Company’s 
performance, measured by Total Shareholder 
Return, compared with the performance of the FTSE 
FI, the FTSE SI the FTSE 250I and the FTSE Oil 
Producers Index measured by Total Shareholder 
Return. 

The Committee also confirmed that prudent and 
appropriate arrangements are in place for any 
acquisition and financing of shares to meet 
contingent liabilities and to provide shares or meet 
obligations.

The Company does not operate any long-term 
incentive schemes other than the share option 
schemes described above. 

Pension arrangements
The Company makes a contribution equivalent to 
15% of basic salary to the pension scheme of the 
Director’s choice.

Directors’ contracts
It is the Company’s policy that Executive Directors 
should have contracts with an indefinite term but 
with two-way notice periods. Dr P Davies and 
Mr B J Burrows have employment contracts dated 
1st January 2007 and Mr M Miller and Mr P Dixon 
have employment contracts dated 1st July 2007.  All 
the contracts are subject to one year’s notice by 
either party. 

In the event of early termination, the Directors’ 
contracts provide for compensation up to a 
maximum of basic salary for the notice period.

Non-Executive Directors
All Non-Executive Directors have specific terms of 
engagement and their remuneration is determined 
by the Board within the limits set by the Articles of 
Association and based on independent surveys of 
fees paid to Non-Executive Directors of similar 
companies. The setting of the Chairman’s 
remuneration is the responsibility of the Board and 
not the Committee, as recommended by Section 
B.2.2 of the Combined Code. The Board believes 
this is appropriate given the Board size. 

Lord Fraser and Viscount Asquith have Non-
Executive Director service contracts dated 
1st January 2002. Mr N Moore’s Non-Executive 
Director service contract is dated 12th July 2007. 
Mr D Shah and Mr MM Delcommune have Non-
Executive Director service contracts dated 1st June 
2008. These service contracts are for an indefinite 
term, not a finite term as recommended by Section 
A.7.2 of the Combined Code, subject to re-election 
on an as-required basis. However, all of the 
contracts are subject to three months’ notice by 
either party and as such, the Board continues to 
believe this is appropriate given the company size, 
the non-executive skill set, and the continuing 
evaluation of performance and independence. In 
the event of early termination, the Non-Executive 
Directors’ contracts provide for compensation of 
three months base fee.

The Non-Executive Directors’ contracts specify the 
powers and duties of the Non-Executive Directors 
and the time commitments anticipated and 
remuneration arrangements. The Non-Executive 
Directors are paid a base fee for carrying out their 
duties and responsibilities as Directors, and fees 
for membership and, where applicable, 
chairmanship of each of the remuneration and 
audit committees. The base fee is based on a per 
annum rate (in sterling) that is compared to 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800 JKX Oil and Gas

FTSE Actuaries Fledgling – Price Index

FTSE Small Cap – Price Index

FTSE All Share Oil & Gas – Price Index

FTSE 250 – Price Index

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

Remuneration continued

Total Shareholder Return, relative performance



53Directors’ reports

Audited information    

Aggregate directors’ remuneration     
The total amounts for directors’ remuneration were as follows:

The remuneration of the Directors of JKX Oil & Gas plc:

published material concerning non-executive fees 
in similar size companies.

The total fees paid to each Non-Executive Director 
in 2008 are shown below. The fees include 
compensation for performing the additional roles in 
respect of the Audit and Remuneration 
Committees. 

Non-Executive Directors cannot participate in any 
of the Company’s share option schemes and are not 
eligible to join the Company’s pension scheme.

 2008 2007 2008 2007
 £000 £000 $000 $000

Emoluments 1,484   1,604  2,685  3,233

Gains on exercise of share options  1,724   3,969  3,342   8,004 

Pension contributions 138   136  259  271

  3,346   5,709   6,286  11,508

 Salary  Annual Total Total Total Total Pension Pension
 and fees Benefits bonus 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 £000 £000 $000  $000

Executive Directors

Dr P Davies 640   7   214   861   1,140  486 563 96  93

B J Burrows  433   4   102   539   670  299 332 65  63

M Miller (appointed 26th June 2007)  329   2   58   389   277  215 136 49  23

P Dixon (appointed 26th June 2007)  329   4   63   396   283  219 139  49  23

R N Dall (resigned 26th June 2007)  –     –     –     –     530   –    267  –    69

Non-Executive Directors    
Lord Fraser  193   –     –     193   97  101 49  –    –

Viscount Asquith  123   –     –     123   90  65 45  –    –

D Shah (appointed 1st June 2008)  48   –     –     48   –    26 0  –     –   

M Delcomme (appointed 1st June 2008)  42   –     –     42   –    23 0  –     –   

N Moore (appointed 26th June 2007)  94   –     –     94   47  50 23  –    –   

J R Mapplebeck   –     –     –     –   99  – 50  –    –
(resigned 26th June 2007)

  2,231  17  437  2,685  3,233  1,484 1,604 259 271

In 2008 the fees paid to the Non-Executives were reassessed and increases were agreed. These were effective 1st January 2007 but paid in 

2008. The fees of the Chairman, Lord Fraser, were increased from £48,750 to £70,000 for 2007 and the fees of the senior non-executive, 

Viscount Asquith, were increased from £45,000 to £50,000.        

Annual bonus payments are in respect of the 2008 Annual Bonus Awards paid in January 2009.    

Benefits includes health cover.         

* These totals are shown in Sterling for information purposes only. Sterling is the currency in which remuneration payments are made to the 

Directors. The average exchange rate used was £1/$1.7935 (2007: £1/$2.0177).      
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  Number of Options Options Number of    
  options at granted exercised options at  Date from Market price   
  1st January during during  31st December Exercise   which  of shares at Date of
 Date of grant 2008 period period 2008 price exercisable exercise date exercise Expiry date

B J Burrows          
(a) 25.09.03  45,000   –   45,000   –  £0.3725 25.09.06 £5.0400 07.05.08 25.09.13
(b) 18.03.04  237,500   –   –   237,500  £0.6800 18.03.07 n/a n/a 18.03.14
(c) 17.03.05  106,500   –   –   106,500  £1.5150 17.03.08 n/a n/a 17.03.15
(d) 20.03.06  53,000   –   –   53,000  £3.2900 20.03.09 n/a n/a 20.03.16
(e) 20.03.07  71,000   –   –   71,000  £2.9800 20.03.10 n/a n/a 20.03.17
(f) 19.03.08  –   57,500   –   57,500  £4.5400 19.03.11 n/a n/a 19.03.18

   513,000   57,500   45,000   525,500      

Dr P Davies          
(b) 18.03.04  212,500   –   212,500   –  £0.6800 18.03.07 £4.9150 11.04.08 18.03.14
(c) 17.03.05  180,000   –   90,000   90,000  £1.5150 17.03.08 £4.9150 11.04.08 17.03.15
(d) 20.03.06  86,500   –   –   86,500  £3.2900 20.03.09 n/a n/a 20.03.16
(e) 20.03.07  105,000   –   –   105,000  £2.9800 20.03.10 n/a n/a 20.03.17
(f) 19.03.08  –   85,000   –   85,000  £4.5400 19.03.11 n/a n/a 19.03.18

   584,000   85,000   302,500   366,500      

P Dixon          
(b) 18.03.04  40,000   –   40,000   –  £0.6800 18.03.07 £5.0900 15.05.08 18.03.14
(c) 17.03.05  33,500   –   16,750   16,750  £1.5150 17.03.08 £5.0900 15.05.08 17.03.15
(d) 20.03.06  16,000   –   –   16,000  £3.2900 20.03.09 n/a n/a 20.03.16
(e) 20.03.07  24,500   –   –   24,500  £2.9800 20.03.10 n/a n/a 20.03.17
(f) 19.03.08  –   35,000   –   35,000  £4.5400 19.03.11 n/a n/a 19.03.18

   114,000   35,000   56,750   92,250      

M Miller          
(a) 25.09.03  62,500   –   62,500   –  £0.3725 25.09.06 £1.5175 31.10.08 25.09.13
(b) 18.03.04  82,500   –   –   82,500  £0.6800 18.03.07 n/a n/a 18.03.14
(c) 17.03.05  33,500   –   –   33,500  £1.5150 17.03.08 n/a n/a 17.03.15
(d) 20.03.06  16,000   –   –   16,000  £3.2900 20.03.09 n/a n/a 20.03.16
(e) 20.03.07  24,500   –   –   24,500  £2.9800 20.03.10 n/a n/a 20.03.17
(f) 19.03.08  –   35,000   –   35,000  £4.5400 19.03.11 n/a n/a 19.03.18

   219,000   35,000   62,500   191,500      

Share option awards, vesting and valuation of options

(a) 2001 Share Option Scheme in respect of 2003 (b) 2001 Share Option Scheme in respect of 2004 (c) 2001 Share Option Scheme in respect of 

2005 (d) 2001 Share Option Scheme in respect of 2006 (e) 2001 Share Option Scheme in respect of 2007 (f) 2001 Share Option Scheme in 

respect of 2008.

There have been no significant variations to the 
terms and conditions or performance criteria for 
share options during the financial year. The 
performance criteria for the 2001 Share Option 
Scheme is stated above.

The market price of a JKX share at 31st December 
2008 was 185.25p, and the range during the year 
was 118.50p to 543.00p.

This report was approved by the Board of 
Directors on 6th April 2009 and signed on its behalf 
by Dipesh Shah.

Dipesh Shah OBE FRSA
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
6th April 2009

Remuneration continued
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The directors are responsible for preparing the 
Annual Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report 
and the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare the 
financial statements for each financial year. Under 
that law the directors have prepared the Group 
financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted 
by the European Union. The financial statements are 
required by law to give a true and fair view of the state 
of affairs of the Group and of the profit or loss of the 
Group for that period.

In preparing these financial statements the directors 
are required to:

•  Select suitable accounting policies and then apply 
them consistently

•  Make judgements and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent

•  State that the financial statements comply with 
IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; and

•  Prepare the consolidated financial statements on 
the going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate 
to presume that the Group will continue in 
business, in which case there should be supporting 
assumptions or qualifications as necessary. 

The directors confirm that they have complied with 
the above requirements in preparing the financial 
statements. In addition, as far as each director is 
aware, there is no relevant audit information of which 
the auditors are unaware and each of the directors 
have taken all the steps that he ought to have taken 
in order to make himself aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the auditors were 
aware of such information.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for keeping proper 
accounting records that disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
Group and to enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements and the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report comply with the Companies Act 1985 and, 
as regards the Group financial statements, article 4 
of the IAS Regulation. They are also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the Group including taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of 
fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance 
and integrity of the website. Legislation in the UK 
concerning the preparation and dissemination of 
financial statements may differ from legislation in 
other jurisdictions. 

By order of the board

B J Burrows
Company Secretary
6th April 2009
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We have audited the Group financial statements of 
JKX Oil & Gas plc for the year ended 31st December 
2008 which comprise the Group Income Statement, the 
Group Balance Sheet, the Group Cash Flow Statement, 
the Group Statement of Recognised Income and Expense, 
the accounting policies and the related notes. These 
Group financial statements have been prepared under the 
accounting policies set out therein.

We have reported separately on the Parent Company 
financial statements of JKX Oil & Gas plc for the year 
ended 31st December 2008 and on the information in 
the Directors’ Remuneration Report that is described as 
having been audited.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual 
Report and the Group financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union are 
set out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the Group financial 
statements in accordance with relevant legal and 
regulatory requirements and International Standards 
on Auditing (UK and Ireland). This report, including the 
opinion, has been prepared for and only for the 
company’s members as a body in accordance with 
Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other 
purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or 
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any 
other person to whom this report is shown or into whose 
hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our 
prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the Group 
financial statements give a true and fair view and whether 
the Group financial statements have been properly 
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 
and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. We also report to 
you whether in our opinion the information given in the 
Directors’ Report is consistent with the Group financial 
statements. The information given in the Directors’ Report 
includes that specific information presented in the Chief 
Executive’s Statement and the Operating and Financial 
Review that is cross referred from the Business Review 
section of the Directors’ Report. 

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, we have not 
received all the information and explanations we require 
for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding 
directors’ remuneration and other transactions is not 
disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement 
reflects the company’s compliance with the nine 
provisions of the Combined Code (2006) specified for 
our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services 
Authority, and we report if it does not. We are not required 
to consider whether the board’s statements on internal 
control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance 
procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual 
Report and consider whether it is consistent with 

Independent Auditors’ Report to the members of JKX Oil & Gas plc

the audited Group financial statements. The other 
information comprises only the Directors’ Report, 
the unaudited parts of the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report, the Chairman’s Statement, the Chief Executive’s 
Statement, the Operating and Financial Review, the 
Corporate Governance Statement, the Corporate 
Responsibility Review and all of the other information 
listed on the contents page. We consider the implications 
for our report if we become aware of any apparent 
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the 
Group financial statements. Our responsibilities do not 
extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the 
Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, 
on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements. It also 
includes an assessment of the significant estimates 
and judgments made by the directors in the preparation 
of the Group financial statements, and of whether the 
accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s 
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately 
disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all 
the information and explanations which we considered 
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence 
to give reasonable assurance that the Group financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, 
whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. 
In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall 
adequacy of the presentation of information in the Group 
financial statements.

Opinion

In our opinion:

• the Group financial statements give a true and fair 
view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the 
European Union, of the state of the Group’s affairs as 
at 31st December 2008 and of its profit and cash flows 
for the year then ended

• the Group financial statements have been properly 
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 
and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation; and

• the information given in the Directors’ Report is 
consistent with the Group financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London
6th April 2009

The maintenance and integrity of the JKX Oil & Gas plc website is the 
responsibility of the directors; the work carried out by the auditors 
does not involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly, 
the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have 
occurred to the financial statements since they were initially presented 
on the website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.



   2008 2007
  Note $000 $000

Revenue  4 207,047  184,509 

Cost of sales  16

Operating costs – excluding impairment/write off of exploration costs    (55,077)  (40,839)
Provision for impairment/write off of exploration costs  5b (6,883)  (17,694)

Total cost of sales   (61,960) (58,533)

Gross profit   145,087  125,976  
General and administrative expenses   (12,700)  (12,181)
Loss on foreign exchange   (6,994)  (205)
Impairment of investment  6 –  (5,000)

Operating profit  4 & 17 125,393  108,590 

Finance income  14 3,172  4,761 
Finance cost  15 (1,004)  (50)

Profit before tax  4 127,561  113,301 
Taxation – current  21 (39,374)  (38,603)
Taxation – deferred  22 (10,033)  (289)

Total taxation   (49,407) (38,892)

Profit for the year    78,154  74,409 

Earnings per share
– basic earnings per 10p ordinary share (in cents)  23 49.85    47.97
– diluted earnings per 10p ordinary share (in cents)  23 49.44    46.79

Dividends  24 (13,610)  (10,032)
Dividend (per share)    4.6 pence  3.2 pence 
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Group income statement

for the year ended 31st December

   2008 2007
   $000 $000

Equity – foreign currency translation    (16,985)  517 

Net income/(expense) recognised directly in equity   (16,985)  517 

Profit for the year   78,154  74,409 

Total recognised income and expense for the year   61,169  74,926 

The notes on pages 61 to 88 are an integral part to these financial statements.  

Statement of recognised income and expense

for the year ended 31st December

Group accounts



   2008 2007
  Note $000 $000

Assets    
Non-current assets    
Property, plant and equipment  5a  278,902   232,241
Other intangible assets  5c  22,359   18,423
Goodwill  5d  2,165   2,716

  5  303,426   253,380

Current assets     
Inventories – finished goods    1,758   1,391
Trade and other receivables  9  15,002   10,380
Cash and cash equivalents   10  64,805   68,126 

    81,565   79,897  
Assets of disposal group classified as held for sale   8  7,347   3,051 

       88,912   82,948

Total assets     392,338   336,328 

Liabilities     

Current liabilities     

Current tax liabilities    (10)   (1,912) 
Trade and other payables  12  (26,670)   (22,911)

    (26,680)   (24,823)
Liabilities directly associated with the assets classified as held for sale   8  (8)   (127)

    (26,688)   (24,950)

Non-current liabilities    

Provisions  13  (2,396)   (3,575)
Deferred tax  22  (29,097)   (21,579)

     (31,493)   (25,154)

Total liabilities    (58,181)   (50,104)

Net assets    334,157   286,224 

Equity        
Share capital  11  24,256   24,148  
Share premium  11  41,015   40,217  
Merger reserve  11  30,680   30,680  
Amounts recognised directly in equity related to assets held for sale  11  –   803 
Other reserves:
– Capital redemption reserve  11  587   587  
– Equity – share options  11  2,719   2,448  
– Equity – foreign currency translation  11  (21,635)   (4,650)
Retained earnings  11  256,535   191,991 

Total shareholders’ equity    334,157   286,224 

The notes on pages 61 to 88 are an integral part to these financial statements.

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 6th April 2009 and signed on its behalf by:  
   

Lord Fraser  B J Burrows 
Director Director 

  

Group accounts
Ukraine

Group balance sheet

as at 31st December
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   2008 2007
  Note $000 $000

Cash flows from operating activities        
Cash generated from operations   25 161,762    153,480 
Interest received    3,045    5,161 
Interest paid    (2)    (6)
Income tax paid    (38,300)   (38,707)

Net cash from operating activities    126,505   119,928 

Cash flows from investing activities  
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired   27 (5,119)  (44,428)
Disposal of subsidiary     2,911   – 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment    –    38
Short term loan advanced    (130)   (70)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets    (102,594)   (80,744)

Net cash used in investing activities     (104,932)   (125,204)

Cash flows from financing activities     

Proceeds from issue of shares    906   2,330 
(Repayment)/proceeds from borrowing    (6)    33 
Dividends paid to shareholders    (13,610)   (10,032)

Net cash used in financing activities    (12,710)   (7,669)

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents in the year    8,863    (12,945)
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents    (12,184)    45 
Cash and cash equivalents at 1st January    68,126   81,116

    64,805    68,216
Included in cash classified as held for sale    –    (90)

Included in cash and cash equivalents as per the balance sheet    64,805    68,126

 
The notes on pages 61 to 88 are an integral part to these financial statements.  

At the year end December 2008, $5.8m of the cash held in Ukraine at Prominvest Bank was on term deposit and 
categorised as restricted. Subsequent to year end the deposit has matured and the funds are no longer restricted.

Group cash flow statement

for the year ended 31st December
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1.  Authorisation of financial statements, 
statement of compliance with IFRS and basis of 
preparation
JKX Oil & Gas plc (the ultimate parent of the group 
hereafter, “the Company”) is a public limited company 
listed on the London Stock Exchange and incorporated 
in England. The registered office is 6 Cavendish 
Square, London, W1G 0PD and the principal place of 
business is disclosed in the introduction to the annual 
report. The principal activities of the Company and 
its subsidiaries (the Group) are the exploration for, 
appraisal and development of oil and gas reserves. 
The registered number of the company is 03050645.

The Group’s financial statements for the year ended 
31st December 2008 were authorised for issue by the 
board of directors on 6th April 2009 and the balance 
sheets were signed on the board’s behalf by Lord 
Fraser and Mr B J Burrows.

The Group’s financial statements have been prepared 
under the historical cost convention, modified for 
fair value and in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted 
by the European Union, IFRIC interpretations and 
the Companies Act 1985 applicable for Companies 
reporting under IFRS. The principal accounting 
policies adopted by the Group are set out below.

These financial statements have been prepared on a 
going concern basis following a review by the Directors 
of forecast cash flows for the next 
12 months, including consideration of the ability of 
the Group to change the timing and scale of capital 
expenditure, if required.

2.  Adoption of new and revised International 
Financial Reporting Standards
The financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with Note 1, on the basis of the structure 
of the Group at 31st December 2008.

(a) Standards and interpretations to existing standards 
that are not yet effective and have not been early 
adopted by the Group. 

The following standards, amendments and 
interpretations to existing standards have been 
published and are mandatory for the Group’s financial 
statements from 2009 or later periods, but the Group 
has not early adopted them: those which are expected 
to be most relevant to the Group are IFRS 8 and IAS 23 
(amendment).

– IFRS 8, ‘Operating Segments’ – mandatory for 
2009. The segmental information reported under 
the standard is that which the chief operating 
decision maker uses internally for evaluating the 
performance of operating segments and allocating 
resources to those segments.

– IAS 23 ‘(Amendment), ‘Borrowing Costs’ (effective 
from 1st January 2009). It requires an entity to 
capitalise borrowing costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of a 
qualifying asset (one that takes a substantial period 
of time to get ready for use or sale) as part of the 
cost of the asset. The option of immediately 
expensing those borrowing costs will be removed. 
IAS 23 (Amended) is currently not applicable to the 
Group or Company as there are no qualifying assets.

– IFRS 1, ‘First time adoption of IFRS’, and IAS 27, 
‘Consolidated and separate financial statements’ – 
effective 1st January 2009.

– IFRS 2, ‘(Amendment) Share based payment – 
Vesting conditions and cancellations’ – effective 
1st January 2009.

– IFRS 3, ‘(Amendment) Business Combinations’ – 
effective 1st July 2009.

– IFRS 5, ‘(Amendment) Non-current assets held-for-
sale and discontinued operations’ – effective 
1st July 2009.

– IFRS 7, ‘Financial instruments: Disclosures’, 
IAS 8, ‘Accounting policies, changes in accounting 
estimates and errors’, IAS 10, ‘Events after the 
reporting period’, IAS 18, ‘Revenue’, and IAS 34, 
‘Interim financial reporting’, which are part of the 
IASB’s annual improvements project published in 
May 2008. 

– IAS 1 (Amendment), ‘Presentation of Financial 
Statements’ – effective 1st January 2009.

– IAS 19 (Amendment), ‘Employee benefits’ – effective 
1st January 2009.

– IAS 27 (Revised), ‘Consolidation and separate 
financial statements’ – effective 1st July 2009.

– IAS 28 (Amendment), ‘Investments in associates’ – 
effective 1st January 2009.

– IAS 32 (Amendment), ‘Financial instruments: 
Presentation’, and IAS (amendment), ‘Presentation 
of financial statements’ – Puttable financial 
instruments and obligations arising on liquidation’ – 
effective from 1st January 2009.

– IAS 36 (amendment), ‘Impairment of assets’ – 
effective 1st January 2009.

– IAS 38 (Amendment), ‘Intangible assets’ – effective 
1st January 2009.

– IAS 39 (Amendment), ‘Financial instruments: 
Recognition and measurement’ – effective 
1st January 2009.

– IFRIC 14, ‘IAS 19 – The limit on a defined benefit 
asset, minimum funding requirements and their 
interaction’.

Notes to the accounts
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2.  Adoption of new and revised International 
Financial Reporting Standards continued

– IFRIC 17, ‘Non cash distributed to owners’ – effective 
1st July 2009.

– IFRIC 18, ‘Transfer of assets from customers’ – 
effective 1st July 2009.

(b) Standards, amendments and interpretations to 
existing standards effective in 2008 but not relevant.

The following standards, amendments and 
interpretations to published standards are mandatory 
for the Group’s financial statements for accounting 
periods beginning on or after 1st January 2008 but 
they are not relevant to the Group:

– IFRIC 11, ‘IFRS 2 – Group and treasury share 
transactions’

– IFRIC 12, ‘Service concession arrangements’

– IFRIC 13, ‘Customer loyalty programmes’ and

– IFRIC 16, ‘Hedges of a net investment in a foreign 
operation’ – effective 1st October 2008.

3.  Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate 
the financial statements of the Company and entities 
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) made up 
to 31st December each year. Control is achieved where 
the Company has the power to govern the financial 
and operating policies of an enterprise so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of their 
acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains 
control.

Foreign currencies
The presentation currency of the Group is the 
US Dollar based on the fact that the Group’s primary 
transactions originate in, or are dictated by, the 
US Dollar, these being amongst others oil sales and 
procurement of rigs and drilling services. 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into 
functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation 
where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange 
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of 
such transactions and from translation at year-end 
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in 
the income statement.

On consolidation of subsidiaries with a non USD 
functional currency, balance sheets are translated 
into USD at the closing rate and income and expenses 
at the average monthly rate. All resulting exchange 
differences arising on the balance sheet are classified 
as equity and transferred to the Group’s translation 
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reserve. Such translation differences are only 
recognised as income or as expenses in the period in 
which any such operation is disposed of.  

The Parent Company and subsidiaries within the 
Group hold monetary intercompany balances for which 
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in 
the foreseeable future and thus this is considered 
to be part of the Group’s net investment in the 
relevant subsidiary. An exchange difference arises on 
translation in the Company income statement which 
on consolidation is recognised in equity, only being 
recognised in the income statement on the disposal of 
the net investment.

The major exchange rates used for the revaluation of 
the closing balance sheet at 31st December 2008 were: 
£1/$1.4376 (2007: £1/$1.9908)  
$1/UAH 7.75108 (2007: $1/UAH 5.05)  
$1/RUB 29.3804 (2007: $1/RUB 24.5385).

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on 
acquisition are treated as assets/liabilities of the 
foreign entity and translated at closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment comprises the Group’s 
tangible oil and gas assets together with computer 
equipment, motor vehicles and fixtures and fittings 
and are carried at cost, less any accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
Cost includes purchase price and construction costs 
for qualifying assets and borrowing costs capitalised 
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. 
Depreciation of these assets commences when the 
assets are ready for their intended use.

Oil and gas assets
Exploration and development expenditure is accounted 
for under the ‘successful efforts’ method. The 
successful efforts method means that only costs which 
relate directly to the discovery and development of 
specific oil and gas reserves are capitalised.

Exploration and evaluation costs are capitalised within 
intangible assets. Capital expenditure on producing 
assets is accounted for in accordance with IAS 16, 
‘Property, plant and equipment’. Costs incurred prior 
to obtaining legal rights to explore are expensed 
immediately to the income statement.

All lease and licence acquisition costs, geological and 
geophysical costs and other direct costs of exploration, 
evaluation and development are capitalised as 
intangible or property, plant and equipment according 
to their nature. Intangible assets comprise costs 
relating to the exploration and evaluation of properties 
which the directors consider to be unevaluated until 
reserves are appraised as commercial, at which time 
they are transferred to 
property, plant and equipment following an impairment 
review and depreciated accordingly. Where properties 
are appraised to have no commercial value, the 
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3.  Significant accounting policies continued

associated costs are treated as an impairment loss in 
the period in which the determination is made.

Costs are amortised on a field by field unit of 
production method based on commercial proved 
and probable reserves, with the exception of 
compressors, which are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis (10 years) over their anticipated 
useful life.

The calculation of the ‘unit of production’ 
amortisation takes account of estimated future 
development costs and is based on current period 
end unescalated price levels. Changes in reserves 
and cost estimates are recognised prospectively.

Other assets
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost, 
less estimated residual value, over their estimated 
useful lives, using the straight-line method, for the 
following classes of assets:

Motor vehicles  –  4 years
Computer equipment  –  3 years
Other equipment  –  5 to 10 years

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and 
equipment and their residual values are reviewed on 
an annual basis and, if necessary, changes in useful 
lives are accounted for prospectively.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement 
of an asset is determined as the difference between 
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset and is recognised in the income statement for 
the relevant period.

Business combinations and Goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the 
purchase method.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the 
excess of the cost of the business combination over 
the Group’s share in the net fair value of the 
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost 
less any accumulated impairment losses. For the 
purposes of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in 
a business combination is, from the acquisition date, 
allocated to each of the Group’s Cash Generating 
Units that are expected to benefit from the synergies 
of combination.

Impairment of intangible assets and property, 
plant and equipment
At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews 
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets 
have suffered an impairment loss. Individual assets 
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are grouped together as a Cash Generating Unit 
for impairment assessment purposes at the lowest 
level at which their identifiable cash flows, that are 
largely independent of the cash flows of the other 
groups assets, can be determined. In the case of 
exploration and evaluation assets this will normally 
be at a field level.

If any such indication of impairment exists the Group 
makes an estimate of its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use. Where the carrying 
amount of an individual asset or a Cash Generating 
Unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset/
Cash Generating Unit is considered impaired and is 
written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing 
the value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are adjusted for the risks specific to the asset/Cash 
Generating Unit and are discounted to their present 
value that reflects the current market indicators.

Excluding goodwill, where an impairment loss 
subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of 
the asset/Cash Generating Unit is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but 
so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset (Cash Generating Unit) in prior years. 
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as 
income immediately.

Financial instruments
The Group may use derivative financial instruments 
(primarily foreign currency forward contracts) to 
hedge its risks associated with foreign currency 
fluctuations relating to certain firm commitments 
and forecasted transactions. Any such derivatives are 
initially recorded at fair value on the date on which 
the contract is entered into and subsequently re-
measured at fair value at subsequent reporting dates.

A financial liability is derecognised when the 
obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled 
or expires.

No financial instruments were designated as hedges 
during the period (2007: nil) and no other hedging 
activity took place during the period (2007: nil).

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials 
and, where applicable, direct labour costs plus 
attributable overheads based on a normal level of 
activity and other costs associated in bringing the 
inventories to their present location and condition. 
Cost is calculated using the weighted average 
method. Net realisable value represents the 
estimated selling price less all estimated costs of 
completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, 
selling and distribution.
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3.  Significant accounting policies continued

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables, which generally have 30 day terms, 
are recognised and carried at the lower of their 
original invoiced value and recoverable amount. 

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand 
and current balances with banks and similar 
institutions, which are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash. Cash equivalents are short-term 
with an original maturity of less than 3 months, highly 
liquid investments that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value.

Treasury shares
JKX Oil & Gas plc treasury shares held by the 
Company are classified in shareholders’ equity. 
The consideration paid, including any directly 
attributable incremental costs is deducted from equity 
attributable to the Company’s equity holders until the 
shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such shares 
are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration 
received, net of transaction costs, is included in equity 
attributable to the Company’s equity holders. No gain 
or loss is recognised in the financial statements on 
the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of treasury 
shares.

Trade payables
Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using 
the effective interest rate method if the time value of 
money is significant.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the current 
tax payable and deferred tax.

The current tax payable is based on taxable profit 
for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit 
as reported in the income statement because it 
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable 
or deductible in other years and it further excludes 
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s 
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or 
recoverable on differences between the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities in the financial 
statements and the corresponding tax base used in the 
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities 
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be 
available against which deductible temporary 
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities 
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are not recognised if the temporary difference arises 
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other 
than in a business combination) of other assets and 
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the tax 
profit nor the accounting profit. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable 
temporary differences arising on investments in 
subsidiaries, and interests in joint ventures, except 
where the Group is able to control the reversal of 
the temporary difference and it is probable that 
the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed 
at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable 
profit will be available to allow all or part of the asset 
to be recovered. Any such reduction shall be reversed 
to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient 
taxable profit will be available.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are 
expected to apply in the period when the liability is 
settled or the asset realised based on tax rates and 
laws substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 
Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income 
statement, except when it relates to items charged or 
credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred 
tax is also dealt with in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when 
there exists a legal and enforceable right to offset and 
they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax 
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Share-based payment

Share options
The Group issues equity-settled share-based 
payments to the directors and senior management. 
Equity-settled share-based payments are measured 
at fair value at the date of grant. The fair value of the 
employee services received in exchange for the grant 
of options is expensed on a straight-line basis over 
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of 
options that will eventually vest. At each subsequent 
balance sheet date the Group calculates the estimated 
cumulative charge for each award having regard to 
any change in the number of options that are expected 
to vest and the expired portion of the vesting period. 
The change in this cumulative charge since the last 
balance sheet is expensed. Once an option vests, no 
further adjustment is made to the aggregate amount 
expensed. The fair value which is calculated using the 
binomial model takes into account two performance 
criteria, being the actual increase in the Company’s 
share price and a comparison of the actual increase 
in the share price to the change in FTSE FI until end of 
June 2004, the FTSE SI until end of February 2006 and 
the higher of the FTSE 250 Index or the FTSE Oil & 
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3.  Significant accounting policies continued

Gas Producers Index subsequent to that. The 
expected life of the options depends on the behaviour 
of the option holders, which is incorporated into 
the option model consistent with historic data. The 
fair values calculated are inherently subjective and 
uncertain due to the assumptions made and the 
limitations of the model used.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable 
transaction costs are credited to share capital 
(nominal value of 10p per share) and share premium 
when the options are exercised.

The rules regarding the scheme are described in the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 50 to 52 
and in note 20 on share based payments.

Bonus Scheme
The Group operates a bonus scheme for its Directors 
and employees. The scheme has three performance 
conditions: 1. financial objectives 2. increase in share 
price and 3. key strategic objectives. The bonus 
payments are made annually, normally in January of 
each year and the costs are accrued in the period to 
which they relate.

Pension costs
The Group contributes to the individual pension 
scheme of the qualifying employees’ choice. 
Contributions are charged to the income statement 
as they become payable. The Group has no further 
payment obligations once the contributions have 
been paid.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a 
present obligation as a result of a past event, and it 
is probable that the Group will be required to settle 
that obligation. Provisions are measured at the 
directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required 
to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date, and 
are discounted to present value where the effect is 
material.

Decommissioning
Provision is made for the cost of decommissioning 
assets at the time when the obligation to 
decommission arises. Such provision represents the 
estimated discounted liability (the discount rate used 
currently being at 10%, (2007: 10%) for costs which 
are expected to be incurred in removing production 
facilities and site restoration at the end of the 
producing life of each field. A corresponding item of 
property, plant and equipment is also created at an 
amount equal to the provision. This is subsequently 
depreciated as part of the capital costs of the 
production facilities. Any change in the present value 
of the estimated expenditure attributable to changes 
in the estimates of the cash flow or the current 
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estimate of the discount rate used are reflected as an 
adjustment to the provision and the property, plant 
and equipment. The unwinding of the discount is 
recognised as a finance cost.

Revenue recognition
Sales of oil and gas products are recognised when 
the significant risks and rewards of ownership have 
passed to the buyer and it can be reliably measured. 
Other services are recognised when the services 
have been performed. Revenue is measured at the 
fair value of the consideration received, excluding 
discounts, rebates, VAT and other sales taxes or duty.

Interest income is recognised as the interest 
accrues, by reference to the net carrying amount at 
the effective interest rate applicable.

Leasing
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged 
to income on a straight-line basis over the term of 
the relevant lease.

Dividends
Interim dividends are recognised when they are paid 
to the Company’s shareholders. Final dividends are 
recognised when they are approved by shareholders.

Interests in joint venture agreements
The Group is party to a number of joint venture 
contractual arrangements with other parties 
(venturers) which govern the operation of associated 
jointly controlled assets.

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement 
whereby the Group and other parties undertake an 
economic activity that is subject to joint control. Joint 
control exists only when the strategic financial and 
operating decisions relating to the activity require the 
unanimous consent of the venturers.

Where a group company undertakes its activities 
under joint venture arrangements, the Group’s 
share of jointly and directly controlled assets and 
any liabilities incurred jointly with other ventures are 
recognised and classified according to their nature. 
Income from the sale or use of the Group’s share 
of the output of jointly controlled assets, and its 
share of joint venture expenses, are included in the 
consolidated financial statements in proportion to 
the Group’s interest.
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3.  Significant accounting policies continued

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The Group makes estimates and assumptions 
concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related 
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that 
have a risk of causing material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year are discussed below.

a) Recoverability of tangible and intangible oil and 
gas costs
Costs capitalised as tangible and intangible assets are 
assessed for impairment when circumstances suggest 
that the carrying value may exceed its recoverable 
value. This assessment involves judgement as to (i) 
the likely commerciality of the asset, and (ii) future 
revenues and costs pertaining and the discount rate to 
be applied for the purposes of deriving a recoverable 
value. Further disclosure is included in note 5.

b) Decommissioning
The Group has decommissioning obligations in 
respect of its producing interests. The full extent to 
which the provision is required depends on the legal 
requirements at the time of decommissioning, the 
costs and timing of any decommissioning works and 
the discount rate applied to such costs.

c) Depreciation of oil and gas assets
Oil and gas assets held in property plant and 
equipment are mainly depreciated on a unit of 
production basis at a rate calculated by reference to 
proven and probable reserves and incorporating the 
estimated future cost of developing and extracting 
those reserves. Future development costs are 
estimated using assumptions as to the numbers of 
wells required to produce those reserves, the cost of 
the wells, future production facilities and operating 
costs together with assumptions on oil and gas 
realisations. 

d) Taxation
Tax provisions are recognised when it is considered 
probable that there will be a future outflow of funds 
to the tax authorities. In this case, provision is made 
for the amount that is expected to be settled. This 
requires judgements to be made on the outcome, 
which can change over time depending on facts and 
circumstances. A change in estimate of the likelihood 
of a future outflow and/or in the expected amount to be 
settled would result in a charge or credit to 
income in the period in which the change occurs. 
Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent 
it is considered probable that those assets will be 
recoverable. This involves an assessment of when 
those deferred tax assets are likely to reverse, and a 
judgement as to whether or not there will be sufficient 
taxable profits available to offset the tax assets 

66   JKX Oil & Gas plc  Annual Report & Accounts 2008

Notes to the accounts continued

when they do reverse. This requires assumptions 
regarding future profitability and is therefore inherently 
uncertain. To the extent assumptions regarding future 
profitability change, there can be an increase or 
decrease in the level of deferred tax assets recognised 
that can result in a charge or credit in the period in 
which the change occurs. Tax provisions are based on 
enacted or substantively enacted laws. To the extent 
that these change there would be a charge or credit 
to income both in the period of change, which would 
include any impact on cumulative provisions, and in 
future periods.

4. Segmental analysis

Segmental Information
The primary segmental reporting format is 
determined to be the geographical segment according 
to the location of the asset. The directors consider the 
Group to have a single class of business, being the 
exploration for, development and production of oil and 
gas reserves. Accordingly no secondary segmental 
information is presented.

There are five geographic reporting segments. 
The Ukraine and USA are involved with production 
and exploration; Russia and the ‘Rest of World’ are 
involved in exploration and development and the UK 
is the home of the head office. The ‘Rest of the World’ 
segment comprises operations in Hungary, Bulgaria, 
Georgia, Slovakia and Turkey.

Transfer prices between segments are set on an arms 
length basis in a manner similar to transactions with 
third parties. Segment revenue, segment expense and 
segment results include transfers between segments. 
Those transfers are eliminated on consolidation.
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4. Segmental analysis continued
     Rest of
 UK Ukraine   Russia USA  world Sub Total Eliminations Total
2008 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

External revenue

Revenue by location of asset: 
– Oil  –    121,823     –     –     –     121,823     –     121,823 
– Gas  –     83,059     –     35     –     83,094      –     83,094   
– Management services/other  –     2,130     –     –     –     2,130     –     2,130   

  –     207,012     –     35     –     207,047     –     207,047   

Inter segment revenue:
– Management services/other  20,357     –     –     –     –     20,357     (20,357)     –   
– Equipment  25,917     –     –     –     –     25,917     (25,917)     –   

  46,274     –     –     –     –     46,274     (46,274)     –   

Total revenue: 
– Oil  –     121,823     –     –     –     121,823       –     121,823     
– Gas  –     83,059     –     35     –     83,094     –     83,094   
– Management services/other  20,357     2,130     –     –     –     22,487     (20,357)     2,130   
– Equipment  25,917     –     –     –     –     25,917    (25,917)     –   

  46,274     207,012     –     35     –     253,321     (46,274)     207,047   

Operating profit/(loss) (6,597)     140,041     (538)    (80)     (3,953)     128,873     (3,480)     125,393   
Finance income       3,172     –     3,172   
Finance cost       (1,004)    –     (1,004)   

Profit before tax       131,041      (3,480)     127,561   

Assets and liabilities         

Segment assets  2,607 199,951 87,789 – 27,674 318,021 – 318,021   
Goodwill –     –     2,165     –     –     2,165     –     2,165   
Assets held for sale – assets  –     –     –     7,347     –     7,347     –     7,347   
Cash at bank and in hand  42,099 13,587 8,044 74 1,001 64,805 – 64,805   

Total assets  44,706     213,538 97,998 7,421 28,675 392,338     –     392,338    

Segmental liabilities  (7,793)     (5,219)     (6,008)     (645)     (9,401)     (29,066)     –     (29,066)    
Current tax liabilities  –     (10)     –     –     –     (10)     –     (10)   
Assets held for sale – liabilities  –     –     –     (8)     –    (8)     –     (8)   
Deferred tax –     (19,260)     (9,837)     –     –     (29,097)     –     (29,097)   

Total liabilities  (7,793)     (24,489)     (15,845)     (653)     (9,401)     (58,181)     –     (58,181)   

Non cash expense 
(other than depreciation) 1,281     7,889     –     –     7,497     16,667     –     16,667   
Increase in property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets  576     56,180     32,524     1,859     19,097     110,236     –     110,236   
Depreciation, depletion    
& amortisation  362     29,088     65     1     –     29,516     –     29,516
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4. Segmental analysis continued
     Rest of
 UK Ukraine   Russia USA  world Sub Total Eliminations Total
2007 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

External revenue

Revenue by location of asset: 
– Oil  –     122,530   –     –     –     122,530   –     122,530 
– Gas  –     59,344   –     15   –     59,359   –     59,359 
– Management services/other  210   2,410   –     –     –     2,620   –     2,620 

  210   184,284   –     15   –     184,509   –     184,509 

Inter segment revenue: 
– Management services/other  8,176   –     –     –     –     8,176   (8,176)  –   
– Equipment  37,864   –     –     –     –     37,864   (37,864)  –   

 46,040   –     –     –     –     46,040   (46,040)  –   

Total revenue: 
– Oil  –     122,530   –     –     –     122,530   –     122,530 
– Gas  –     59,344   –     15   –     59,359   –     59,359 
– Management services/other  8,386   2,410   –     –     –     10,796   (8,176)  2,620 
– Equipment  37,864   –     –     –     –     37,864   (37,864)  –   

 46,250   184,284   –     15   –     230,549   (46,040)  184,509 

Operating profit/(loss) (4,370)  135,743   (250)  (144)  (18,107)  112,872   (4,282)  108,590 
Finance income      4,761   –     4,761 
Finance cost       (50)  –     (50)

Profit before tax      117,583   (4,282)  113,301 

Assets and liabilities        

Segment assets 3,638   173,083   68,447   5,489   11,778   262,435   –     262,435
Goodwill  –     –     2,716   –     –     2,716   –     2,716
Assets held for sale – assets –     –     –     –     3,051   3,051   –     3,051 
Cash at bank and in hand  53,843   7,670   1,368   38   5,207   68,126   –     68,126 

Total assets 57,481   180,753   72,531     5,527   20,036   336,328   –     336,328 

Segmental liabilities  (7,928)  (6,246)  (1,426)  (20)  (10,866)  (26,486)  –     (26,486)
Assets held for sale – liabilities  –     –     –     –     (127)  (127)  –     (127)
Current tax liabilities –     (1,912)  –     –     –     (1,912)  –     (1,912)
Deferred tax  –     (6,648)  (14,931)  –     –     (21,579)  –     (21,579)

Total liabilities (7,928)  (14,806)  (16,357)  (20)  (10,993)  (50,104)  –     (50,104)

Non cash expense   
(other than depreciation) 690   967   –     –     16,727   18,384   –     18,384 
Increase in property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets 687   64,850   67,844   119   14,402   147,902   –     147,902 
Depreciation, depletion & 
amortisation  173   20,661   –     –     –     20,834   –     20,834 
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4. Segmental analysis continued
       Rest of
   UK Ukraine   Russia USA  world Total
2008   $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Revenue by location of customer

External revenue: 
– Oil         – 121,823 – – – 121,823   
– Gas         –  83,059 – 35 – 83,094
– Management services/other          –    2,130 – – – 2,130

         –     207,012     –     35     –     207,047   

       Rest of
   UK Ukraine   Russia USA  world Total
2007   $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Revenue by location of customer

External revenue: 
– Oil          –     122,530   –     –     –     122,530 
– Gas          –     59,344   –     15   –     59,359 
– Management services/other          –     2,410   –     –     210   2,620 

          –     184,284   –     15   210   184,509

 

5. (a)  Property, plant and equipment

    Oil and      
    gas fields Gas field Gas field Other 
    Ukraine Russia  Hungary fixed assets  Total
2008    $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Group

Cost        

At 1st January     274,117   67,782  –  12,256   354,155
Additions during the year    45,565 32,139 5,930 2,903 86,537 
Foreign exchange equity adjustment    – (15,885)  – (145) (16,030) 
Reclassification    43 (43) 5,663 – 5,663  
Disposals of fixed assets    – – – (157)  (157) 

At 31st December      319,725   83,993  11,593  14,857   430,168 

Accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortisation      

At 1st January    115,686  –  –  6,228   121,914
Depreciation on disposals of fixed assets     – – – (148) (148)
Reclassification     –  – – – –
Foreign exchange equity adjustment    – – – (16) (16)
Depreciation charge for the year     27,222 – – 2,294 29,516 

At 31st December      142,908   –  –  8,358   151,266 

Carrying amount        

At 31st December      176,817 83,993  11,593  6,499   278,902 

Oil and gas fields in Ukraine and Russia includes $36.2m and $18.4m respectively in respect of items still under construction 

(2007: $35.7m and $nil).
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Notes to the accounts continued

5. (a)  Property, plant and equipment continued

     Oil and   
    gas fields Gas field Gas field Other 
    Ukraine  Russia Hungary fixed assets  Total
2007    $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Group

Cost        

At 1st January     211,115   –   – 9,505   220,620
Additions during the year    62,724   1,217   – 2,849   66,790 
Acquisitions during the year (note 13)     –   66,565   – –   66,565
Foreign exchange equity adjustment    –   –   – –  – 
Reclassification     278   –  –  (3)  275 
Disposals of fixed assets    –   –   – (95)  (95)

At 31st December      274,117   67,782   – 12,256   354,155 

Accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortisation      
At 1st January    96,589   –   – 4,586   101,175
Depreciation on disposals of fixed assets      –   –   – (92)  (92)
Reclassification     –   –  –  (3)  (3)
Foreign exchange equity adjustment        –   –   –   – –
Depreciation charge for the year     19,097   –   – 1,737   20,834 

At 31st December      115,686   –   – 6,228   121,914 

Carrying amount        
At 31st December      158,431   67,782   – 6,028   232,241 

5. (b) Exploration for and evaluation of oil and natural gas resources
The following amounts relating to exploration activities are included in cost of sales or capitalised within intangible 
assets.

       2008 2007
       $000 $000

Exploration and evaluation costs           
Provision for impairment/write off of exploration costs     6,883  17,694 

Expense for the year        6,883   17,694 

Intangible assets       22,359     18,423 

Net assets       22,359     18,423 

Capital expenditure for the year       23,699     14,537

During the year net cash used in investing activities      23,699     14,537



5. (c) Intangible assets: exploration and appraisal expenditure

       Rest of
    Ukraine USA Georgia  world  Total
    $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Cost

At 1st January 2007     3,806   6,934   5,876   8,955   25,571 
Additions during the year     16   119   –   14,402   14,537
Reclassification     (278)  –   –   (2,322)  (2,600)
Write off of unsuccessful exploration costs    –   –   –   (7,087)  (7,087)
Foreign exchange equity adjustment     –   –   –   513   513 

At 31st December 2007      3,544   7,053   5,876   14,461   30,934 

Provision against oil and gas assets/release 

of costs against test revenue

At 1st January 2007     575   1,564   –   –   2,139 
Provision for impairment of assets     733   –   5,876   3,763   10,372

At 31st December 2007      1,308   1,564   5,876   3,763   12,511 

Carrying amount

At 1st January 2007     3,231   5,370   5,876   8,955   23,432 

At 31st December 2007      2,236   5,489   –   10,698   18,423 

Cost

At 1st January 2008     3,544   7,053   5,876   14,461   30,934 
Additions during the year    8,680 1,858 – 13,161 23,699 
Write off of unsuccessful exploration costs   – – – (6,753) (6,753) 
Reclassification    – (8,911) – (5,663)  (14,574) 
Sale of Italian assets    – – – (3,284)  (3,284) 

At 31st December 2008      12,224 – 5,876 11,922 30,022 

Provision against oil and gas assets/release 

of costs against test revenue 

At 1st January 2008     1,308   1,564   5,876   3,763   12,511 
Reclassification    – (1,564) – – (1,564)
Sale of Italian assets    – – – (3,284)  (3,284) 

At 31st December 2008      1,308   –   5,876   479   7,663 

Carrying amount

At 1st January 2008     2,236   5,489   –   10,698   18,423 

At 31st December 2008      10,916   –   –   11,443   22,359 

The write off of unsuccessful exploration costs of $6.8m in 2008 relates to the Karakilise well which was dry and 
unsuccessful drilling in South East Bismil. 

The write off of unsuccessful exploration costs of $7.1m in 2007 relates to costs associated with the Bulgarian well 
drilled in the year and determined to be dry. Provision was also made in 2007 for $3.3m against the Italian assets, 
$0.4m against assets held in the Turkish licence Thrace and $0.7m for exploration in Ukraine.

For 2008, in Hungary $5.7m of costs were reclassified from intangible assets to property, plant and equipment during 
the year. In USA a net amount of $7.3m was reclassified to ‘assets held for sale’. 

For 2007, in Ukraine $0.3m pipeline costs were moved from intangible to property, plant and equipment during the 
year. In ‘rest of world’ an amount of $2.3m, in respect of the Italian licences, was moved to ‘assets available for sale’. 
These assets were subsequently sold on 27th February 2008.
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5. (d) Impairment test for property, plant and equipment and goodwill

As noted in the Group’s accounting policies, a review was undertaken at the balance sheet date of the carrying 
amounts of property, plant and equipment to determine whether there was any indication of triggers that may have 
led to these assets suffering an impairment loss. Following this review an impairment trigger was noted in relation 
to Yuzhgazenergie (YGE) in Russia.

As noted in the Operations Review, following the 2007 acquisition of YGE in Russia, a technical and environmental 
re-evaluation of YGE’s Koshekhablskoye gas field re-development was undertaken by the Group. The re-evaluation 
resulted in a revised development plan and production profile. The anticipated cost of the development plan has 
increased by approximately 30% from that forecast at the time of the acquisition and first gas sales from the project 
are now expected in the second half of 2010, two years later than originally planned. The Group considered this to 
represent an indication of impairment in accordance with IAS 36 and an impairment test was undertaken. The test 
compared the recoverable amount of the Cash Generating Unit (CGU), being YGE for the purpose of the review, to 
the carrying value of the CGU including goodwill. The estimate of recoverable amount was based on fair value less 
costs to sell, derived by estimating discounted after tax cash flows for the CGU based on estimates that a typical 
market participant would use in valuing such assets. In accordance with IAS 36, the impairment review has been 
undertaken in Russian Roubles, the currency in which the CGU’s future cash flows will be generated.

The key assumptions used in the impairment testing were:

• Production profiles: these were based on the latest available reserve information provided by independent 
reserve engineers.

• Gas prices: these were based on the Russian government’s targets to achieve net-back convergence with the 
European gas markets. 

• Capital and operating costs: these were based on project estimates provided by third parties. 
• Post tax Rouble discount rate of 15.9%: this was based on a Capital Asset Pricing Model analysis.

Accordingly any impairment is dependent upon judgement used in determining such assumptions.

The amount by which YGE’s recoverable amount exceeds its carrying value, based upon the above assumptions, is 
approximately $10m.

The impact on the impairment calculation of applying different assumptions to production, gas prices, capital 
expenditure and post-tax discount rates would be as follows:

  Increase/(Decrease) in impairment headroom 
  for Yuzhgazenergie CGU $m

Impact if production: Increased by 1% 4
 Decreased by 1% (4)

Impact if gas price:  Increased by 1% 4
 Decreased by 1% (4)

Impact if capital expenditure Increased by 1% (2)
 Decreased by 1% 2

Impact if post-tax discount rate Increased by 1% (16) 
 Decreased by 1% 18

During the first half of 2009 it is expected that the results of the workover programme on the first three wells 
at YGE will become available. At that time the assumptions adopted in the impairment test will be reviewed to 
determine if a further impairment test is required at that time.

Goodwill
Goodwill was recognised in 2007 in relation to the Group’s acquisition of Yuzhgazenergie (YGE) amounting to 
$2.2m at 31st December 2008. The goodwill arose after the application of IAS12 “Income Taxes”, and is attributable 
principally to expanded growth opportunities in Russia. In accordance with IAS36 “Impairment of Assets”, and 
following the Group’s decision that an indication of potential impairment arose in relation to the property, plant and 
equipment (for the reasons more fully disclosed above) a review for impairment of the related goodwill was 
undertaken. The carrying amount of the goodwill was allocated to the YGE Cash Generating Unit (CGU) as 
described above. The test compared the recoverable amount of the CGU, being YGE for the purpose of the review, 
to the carrying value of the CGU including goodwill. The calculations use the same assumptions as used for 
property plant and equipment as more fully described above.
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5. (d) Impairment test for property, plant and equipment and goodwill continued

Following the review it was concluded that there was no impairment of goodwill. 

    $000 

At 1st January 2008    2,716 
Foreign exchange equity adjustment    (551) 

At 31st December 2008        2,165

     

6. Investments

The net book value of unlisted fixed asset investments comprise:

   2008 2007
(a) Other investments   $000  $000 

Cost

At 1st January    5,617   5,617 
Additions    –     – 

At 31st December     5,617   5,617 

Accumulated impairment

At 1st January     5,617   617
Additions    –     5,000 

At 31st December     5,617   5,617 

Carrying amount

At 31st December 2007    –     –

At 31st December 2008    –     – 

A provision was made in 2007 against other investments which comprise an investment in a Ukrainian oil and gas 
company. At the end of 2007 there were no clear development plans relating to the investment and this continues to 
be the position at 31st December 2008.

(b) Subsidiary undertakings

Refer to note 28 for full details of all subsidiary undertakings

7. Financial instruments
An outline of the financial instrument risk management objectives, policies and strategies pursued by the Group 
in relation to financial instruments is set out in the Financial Review on page 27, together with the discussion of 
financial risk factors required by IFRS 7, ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’.

Group – Interest rate risk profile of financial assets and liabilities
The interest rate profile of the financial assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31st December is as follows 
(excluding short–term assets and liabilities, non-interest bearing):

Group – Year ended 31st December 2008

    Within 1 Year   Total
Floating Rate    $000 $000

Short term deposits    63,843 63,843  
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7. Financial instruments continued

Group – Year ended 31st December 2007

     Within 1 Year   Total
Floating Rate   $000 $000

Short term deposits   66,813   66,813 

Floating rate financial assets comprise cash deposits placed on money markets at call, seven-day and 
monthly rates.

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
Fair value is the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in an arm’s length transaction. Where 
available, market values have been used (this excludes short term assets and liabilities).

There is no difference between the carrying value of cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables and 
their fair value.

Currency exposures

The table below shows the extent to which the Group has monetary assets and liabilities in currencies other than 
the functional currency of the operating company involved. These exposures give rise to the net currency gains and 
losses recognised in the income statement.

As at 31st December the (liability)/asset foreign currency exposures were:
      US Dollar

   2008 2007
   $000  $000 

US Dollar   25  (220)
Sterling   2,439 (722)
Euro   (1,140) (608)
Canadian Dollar   (17) –
Turkish Lira   73 54
Ukrainian Hryvna   (9,400) (8,148)
Bulgaria Leva   1,963 225
Russian Rouble   554 (13,095)

Total net   (5,503)  (22,514)

Credit risk
The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales of products are made to customers with appropriate credit 
worthiness. Where appropriate, the use of prepayment for product sales limits the exposure to credit risk.

Borrowing facilities
The Group has no borrowing facilities at 31st December 2008 (2007: Nil).

Hedges
The Group did not hold any financial instruments designated as hedges at the balance sheet date (2007: Nil).

Notes to the accounts continued
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8. Assets held for sale
At the time of the release of the 2007 results in March 2008 the Board announced its decision to seek an exit from 
the United States of America as these assets were considered to be a non-core area for the group. The board 
anticipates that a sale of the US assets will occur later in 2009. During 2007, the group announced the decision 
of its Board of Directors to dispose of its Italian assets which were in a geographical area which was no longer 
considered to be of strategic importance to the Group. The company that holds the Italian assets, JKX Italia Ltd, 
was disposed of in February 2008 for cash proceeds of $2.9m.

The major classes of assets and liabilities classified as held for sale as at 31st December are as follows:

   USA Italy
   2008 2007
   $000 $000

Assets     
Other intangible assets   7,347 2,322 
Trade and other receivables   – 639 
Cash in hand and at bank   –  90

Assets classified as held for sale    7,347  3,051 

     
Liabilities

Trade and other payables   – (127)
Provision for decommissioning   (8)  –

Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale   (8)  (127)

Net assets directly associated with the disposal group    7,339  2,924 

9. Trade and other receivables

   2008 2007
   $000  $000 

Trade receivables    4,582 4,251
Other receivables   4,367 1,926
VAT receivable   5,115 2,701
Prepayments   938 1,502

   15,002 10,380

As of 31st December 2008, there were no trade receivables which were impaired (2007: nil). At this date there were 
no trade receivables past due (2007: nil).

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

   2008 2007
   $000  $000 

US Dollar    679 1,317
Sterling   1,000 2,152
Euro   4,587 291
Ukrainian Hryvna   5,478 5,719
Russian Rouble   3,258 –
Bulgarian Leva   – 877
Turkish Lira   – 24 

   15,002  10,380

Included within assets held for sale

Euro   – 638 



10. Cash and cash equivalents
   2008  2007
   $000 $000 

Cash   962 1,313 
Short term deposits   63,843 66,813 

Cash and cash equivalents   64,805 68,126 

     
 Short term deposits comprise amounts which are held on deposit, but are readily convertible to cash.

At 31st December 2008 $5.8m of the cash held in Ukraine at Prominvest Bank was on term deposit and categorised 
as restricted. Subsequent to year end the deposit has matured and the funds are no longer restricted.

11. Share capital and movements in equity
Equity share capital, denominated in Sterling, was as follows:

   2008   2008 2008  2007 2007 2007 
   Number  £000 $000 Number  £000 $000 

Authorised

Ordinary shares of 10p each   250,000,000  25,000  35,940 250,000,000  25,000   49,771 

Allotted, called up and fully paid         
Opening balance of 1st January    156,415,131 15,642 24,148  154,690,100   15,469   23,801 
Exercise of share options   559,249 55    108     1,725,031   173   347 

Closing balance at 31st December    156,974,380  15,697 24,256  156,415,131   15,642   24,148 

Of which the following are shares held in treasury:        
Treasury shares held at 1st January   402,771   40   77   402,771   40   77 

Treasury shares held at 31st December  402,771   40   77   402,771   40   77 

The Company did not purchase any treasury shares during 2008 (2007: nil). There were no treasury shares used in 
2008 (2007: nil) to settle share options. There are no shares reserved for issue under options or contracts.

Movements in the total equity during the period were as follows:

    Equity Foreign 
   Capital share currency Assets
 Share Merger redemption  options translation held for Share Retained
 capital reserve reserve reserve   reserve sale  premium earnings Total 
 $000 $000 $000 $000  $000 $000 $000  $000 $000 

Group:         
At 1st January 2007   23,801   30,680   587   2,132   (4,364)  –     38,179   127,614  218,629
Exchange differences arising on 
translation of overseas operations  –   –   –   –   517   –     –   –   517 

Net gains/(losses) not recognised 
in the income statement  –   –   –   –   517   –     –   –   517 

Issue of employee share options  347   –   –   –   –   –     2,038   –   2,385 
IFRS 2 Share option charge  –   –   –   316   –   –     –   –   316 
Items recognised directly in equity 
related to assets held for sale  –   –   –   –   (803)  803   –   –   – 
Profit attributable to equity 
shareholders’  –   –   –   –   –   –     –   74,409   74,409 
Dividends paid  –   –   –   –   –   –     –   (10,032)  (10,032)

At 31st December 2007   24,148   30,680   587   2,448   (4,650)  803   40,217   191,991   286,224 
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11. Share capital and movements in equity continued
    Equity Foreign 
   Capital share currency Assets
 Share Merger redemption  options translation held for Share Retained
 capital reserve reserve reserve   reserve sale  premium earnings Total 
 $000 $000 $000 $000  $000 $000 $000  $000 $000 

Group         
At 1st January 2008  24,148   30,680   587   2,448   (4,650)  803   40,217   191,991   286,224

Exchange differences arising on 
translation of overseas operations  –   –   –   –   (16,985)   –     –   –   (16,985)  

Net gains/(losses) not recognised 
in the income statement  –   –   –   –   (16,985)    –     –   –   (16,985)  

Issue of employee share options  108   –   –   –   –   –     798   –   906 
IFRS 2 Share option charge  –   –   –   271   –   –     –   –   271 
Profit attributable to equity 
shareholders’  –   –   –   –   –   (803)     –   78,154 77,351 
Dividends paid  –   –   –   –   –   –     –   (13,610)  (13,610)

At 31st December 2008  24,256   30,680   587   2,719   (21,635)  –   41,015   256,535   334,157 

Merger reserve
On 30th May 1995 JKX Oil & Gas plc acquired the issued share capital of JP Kenny Exploration & Production 
Limited for the issue of ordinary shares. At that date the share premium reserve of JP Kenny Exploration & 
Production Limited was the equivalent of $30.68m. 

Capital redemption reserve
The balance held in the capital redemption reserve relates to the buy back of shares in 2002, there have been no 
additional share buy–backs since this time.

Equity share options reserves
The balance held in the share options reserve relates to the fair value of the share options that have been expensed 
through the income statement since adoption of IFRS.

Foreign currency reserve
The foreign currency reserve includes movements that relate to the retranslation of the subsidiaries whose 
functional currencies are not the US Dollar.

12. Trade and other payables
   2008 2007
Current   $000  $000 

Trade payables   4,069 5,062
Other payables   1,251 760
Other taxes and social security costs   967 843 
VAT payable   174  1,709 
Deferred consideration relating to the acquisition of Yuzhgazenergie LLC (note 27)   4,545 7,273 
Accruals and deferred income   15,664 7,264

    26,670 22,911
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13. Provisions
       2008 2007
       $000  $000 

Provision for site restoration       2,380 1890
Deferred consideration, due after more than one year, 
relating to the acquistion of Yuzhgazenergie LLC on the 
Russian business combination       – 1,653 
Other provisions       16  32 

        2,396     3,575 

 Ukraine  Russia  USA  Total 

 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
  $000   $000   $000   $000   $000   $000   $000   $000 

Provision for site restoration

At 1st January  608   429   1,274   –   8   8   1,890   437 
Revision to estimate –  –   (243)   –   –   –   (243)  – 
Transferred to assets available 
for sale –  –   –   –   (8)   –   (8)   – 
Provision for additional wells drilled 356  135   –   –   –   –   356  135 
Provision for wells acquired 
during the year –  –   –   1,274   –   –   –   1,274 
Unwinding of discount (note 15) 94  44   291   –   –   –   385   44 

At 31st December  1,058   608   1,322   1,274   –   8   2,380   1,890 

The change in estimate in Ukraine reflects the increase in the number of wells that are required to be 
decommissioned as a result of recent drilling programmes. The provision also includes the site clean up, 
the removal of property, plant and equipment and the abandonment of wells. The revision to estimate in Russia 
relates to the decommissioning of 11 wells and removal of property, plant and equipment as required by the 
licence obligation.

These provisions relate to costs that will be decommissioned from 2014 years to 2051 (2007: 2014 to 2051).

14. Finance income
   2008 2007
   $000  $000 

Interest income on deposits   3,165  4,760 
Other    7  1 

    3,172  4,761 

   

15. Finance costs
   2008 2007
   $000  $000 

Other interest   2  6 
Unwinding of discount on deferred consideration   617  – 
Unwinding of discount on site restoration   385  44 

     1,004     50 

Interest capitalised during 2008 was $nil (2007: $nil).
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16. Cost of sales       
   2008 2007
   $000  $000 

Operating costs   23,874  18,430
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation   27,222  19,097
Production based taxes   3,981   3,312 

   55,077  40,839
Provision for impairment/write off of exploration costs   6,883  17,694

   61,960  58,533

The 2008 provision for impairment/write off of exploration costs, includes impairment of the Group’s Turkish 
licence South East Bismil and the write off of the Karakilise well which was dry ($6.8m) and $0.1m relating to 
exploration expenditure in Ukraine.

The provision in 2007 for impairment/write off of exploration costs, includes impairment of the Group’s Italian 
asset portfolio of $3.3m (based on the agreed disposal proceeds); West Georgia offshore licence $5.9m 
(recognising the passage of time that the assets have been held). Turkish licence Thrace $0.5m; and $0.9m relating 
to exploration expenditure in Ukraine. Additionally, the Group wrote off $7.1m relating to the Golitza B1 well in 
Bulgaria which was dry.

The cost of inventories (calculated by reference to production costs) expensed in 2008 was $55.1m (2007: $40.5m).

17. Operating profit – analysis of costs by nature
Operating profit derives solely from continuing operations and is stated after charging the following:  

   2008 2007
   $000  $000 

Depreciation – other assets   2,281  1,737 
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation – oil and gas assets    27,222   19,097
Cost of inventory (excluding depreciation, depletion and amortisation)   27,878 21,403
Staff costs   14,581 13,369
Foreign exchange loss   6,994  205
Minimum operating lease payments:     
– land and buildings   960 795 
– plant and machinery   2 13 

During the year the Group (including its overseas subsidiaries) obtained the following services from the Group’s 
auditor as detailed below:    

    Restated
   2008 2007
Auditor remuneration   $000  $000 

Audit services     
Fees payable to company auditor for the audit of the parent company and consolidated accounts 448 462 
Other services        
Fees payable to company auditor and its associates for other services:    
– The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to such legislation   310 305 
– Tax services   721 130 

   1,479     897

The comparatives for 2007 have been restated on a basis consistent with the current year.
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18. Obligations under leases
At the balance sheet date, the Group has outstanding future minimum commitments under non-cancellable 
operating leases, which fall due as follows:

 Land and buildings   Other  

 2008 2007 2008 2007
 $000  $000  $000  $000 

Within one year 972 659 –  4 
In the second to fifth years inclusive 1,820 1,125  –  – 
After five years 788 1,043  –  –

 3,580 2,827  –     4 

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for its office premises and office equipment.

19. Staff costs and directors’ emoluments
   2008 2007
(a) Staff costs   $000  $000 

Wages and salaries   13,635  10,284 
UK social security costs   425 1,414 
Pension contributions   2,268 1,631 
Share based payments (equity-settled) (note 20)   271 316 

   16,599     13,645 

These costs are shown gross and a relevant proportion is capitalised, representing time spent on exploration and 
development activities.

During the year, the average monthly number of employees was:

   2008 2007
   Number  Number 

Management/operational   546 451
Administration support   42 30

   588    481

(b) Directors emoluments

The emoluments of the directors of JKX Oil & Gas plc are disclosed in the audited section of the Directors’ 
remuneration report on page 53, which form part of these financial statements.

Notes to the accounts continued
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20. Share-based payments

Share options   
 Share options are granted to executive directors and senior management based on performance criteria. The 
scheme rules are described in the Directors Remuneration Report and repeated below. All share-based payments 
are equity settled.

At 31st December 2008, there were outstanding options under various employee share option schemes, 
exercisable during the years 2009 to 2018, to acquire 2,022,251 (2007: 2,271,500) shares of the Company at prices 
ranging from £0.1675 to £4.54 per share (2007: £0.1675 to £3.83). The vesting period of the options is 3 years, with 
an exercise period of 7 years, making a 10 year maximum term.

The following table illustrates the number and weighted average prices (WAEP) of, and movements in, share 
options during the year.

 2008 2008 2007 2007
 No WAEP No WAEP

Outstanding as at 1st January 1 2,271,500  151.21p  3,629,531  89.47p
Granted during the year 310,000   454.00p   367,000   298.00p 
Exercised during the year 2 (559,249) 82.51p  (1,725,031) 70.61p
Outstanding at 31st December 2,022,251  205.75p  2,271,500  151.21p

Exercisable at 31st December 901,250   60.03p   692,500   40.94p 

1  Included within this balance are options over 202,500 (2007: 396,531) shares for which an income statement expense has not 

been recognised in accordance with IFRS 2 as the options were granted on or before 7th November 2002. These options have not been 

subsequently modified and therefore do not need to be accounted for in accordance with IFRS 2.

2  Market price at exercise 453.97p (2007: 357.94p).

For the share options outstanding as at 31st December 2008, the weighted average remaining contractual life is 
1.242 years (2007: 1.45 years).

During the year share options were granted in accordance with The New Approved Share Option Scheme and the 
New Unapproved Share Option Scheme (collectively the “New Share Option Schemes”) that were introduced in 
2001. They reflect the best practice aspects recommended by the Association of British Insurers following the 
publication of their guidelines in March 2001 (the ‘ABI Guidelines’).

For the options to vest there has to be an increase in Share Price combined with a comparison to an external 
benchmark (the Financial Times Stock Exchange Oil & Gas Producers Index (FTSE Oil & Gas Producers Index). 
As a result of an increase in share price in the first quarter of 2006 the Company moved up into the FTSE 250 
Index (FTSE 250) and the benchmark was therefore reviewed and the Remuneration Committee decided that the 
higher of the FTSE 250 Index or the FTSE Oil & Gas Producers Index was the most appropriate. The Rules of the 
New Share Option Schemes address eligibility, timing of grants and exercise of options etc, and require that the 
shareholders be consulted if any substantive amendments to the Rules are required.

The Remuneration Committee (Committee) has discretion as to the application of the Rules of the New Share 
Option Schemes, particularly in the level of awards and the setting of the level of Performance Conditions.

The Committee has prepared internal guidelines to enable it to administer the New Share Option Schemes. 
In awarding share options the Committee take into account the ABI Guidelines in terms of individual and collective 
limits, the need for demanding Performance Conditions etc, and other factors such as the performance of the 
Company and the individual in the previous 12 months, the effect of the vesting of grants awarded in previous years 
e.g. dilution, cost to the Company and the overall remuneration level (annual salary, bonus award and benefits) of 
the individual relative to the market. Grants are made by reference to the market value (mid market price) of the 
Company’s shares under option at the time of grant. Executive Directors and employees are not required to pay for 
the grant of share options.

After three years the number of options that can be exercised is determined by two factors: (1) the actual increase 
in the Company’s Share Price; and (2) a comparison of the actual increase in the Share Price to the change in the 
FTSE FI until the end of June 2004, FTSE SI until the end of February 2006 and the higher of the FTSE 250 Index or 
the FTSE Oil & Gas Producers Index after that date.
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Notes to the accounts continued

20. Share-based payments continued

The Share Price and FTSE Factors will be multiplied together and the resultant figure will be applied to the 
number of options granted to an individual to determine the number of options to be vested.

The structure has been designed to introduce a sliding scale as distinct from a specific individual benchmark. 
It will require the share price to double and this increase to be in the top quartile of the growth in the FTSE FI/SI/Oil 
& Gas Producers Index for all of the awards granted to an individual to determine the number of options that vest.

To encourage the retention of key staff, the Committee has determined that an option holder will only be able to 
exercise up to 50% of vested options at any one time and up to 50% after a period of 12 months, unless determined 
otherwise by the Committee.

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year was 72.35p (2007: 58.8p).

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted is estimated as at the date of grant using a variant of the 
standard binomial model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options are granted, which 
includes the performance condition related to the Company’s share price directly. The performance condition 
based on performance relative to other companies is modelled with a Monte Carlo model. The following table lists 
the inputs to the model used for the years ended 31st December 2008 and 31st December 2007. The expected 
future volatility has been determined by reference to the historical volatility.

   2008 2007

Dividend yield (%)   1.00   0.60 
Historical volatility (%)   42.00   45.50 
Expected share price volatility (%)   42.00   45.50 
Risk free interest rate (%)   3.95   5.10 
Expected life of option (years)   4.75   4.75 
Weighted average share price (pence)    205.75p   151.21p 

Bonus scheme
The performance criteria of the Directors and senior employees bonus payments includes a component that 
relates directly to JKX’s share performance over the vesting period and a component which relates to the 
performance of JKX share price in relation to the FTSE Oil & Gas Producers Index. The full details of the bonus 
performance criteria are explained in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 49 and 50.

The bonus accrued for 2008 was $0.7m (2007: $1.4m) and was paid in January 2009.
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21. Taxation
Taxes charged on production of hydrocarbons are included in cost of sales (note 16).

   2008 2007
Analysis of tax on profit on ordinary activities.   $000  $000 

Current tax 

– Overseas – current year   39,384 38,603 
– Overseas – prior year   (10) –   

Current tax total   39,374 38,603

Deferred tax 

– Overseas – current year   10,033 289    

   49,407 38,892 

Total tax reconciliation       
The total tax charge for the year of $49.4m (2007: $38.9m) is higher (2007: higher) than the standard rate of UK 
corporation tax of 28.5% (2007: 30%). The differences are explained below:

 2008 2008 2007 2007
 $000  %  $000  % 

Profit on ordinary activities before tax 127,561     113,301  

Total tax calculated at 28.5% (2007: 30%) 36,352   28.5%  33,990  30.0%
Impairment and write down of fixed assets (192) -0.2%  6,859  6.1%
Other fixed asset differences 115 0.1%  44  0.0%
Effect of changes in tax rates (2,699) -2.1%  –  0.0%
Net increase in unrecognised losses carried forward 1,003 0.8%  3,127  2.8%
Other temporary differences not recognised (96) -0.1%  (2,863) -2.5%
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions (6,921) -5.4%  (7,100) -6.3%
Withholding tax suffered 2,537 2.0%  3,320  2.9%
Other non-taxable items 3,337 2.6%  1,515  1.3%
Adjustment relating to prior periods (10)  0.0%  –   0.0%

Sub total  33,426  26.2%  38,892  34.3%

Foreign exchange movement on tax balances 15,981 12.5% –  0.0%

Total tax charge 49,407  38.7%  38,892  34.3%

Factors that may affect future tax charges 
A significant proportion of the group’s income will be generated overseas. Profits made overseas will not be able to 
be offset by costs elsewhere in the group. This could lead to a higher than expected tax rate for the group.
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22. Deferred taxation
A deferred tax liability of $19.3m (2007: $6.6m) arises in respect of the activities of Poltava Petroleum Company, 
based in Ukraine and $9.8m (2007: $14.9m) relating to the acquisition of Yuzhgazenergie LLC in Russia.

   Assets  Liabilities  Net 

   2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
Provided deferred taxation       $000   $000   $000   $000   $000   $000 

Fixed asset differences    –    –    31,843    26,244   31,843    26,244 
Working capital temporary differences    (2,746)    (4,665)  –    –    (2,746)     (4,665)

Net deferred tax (asset)/liability recognised       29,097    21,579 

       2008 2007
Unprovided deferred taxation       $000  $000 

Tax losses       (8,893) (10,463)
Fixed asset differences       (4,294) (2,929)
Other temporary differences       (266) (3,080)

Net deferred tax asset not recognised       (13,453) (16,472)

Of the tax losses $1,005,388 (2007: $978,090) will expire principally between 2021 and 2028 (2007: 2021 and 2027). 
There is no expiry date on the remaining losses. The deductible temporary differences do not expire under current 
tax legislation. 

At 31st December 2008, a deferred tax liability of $1.8m (2007: $5.7m) relating to investments in subsidiaries has 
not been recognised. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of unprovided items because it is not 
probable that future taxable profit will be available to utilise these deductible temporary differences.

23. Earnings per share
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders is based on 
the following data:

   2008 2007
Earnings   $000  $000 

Earnings for the purposes of basic earnings per share    78,154 74,409 
(profit for the year attributable to equity holders)   

Earnings for the purposes of diluted earnings per share   78,154   74,409 

Number of shares   2008  2007 

Basic weighted average number of shares   156,769,466 155,127,794 
Dilutive potential ordinary shares:     
Share options   1,293,920 3,892,224 

Weighted average number of shares for diluted earnings per share   158,063,386 159,020,018 

There were 2,022,251 (2007: 2,271,500) outstanding share options at 31st December 2008, of which 981,037 
(2007: 2,271,500) have a dilutive effect. 
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24. Dividends
On 30th May 2008, a dividend of 2.4 pence per share (2007: 1.2 pence per share) was paid to shareholders and on 
17th October 2008, an interim dividend for 2008 of 2.2 pence per share (2007: 2.0 pence per share) was also paid to 
shareholders. The total dividends paid during the year were 4.6 pence per share (2007: 3.2 pence per share). 

Total dividends paid during the year amounted to $13.6m (2007: $10.0m).

In respect of the full year 2008, the directors propose that a final dividend of 2.6 pence per share (2007: 2.4 pence 
per share) be paid to shareholders on 5th June 2009. The total estimated dividend to be paid is $5.9m (2007: 
$7.5m). This dividend is subject to approval by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. 

25. Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash inflow from operations
   2008 2007
   $000  $000 

Operating profit   125,393 108,590 
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation   29,503 20,831 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment/intangible assets   6,883 17,660 
Gain on disposal of subsidiary/asset disposal   (915) – 
Impairment of investment   – 5,000 
Share-based payment costs   271 315 
Exchange differences   6,435 250 

Cash generated from operations before changes in working capital   167,570 152,646
(Increase)/Decrease in operating debtors   (4,780) (1,435)
(Decrease)/Increase in operating creditors   (661) 2,629 
Increase in inventory   (367) (360)

Cash generated from operations   161,762 153,480 

26. Capital commitments
Under the programmes for the development and production of oil and gas reserves in Ukraine and Russia, the 
Group had committed $10.1m to future capital expenditure on drilling rigs and facilities at 31st December 2008 
(2007: $4.5m).
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27. Business combinations – Acquisition of Yuzhgazenergie LLC
On 22nd November 2007, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Yuzhgazenerie LLC, an oil and gas 
exploration and development company based in Russia. Yuzhgazenergie LLC was owned by Mostotal Investments 
Limited (Mostotal). Mostotal and Glengary Overseas Limited (Glengary) were controlled by Mr Alexander Zhukov. 
Glengary, held a 25.15% shareholding in JKX Oil and Gas plc at the date of acquisition. As a related party 
transaction the acquisition was approved by the shareholders of JKX Oil and Gas plc at an Extraordinary General 
Meeting. 

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

    2007
    $000

Purchase consideration:  
– Cash paid     41,610 
– Discounted deferred consideration     9,044 
– Direct costs relating to the acquisition     2,974 

Total purchase consideration     53,628 

Fair value of net assets acquired     50,912 

Goodwill on acquisition     2,716 

The goodwill arises after the application of IAS 12 “Income taxes” and is attributable principally to expanded 
growth opportunities in Russia.

During the year $5.119m was paid to Mostotal as part of the deferred consideration. At 31st December 2008 the 
remaining deferred consideration was $4.545m (undiscounted: $5.000m) payable on 22nd November 2009.  

There has been no change to the provisional fair value during the year. 

28. Related party transactions
Compensation of key management personnel. Key management are considered to comprise only the directors.

The remuneration of directors during the year was as follows:

   2008 2007
   $000  $000 

Short-term benefits   2,685 3,233 
Post-employment benefits   259 271 
Share-based payments, equity settled    271 316 

   3,215 3,820 

Share-based payments represent the IFRS 2 charge for the period.
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28. Related party transactions continued

Subsidiary undertakings
At 31st December 2008, the principal subsidiary undertakings of the ultimate parent JKX Oil & Gas plc (PLC) were:

   % held Country of
   (ordinary  incorporation and 
Name Business Parent shares) area of operation 

Adygea Gas BV (ADY) Holding PAG 100.00 Netherlands 
Baltic Catering Services Oil & gas services EUP/KIC 100.00 Ukraine 
Baltic Energy Trading Ltd (BET) Oil & gas exploration and production PLC 100.00 UK 
Crimean Petroleum Company Oil & gas exploration and production JPK 50.00 Ukraine 
Eastern Ukrainian Pipeline Ltd (EUP) Oil & gas services BET/UKR 100.00 Ukraine 
EuroDril Limited Oil & gas exploration, production  TES 100.00 UK
 and services 
JKX Bulgaria Ltd (BUL) Oil & gas exploration and production PLC 100.00 UK 
JKX Bulkan BG EAD Oil & gas exploration and production BUL 100.00 Bulgaria 
JKX Carpathian BV Oil & gas exploration and production NED 100.00 Netherlands
JKX Georgia Ltd (GEO) Oil & gas exploration and production PLC 100.00 UK 
JKX Holdings North America LLC (HOLD)  Holding PLC 100.00 USA
JKX Hungary BV Oil & gas exploration and production NED 100.00 Netherlands 
JKX Investment Limited Holding HOLD 100.00 USA 
JKX (Navtobi) Limited Oil & gas exploration and production NED 100.00 Cyprus 
JKX (Nederland) BV (NED) Finance and Holding PLC 100.00 Netherlands 
JKX North America Ltd Oil & gas exploration and production HOLD 100.00 USA 
JKX Oil & Gas LP  Oil & gas exploration and production HOLD 100.00 USA 
JKX Ondava BV Oil & gas exploration and production NED 100.00 Netherlands
JKX Services Limited Services PLC 100.00 UK 
JKX Slovakia BV Oil & gas exploration and production NED 100.00 Netherlands
JKX-TEKK LLP Oil & gas exploration and production UKB 51.00 Russia
JKX Turkey Ltd Oil & gas exploration and production PLC 100.00 UK
JKX Ukraine BV (UKB) Oil & gas exploration and production MID 100.00 Netherlands 
JKX Ukraine Ltd (UKR) Oil & gas exploration and production PLC 100.00 UK
JP Kenny Exploration & Production   
Limited (JPK) Finance and Holding PLC 100.00  UK
Kharkiv Investment Company (KIC) Holding BET/GEO 100.00 Ukraine
Mid Asian Gas Ltd (MID) Oil & gas exploration and production PLC 100.00 UK 
PAGE Gas Ltd (PAG) Oil & gas exploration and production PLC 100.00 UK 
Poltava Gas BV Holding JPK 100.00 Netherlands
Poltava Petroleum Company  Oil & gas exploration and production POG 100.00 Ukraine 
Shevchenko Farm Land lease KIC 62.00 Ukraine
Trans-European Energy Services  Oil & gas exploration, production  PLC 100.00 UK
Limited (TES) and services
Yuzhgazenergie LLC Oil & gas exploration, production  ADY/UKB 100.00 Russia
 and services
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29. Ukrainian and Russian business environment
Ukraine and Russia display emerging market characteristics, and the legislation and business practices regarding 
banking operations, foreign currency transactions and taxation are constantly evolving as the governments 
attempt to manage the economies. Risks inherent in conducting business in an emerging market economy 
include, but are not limited to, volatility in the financial markets and the general economy. Uncertainties over the 
development of the tax and legal environment, as well as difficulties associated with the consistent interpretation 
and application of current laws and regulations, have continued. As at 31st December 2008, oil and gas assets 
based in Ukraine and Russia represent approximately 63% (2007: 66%) and 29% (2007: 28%) respectively of the 
Group’s oil and gas assets.

The Group’s operations and financial position may be affected by these uncertainties. The Group’s financial 
statements do not include any adjustments to reflect the possible future effects on the recoverability, and 
classification of assets or the amounts or classifications of liabilities that may result from these uncertainties.
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Company law requires the directors’ to prepare the 
financial statements of the Company for each 
financial year. Under that law the directors have 
prepared Company financial statements in 
accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice. The financial statements are 
required by law to give a true and fair view of the state 
of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of 
the Company for that period.

In preparing these financial statements the directors 
are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply 
them consistently

• make judgements and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent

• state whether applicable accounting standards 
have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the financial 
statements; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going 
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the Company will continue in business, in 
which case there should be supporting 
assumptions or qualifications as necessary.

The directors confirm that they have complied with 
the above requirements in preparing the financial 
statements. In addition, as far as each director is 
aware, there is no relevant audit information of which 
the auditors are unaware and each of the directors 
have taken all the steps that he ought to have taken 
in order to make himself aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the auditor was 
aware of such information.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for keeping proper 
accounting records that disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
Company and to enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with the Companies 
Act 1985. They are also responsible for safeguarding 
the assets of the Company hence for taking 
responsible steps for the prevention and detection 
of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the website. Legislation in the UK 
concerning the preparation and dissemination of 
financial statements may differ from legislation in 
other jurisdictions. 

By order of the board

B J Burrows
Company Secretary 
6th April 2009
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We have audited the parent company financial statements 
of JKX Oil & Gas plc for the year ended 31st December 
2008 which comprise the Balance Sheet, the accounting 
policies and the related notes. These parent company 
financial statements have been prepared under the 
accounting policies set out therein. We have also audited 
the information in the directors’ remuneration report that 
is described as having been audited.

We have reported separately on the Group financial 
statements of JKX Oil & Gas plc for the year ended 
31st December 2008.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the 
Annual Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report and 
the parent company financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice) are set out in the Statement of 
Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the parent company financial 
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report to be audited in accordance with relevant legal 
and regulatory requirements and International Standards 
on Auditing (UK and Ireland). This report, including the 
opinion, has been prepared for and only for the company’s 
members as a body in accordance with Section 235 of the 
Companies Act 1985 and for no other purpose. We do not, 
in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for 
any other purpose or to any other person to whom this 
report is shown or into whose hands it may come save 
where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the parent 
company financial statements give a true and fair view and 
whether the parent company financial statements and the 
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited 
have been properly prepared in accordance with the 
Companies Act 1985. We also report to you whether in our 
opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report is 
consistent with the parent company financial statements. 
The information given in the Directors’ Report includes 
that specific information presented in the Chief Executive’s 
Statement and the Operating and Financial Review that 
is cross referred from the Business Review section of the 
Directors’ Report. 

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the 
company has not kept proper accounting records, if we 
have not received all the information and explanations 
we require for our audit, or if information specified by law 
regarding directors’ remuneration and other transactions 
is not disclosed.

We read other information contained in the Annual 
Report and consider whether it is consistent with the 
audited parent company financial statements. The 
other information comprises only the Directors’ Report, 
the unaudited part of the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report, the Chairman’s Statement, the Chief Executive’s 
Statement, the Operating and Financial Review, the 
Corporate Governance Statement, the Corporate 
Responsibility Review and all of the other information 

Independent Auditors’ Report to the members of JKX Oil & Gas plc

listed on the contents page. We consider the implications 
for our report if we become aware of any apparent 
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the 
parent company financial statements. Our responsibilities 
do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the 
Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, 
on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and 
disclosures in the parent company financial statements 
and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be 
audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant 
estimates and judgments made by the directors in the 
preparation of the parent company financial statements, 
and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to 
the company’s circumstances, consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all 
the information and explanations which we considered 
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence 
to give reasonable assurance that the parent company 
financial statements and the part of the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report to be audited are free from 
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or 
other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also 
evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of 
information in the parent company financial statements 
and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to 
be audited.

Opinion

In our opinion:

• the parent company financial statements give a true 
and fair view, in accordance with United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, of the state of 
the company’s affairs as at 31st December 2008

• the parent company financial statements and the part 
of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited 
have been properly prepared in accordance with the 
Companies Act 1985; and

• the information given in the Directors’ Report 
is consistent with the parent company financial 
statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London
6th April 2009

The maintenance and integrity of the JKX Oil & Gas plc website is the 
responsibility of the directors; the work carried out by the auditors 
does not involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly, 
the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have 
occurred to the financial statements since they were initially presented 
on the website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.



   2008 2007
  Note $000 $000

Assets

Intangible assets  B –  5,663 
Property, plant and equipment   71  92
Investments in subsidiary undertakings  C 6,771  6,774 

    6,842   12,529

Current assets    
Debtors – amounts falling due within one year    
Debtors  D 346  563 
Cash at bank and in hand   7,894  13,465

    8,240   14,028

Debtors – amounts falling due after more than one year    
Amounts receivable from subsidiary undertakings   D  132,017 107,263

    132,017   107,263

Liabilities    
Creditors – amounts falling due within one year    
Other creditors  F  (1,766) (1,721) 
Creditors – amounts falling due after more than one year    
Amounts payable to subsidiary undertakings  F (65,650)  (57,001)

    (67,416)   (58,722)

Net current assets    6,474   12,307

Net assets    79,683   75,098

Equity    
Called-up share capital  E  24,256 24,148 
Share premium account  E 41,015  40,217 
Other reserves:   
– Capital redemption reserve    587  587 
– Equity – share options  E 1,253  982 
– Equity – foreign currency translation  E (1,090)  (1,090) 
Profit and loss account  E  13,662 10,254 

Total shareholders’ equity   E 79,683   75,098

The notes on pages 93 to 96 are an integral part to these financial statements.

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 6th April 2009 and signed on its behalf by:  
   

Lord Fraser  B J Burrows 
Director Director 

  

Company balance sheet – UK GAAP

as at 31st December
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A. Presentation of the financial statements

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared 
under the historical cost convention, modified for 
fair value and in accordance with applicable UK 
accounting standards and the UK Companies Act 
1985. The directors have reviewed the Company’s 
existing accounting policies and consider that they 
are consistent with the requirements of Financial 
Reporting Standard (FRS) 18 ‘Accounting Policies’.

The Company has not adopted the provisions of 
FRS 29 ‘Financial Instrument Disclosurers’, as it has 
applied the exemption provided in paragraph 2D of the 
standard.

The Company’s accounting policies are otherwise 
consistent with last year.

These financial statements have been prepared 
on a going concern basis following a review by the 
directors of forecast cash flows for the next 12 months, 
including consideration of the ability of the Company 
to change the timing and scale of capital expenditure, 
if required.

Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially 
recorded at the exchange rate ruling at the time of 
the transaction. Exchange differences arising on the 
translation of monetary items are taken to the profit 
and loss account. Non-monetary items are measured 
in terms of historical cost in foreign currency and are 
translated using the exchange rates of the original 
transaction.

The presentation currency of the Company is the 
US Dollar.

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments are initially measured at cost, including 
transaction costs and stated at cost less impairment 
losses. The Company assesses investments for 
impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an 
investment may not be recoverable. If any such 
indication of impairment exists, the Company makes an 
estimate of its recoverable amount. Where the carrying 
amount of an investment exceeds its recoverable 
amount, the investment is considered impaired and is 
written down to its recoverable amount.

Impairment reversal
Where impairments have been recognised in previous 
periods and the condition giving rise to the impairment 
is determined to have reversed, the carrying value of 
the assets is assessed by reference to recoverable 
amount where the recoverable amount is calculated 
as the lower of fair value less costs to sell and value 
in use. On reversal of an impairment, carrying value is 
reinstated at a value not higher than the carrying value 
had the impairment not been made.

Share based payments
The Group issues equity-settled share-based 
payments to the directors and senior management. 
Equity-settled share-based payments are measured 
at fair value at the date of grant. The fair value in the 
Group is determined at the grant date of the equity-
settled share-based payments and is expensed on a 
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on 
the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually 
vest. At each subsequent balance sheet date the 
Company calculates the estimated cumulative 
charge for each award having regard to any change 
in the number of options that are expected to vest 
and the expired portion of the vesting period. The 
movement in cumulative expense since the previous 
balance sheet relating to awards for services to 
subsidiaries is expensed in the income statement 
of those subsidiaries. Once an option vests, no 
further adjustment is made to the aggregate amount 
expensed. The corresponding entry is shown in equity 
in the Company. The fair value which is calculated 
using the binomial model takes into account two 
performance criteria, being the actual increase in 
the Company’s share price and a comparison of the 
actual increase in the share price to the change in 
FTSE FI until end of June 2004, the FTSE SI until end 
of February 2006 and the higher of the FTSE 250I 
and FTSE Oil & Gas Producers Index subsequent to 
that. The expected life of the options depends on the 
behaviour of the option holders, which is incorporated 
into the option model consistent with historic data.

Dividends
Interim dividends are recognised when they are paid 
to the Company’s shareholders. Final dividends are 
recognised when they are approved by shareholders.

Treasury shares
The consideration paid for shares repurchased by the 
Company and held as treasury shares is recognised as 
a reduction in shareholders’ funds through the profit 
and loss account reserve. No gain or loss is recognised 
in the profit and loss account.

Related parties
The Company is exempt under the terms of Financial 
Reporting Standard 8, Related Party Transactions, 
from disclosing related party transactions with entities 
that are part of the JKX Group.

Cash flow statement
The Company accounts are included within the 
publicly available consolidated financial statements 
of the Group. Consequently, the Company has taken 
advantage of the exemption from preparing a cash flow 
statement under the terms of the Financial Reporting 
Standard 1 (revised 1996).

Notes to the Company accounts
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B. Intangible assets
During 2007 the Company farmed-in to two exploration licences in Hungary, Hernád I and Hernád II and during 
2008 these were transferred to JKX Hungary BV 

C. Investments
The net book value of unlisted fixed asset investments comprise:

     Subsidiary undertakings
    $000 

Cost

At 1st January 2007    6,768 
Additions     6 

At 31st December 2007    6,774 

Amounts provided    
At 1st January 2007    – 

At 31st December 2007    – 

Cost  
At 1st January 2008    6,774 
Disposal    (3) 

At 31st December 2008    6,771 

Amounts provided     
At 1st January 2008    – 

At 31st December 2008    – 

Net book amount     
At 31st December 2007    6,774 

At 31st December 2008    6,771 

The Company’s subsidiary undertakings are listed in note 28 to the Group’s financial statements.

D. Debtors
   2008 2007
   $000  $000 

Amounts falling due within one year

Other debtors   2 179
VAT receivable   324 362
Prepayments   20 22

   346    563

     
Amounts falling due after more than one year    
Amounts receivable from subsidiary undertakings   132,017 107,263 

   132,363     107,826 

An element of the amounts receivable from subsidiary undertakings bears interest based on LIBOR plus and is 
not secured.

As of 31st December 2008, there were no trade receivables (2007: nil). 

Notes to the Company accounts continued
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E. Share capital and movements in equity
Equity share capital, denominated in Sterling, was as follows: 

   2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007
   Number £000    $000   Number  £000   $000 

Authorised

Ordinary shares of 10p each  250,000,000  25,000 35,940  250,000,000  25,000   49,771 

   2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007
   Number £000    $000   Number  £000   $000 

Allotted, called up and fully paid        
Opening balance of 1st January      156,415,131   15,642   24,148  154,690,100 15,469 23,801
Exercise of share options       559,249    55    108  1,725,031   173   347 

Closing balance at 31st December     156,974,380   15,697   24,256   156,415,131  15,642 24,148

Of which the following are shares held in treasury:        

Treasury shares held at 1st January    402,771   40   77   402,771   40   77 
Treasury shares held at 31st December    402,771   40   77   402,771   40   77 

The Company did not purchase any treasury shares during 2008 (2007: nil). There were no treasury shares used in 
2008 (2007: nil)  to settle share options. There are no shares reserved for issue under options or contracts.

Movements in the total equity during the period were as follows:

    Equity Foreign 
   Capital share currency  Profit
  Share redemption  options translation Share and loss
  capital reserve reserve reserve   premium account Total 
  $000 $000 $000 $000  $000  $000 $000 

At 1st January 2007   23,801   587   666   (1,090)  38,179   22,920  85,063
Issue of employee share options   347   –   –   –   2,038   –   2,385 
Share option charge   –   –   316   –   –   –   316 
Loss attributable to equity shareholders’   –   –   –   –   –   (2,634)  (2,634)
Dividend   –   –   –   –   –   (10,032)  (10,032)

At 31st December 2007   24,148   587   982   (1,090)  40,217   10,254   75,098 

   

At 1st January 2008   24,148   587   982   (1,090)  40,217   10,254   75,098 

Issue of employee share options  108 – – – 798 –  906 
Share option charge  – – 271 – – –  271 
Profit attributable to equity shareholders’  – – – – – 17,018  17,018 
Dividend  – – – – – (13,610)  (13,610)  

At 31st December 2008   24,256   587   1,253   (1,090)  41,015   13,662   79,683 

Capital redemption reserve
The balance held in the capital redemption reserve relates to the buy back of shares in 2002, there have been no 
additional share buy-backs since this time.

Equity share options reserves       
The balance held in the share options reserve relates to the fair value of the share options that have been expensed 
through the income statement.

Foreign currency reserve
The foreign currency reserve includes prior year movements that relate to the retranslation of the Company’s 
balance sheet whose functional currency was sterling prior to 1st January 2007.
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Notes to the Company accounts continued

F. Creditors
   2008 2007
   $000 $000

Amounts falling due within one year

Other creditors   1,250 760
Accruals   516 961

   1,766 1,721

Amounts falling due after one year    
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings   65,650 57,001 

   67,416 58,722

G. Profit and loss 
The Company has taken advantage of section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, not to present the profit and loss 
account. The net profit recorded in the accounts for the year ended 31st December 2008 was $17.0m prior to the 
payment of dividends (2007: $2.6m loss prior to payment of dividends).

H. Operating profit
The operating profit derives solely from continuing operations and is stated after charging the following:

    Restated
   2008 2007
   $000 $000

Auditor remuneration

Audit services

Fees payable to company auditor for the audit of the parent company   84 95 

The comparatives for 2007 have been restated on a basis consistent for the current year.

The audit fees for the Company are paid by one of the Group subsidiaries.

During the year the average number of employees was nil (2007: nil).

I. Directors’ remuneration
The remuneration of the directors is disclosed on the audited section of the Directors’ Remuneration report on 
page 53.

J. Dividends
On 30th May 2008, a dividend of 2.4 pence per share (2007: 1.2 pence per share) was paid to shareholders and on 
17th October 2008, an interim dividend for 2008 of 2.2 pence per share (2007: 2.0 pence per share) was also paid to 
shareholders. The total dividends paid during the year were 4.6 pence per share (2007: 3.2 pence per share).

Total dividends paid during the year amounted to $13.6m (2007: $10.0m).

In respect of the full year 2008, the directors propose that a final dividend of 2.6 pence per share (2007: 2.4 pence 
per share) be paid to shareholders on 5th June 2009. This dividend is subject to approval by the shareholders at 
the Annual General Meeting and has not been included as a liability in these financial statements. The proposed 
dividend is payable to all shareholders on the Register of Members on 17th April 2009. The total estimated dividend 
to be paid is $5.9m (2007: $7.5m).
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    2008  2007 2006 2005  2004
    $m $m $m $m $m

Revenue     
– Oil     121.8 122.5   92.8   59.8   23.1 
– Gas    83.1  59.4   37.7   22.4   20.7 
– Management services/other     2.1 2.6   1.2   0.7   2.8 

Total     207.0     184.5   131.7   82.9   46.6 

Cost of sales     (55.1) (40.8)  (32.6)  (25.7)  (18.5)
Impairment reversal     – –     15.2   –     –   
Exploration costs written off    (6.9)  (17.7)  (1.8)  –     –   

Total cost of sales     (62.0)     (58.5)  (19.2)  (25.7)  (18.5)

Gross profit     145.0     126.0   112.5   57.2   28.1 
General and administrative expenses     (12.7) (12.2)  (10.6) (8.2)  (4.8)
(Loss)/profit on foreign exchange     (6.9) (0.2) 3.9 1.0 0.1
Impairment of investment     – (5.0)  –     –     –   

Operating profit     125.4     108.6   105.8   50.0   23.4 
Other income and interest    2.2  4.7   3.4   1.3   –   

Profit before tax     127.6     113.3   109.2   51.3   23.4 
Taxation on profit on ordinary activities     (49.4) (38.9)  (31.4)  (14.1)  (4.1)

Profit for the year     78.2     74.4   77.8   37.2   19.3 
(Profit)/Loss attributable to minority interest    –     –     –     0.1   (0.1)
Profit attributable to equity shareholders     78.2     74.4   77.8   37.3   19.2 

Ordinary dividends on equity shares    (13.6)  (10.0)  (4.5)  (2.2)  (1.3)
Earnings per share (cents)    49.85 47.97 50.89 25.15  13.73 

Group operating margin (%)    60.6  58.9   80.3   60.4  50.9
Employment of group capital     
Fixed assets     303.4 253.4   147.9   102.9  83.4
Net current assets     62.3 58.0   77.5   48.8  36.7
Provision for liabilities and charges    (31.5)  (25.2)  (6.8)  (3.4)  (2.0)
Minority interests     –   –   –   –  (0.1)

     334.2     286.2   218.6   148.3  118.0

Group capital employed     
Loan capital and convertible loan notes     –     –     –     –    17.7
Minority interests     –   –   –   –   – 
Capital and reserves     334.2 286.2   218.6   148.3  100.3

     334.2     286.2   218.6   148.3  118.0

Net funds     
Cash at bank and in hand    64.8 68.1 81.1 56.9 39.1
Loan capital     –     –     –     –     (17.7)

    64.8 68.1 81.1 56.9 21.4

Net gearing (%)     N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Five year financial record

Year ended 31st December
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NOTICE is given that the Annual General Meeting of 
JKX Oil & Gas plc (the Company) will be held at the 
offices of Cardew Group, 12 Suffolk Street, London 
SW1Y 4HG on Wednesday 3rd June 2009 at 11.00 am 
for the following purposes:

As ordinary business
1. To receive the accounts of the Company, the 

Directors’ Report, and the Auditors’ Report 
thereon for the year ended 31st December 2008. 

2.  To approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report for 
the year ended 31st December 2008.

3.  To re–elect Lord Fraser of Carmyllie Q.C. who has 
served on the Board for more than nine years and 
whose biographical details are included at page 
38 of the 2008 Annual Report and Accounts, as a 
director of the Company.

4.  To re–elect Viscount Asquith who has served on 
the Board for more than nine years and whose 
biographical details are included at page 38 of the 
2008 Annual Report and Accounts, as a director of 
the Company.

5.  To re–elect Dipesh Shah who retires and whose 
biographical details are included at page 38 of the 
2008 Annual Report and Accounts, as a director of 
the Company.

6.  To re–elect Michel-Marc Delcommune who retires 
and whose biographical details are included at 
page 38 of the 2008 Annual Report and Accounts, 
as a director of the Company.

7.  To re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as 
auditors of the Company until the conclusion of 
the next general meeting of the Company at 
which accounts of the Company are laid before 
the members and to authorise the directors to 
determine their remuneration. 

8.  To declare the dividend recommended by the 
directors of the Company.

9.  That in substitution for all existing authorities 
(but without prejudice to the exercise of any such 
authority prior to the date hereof) and subject to 
passing resolution ten below:

(i)  the directors be and they are hereby generally 
and unconditionally authorised to exercise all 
powers of the Company to allot relevant 
securities (within the meaning of Section 80 of 
the Companies Act 1985 (the Act) up to an 
aggregate nominal amount of £5,219,053 
provided that this authority shall expire (unless 
previously renewed, varied or revoked by the 
Company in general meeting) five years from 
the date of this resolution save that the 
Company may before such expiry make an 
offer or agreement which would or might 
require relevant securities to be allotted after 
such expiry and the directors may allot 

relevant securities in pursuance of such an 
offer or agreement as if the authority 
conferred hereby had not expired, and further,

(ii) the directors be and they are hereby generally 
and unconditionally authorised to exercise all 
powers of the Company to allot equity 
securities (within the meaning of Section 94 of 
the Act) in connection with a rights issue or 
other offering in favour of ordinary 
shareholders where the equity securities 
respectively attributable to the interests of all 
ordinary shareholders are proportionate (as 
nearly as may be) to the respective numbers of 
ordinary shares held by them up to an 
aggregate nominal amount of £5,219,053 
provided that this authority shall expire (unless 
previously renewed, varied or revoked by the 
Company in general meeting) five years from 
the date of this resolution save that the 
Company may before such expiry make an 
offer or agreement which would or might 
require relevant securities to be allotted after 
such expiry and the directors may allot 
relevant securities in pursuance of such an 
offer or agreement as if the authority 
conferred hereby had not expired.

10. That the authorised share capital of the Company 
be increased from £25,000,000 to £30,000,000 by 
the creation of 50,000,000 ordinary shares of 
10 pence each ranking pari passu in all respects 
with the existing ordinary shares of 10 pence each 
in the capital of the Company.

As special business  

To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following 
resolutions, which will be proposed as special 
resolutions.

11. That in substitution for any existing authority 
pursuant to Section 166 of the Act, the Company 
be and is hereby generally authorised to make 
market purchases (within the meaning of Section 
163 of the Act) pursuant to and in accordance with 
Section 166 of the Act of fully paid ordinary shares 
in the capital of the Company upon and subject to 
the following conditions but otherwise 
unconditionally:

(a) the maximum number of ordinary shares 
hereby authorised to be purchased is 
15,657,160

(b) the maximum price which may be paid for 
each such ordinary share shall be an amount 
equal to 105% above the average of the middle 
market quotations for an ordinary share as 
derived from the London Stock Exchange 
Daily Official List for the five business days 
immediately preceding the day on which 
such ordinary share is contracted to be 
purchased (exclusive of expenses) and the 
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minimum price which may be paid for such 
ordinary share shall be the nominal value of 
such ordinary share at the time of such 
purchase (exclusive of expenses); and

(c) unless previously varied, revoked or renewed, 
the authority conferred by this resolution shall 
expire on the earlier of the date 15 months 
after the passing of this resolution and at the 
conclusion of the next annual general meeting 
of the Company after the date on which this 
resolution is passed, provided that the 
Company may before such expiry date enter 
into a contract to purchase ordinary shares 
under this authority which will or may be 
completed or executed wholly or partly after 
the expiration of such authority and may make 
a purchase of ordinary shares in pursuance of 
such contract.

12. That subject to the passing of resolution nine 
above and in substitution for any existing power 
under Section 95 of the Act (but without prejudice 
to the exercise of any such authority prior to the 
date hereof) the directors be and they are hereby 
empowered pursuant to Section 95 of the Act to 
allot equity securities (within the meaning of 
Section 94 (2) to section 94(3A) of the Act) for cash 
pursuant to the authority conferred by resolution 
nine above as if Section 89 (1) of the Act did not 
apply to any such allotment provided that this 
power shall be limited to the allotment of equity 
securities:

(i)   in connection with a rights issue or other 
offering in favour of ordinary shareholders 
where the equity securities respectively 
attributable to the interests of all ordinary 
shareholders are proportionate (as nearly as 
may be) to the respective numbers of ordinary 
shares held by them, subject to such 
exclusions or other arrangements as the 
directors may consider necessary or expedient 
to deal with fractional entitlements, statutory 
restrictions or legal or practical problems 
under or resulting from the application of the 
laws of any territory or the requirements of 
any recognised regulatory body or stock 
exchange in any territory; and

(ii) (otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraph (i) 
above) up to an aggregate nominal value of 
£1,565,716

and shall expire (unless previously renewed, 
varied or revoked by the Company in general 
meeting) five years from the date of this resolution 
save that the Company may before such expiry 
make an offer or agreement which would or might 
require equity securities to be allotted after such 
expiry and the directors may allot equity securities 
in pursuance of such an offer or agreement as if 
the power conferred hereby had not expired.

 This power applies in relation to a sale of shares 
which is an allotment of equity securities by virtue 
of Section 94(3A) of the Act as if in the first 
paragraph of this resolution the words ‘’pursuant 
to the authority conferred by resolution nine 
above’’ were omitted.

13. That notwithstanding the subsequent coming into 
force of the Companies (Shareholders’ Rights) 
Regulations 2009 a general meeting other than an 
annual general meeting may be called on not less 
than 14 clear days’ notice.

B J Burrows
Company Secretary
Registered office:
6 Cavendish Square,
London W1G 0PD

Notes:

1. A member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is also 
entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and, on a poll, 
vote instead of him. A proxy need not be a member of the 
Company.

2. To be valid, the instrument appointing a proxy, together with the 
power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is 
signed (or a notarially certified copy of such power of authority) 
must be deposited with the Company’s Registrars, Equiniti, 
Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex, BN99 6DA 
not less than 48 hours before the time fixed for the Meeting. 
A form of proxy is enclosed with this notice. Completion and 
return of the form of proxy will not preclude shareholders from 
attending or voting at the Meeting if they wish.

3. Copies of the directors’ service contracts and the terms of 
engagement for non–executive directors, together with the 
register of directors’ share interests, are available for 
inspection at the registered office of the Company during 
normal business hours on each business day until the 
conclusion of the Annual General Meeting and will also be 
available at the place of the Annual General Meeting from at 
least 15 minutes prior to the Meeting until its conclusion.
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 Advisors

Company Secretary 

B J Burrows

Registered office 

6 Cavendish Square
London W1G 0PD
Registered in England
Number: 3050645
 
Auditors 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
1 Embankment Place
London WC2N 6RH

Registrars 
Equiniti
Aspect Hose
Spencer Road
Lancing
West Sussex BN99 6DA

Principal bankers 

Standard Bank plc
Cannon Bridge House
25 Dowgate Hill
London EC4R 2SB

Stockbrokers 

Brewin Dolphin Investment Banking
48 St Vincent Street
Glasgow G2 5TS

Financial advisors 

Investec
2 Gresham Street
London EC2V 7QP

Solicitors 
Denton Wilde Sapte
5 Chancery Lane
Clifford’s Inn
London EC4A 1BU

 Glossary of terms

Mcf Thousand cubic feet

Bcf Billion cubic feet

cfpd Cubic feet per day

MMcfd Million cubic feet per day

Mbbl Thousand barrels

MMbbl Million barrels

bcpd Barrel of condensate per day

bpd Barrel per day

bopd Barrel of oil per day

boe Barrel of oil equivalent

Mboe Thousand barrels of oil equivalent

MMboe Million barrels of oil equivalent

boepd Barrel of oil equivalent per day

sq.km Square Kilometre

$ United States Dollars

LIBOR London InterBank Offered Rate

US  United States

Hryvna The lawful currency of Ukraine 

Roubles The lawful currency of Russia 

Conversion factor; 6,000 standard cubic feet of gas = 1 boe

 This is an important document, if you 
are in any doubt as to what action to 
take you should consult an appropriate 
independent advisor such as an 
accountant or a lawyer.



Where we operate

UKRAINE  Central to Group 
operations accounting for virtually 
all of Group revenue, and 50% of 
Group capital expenditure in 2008. 
It remains a focus for future growth.

RUSSIA  With almost half of 
Group reserves booked in the 
Koshekhablskoye field, Russia is a 
major development focus. First gas 
now forecast for late 2010.

HUNGARY  Following the 
Hajdúnánás gas discovery in 2008, 
the Group has booked 0.8 MMboe 
of reserves, and expanded its 
exploration portfolio in Hungary.

BULGARIA  Remains a major part 
of our central European exploration 
effort, with activity moving to 
the eastern part of the large 
Golitza licences.

SLOVAKIA  Farmed-in to three 
exploration licences in 2008, 
expanding our central European 
exploration portfolio.

GEORGIA  With Anadarko indicating 
its desire to withdraw from the West 
Georgia offshore licence 
(JKX 4% NPI), we are considering 
our right to regain the licence.

Overview

Designed and produced by db&co 
www.dbandco.co.uk, in association with 
Robson Dowry and RPD Consulting. 
Photography by Mike Abrahams, 
Board photography Pete Thompson 
Satellite images – Planetery Visions Ltd
Printed in the UK by Midas Press.

The report is printed on Revive 50:50 Silk 
which is produced with 50% recycled fi bre 
from both pre- and post-consumer sources, 
together with 50% virgin fi bre from 
sustainable forests independently certifi ed 
according to the rules of the Forest 
Stewardship Council. All pulps used are 
Elemental Chlorine Free (ECF) and the 
manufacturing mill is accredited with 
ISO 14001 standard for environmental 
management.

 We welcome visits to our website 

www.jkx.co.uk
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JKX Oil & Gas plc 
6 Cavendish Square
London W1G 0PD
Telephone +44 (0)20 7323 4464

We develop oil and 

gas interests in and 

around the states of 

the former Soviet 

Union with a particular 

focus upon Ukraine 

and Russia. We utilise 

our extensive regional 

experience, knowledge 

and expertise, to 

deliver value to you, 

our shareholders.




